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Contacts

Basware Corporation

p.o. Box 97

02601 espoo

finland

Visiting address:

linnoitustie 2

Cello Building

tel. +358 9 879 171

fax +358 9 8791 7297

www.basware.com

Basware einvoices oy

p.o. Box 97

02601 espoo

finland

tel. +358 9 879 171

fax +358 9 8791 7297

www.basware.com

Scandinavia

Basware AB 

Gustavslundsvägen 141 A

16751 Bromma

Sweden

tel. +46 8 50 57 44 00

fax +46 8 50 57 44 99

falun:

falugatan 2

791 71 falun

Sweden

www.basware.se

Basware A/S

Jægersborgvej 66B

2800 Kgs. lyngby

denmark

tel. +45 70 22 99 55

fax +45 70 22 99 56

www.basware.dk

Basware AS

drammensveien 288

p.o.Box 241 lilleaker

0216 oslo

norway

tel. +47 23 37 03 00

fax +47 23 37 03 01

trondheim:

Granåsveien 1

postboks 1931 moholt

7228 trondheim

norway

www.basware.no

Europe

Basware GmbH

Am Seestern 8

40547 düsseldorf

Germany

tel. +49 211 41 55 95-5

fax +49 211 41 55 95-79

www.basware.de

Basware SAS

66, rue de miromesnil

paris, 75008

france 

tel.  +33 1 58 56 53 10

fax +33 1 40 74 03 04

www.basware.fr

Basware B.V.

Joop Geesinkweg 701

1096 AZ Amsterdam

the netherlands

tel. +31 20 850 8020

fax +31 20 850 8085

www.basware.nl

Basware 

(Spain, Italy and portugal)

Ribera del loira, 46

28042 madrid 

Spain

tel. +34 91 503 0690

fax +34 91 503 0099

www.basware.com

Basware UK ltd.

7 Huxley Road

Guildford, Surrey GU2 7Re

United Kingdom

tel. +44 1483 459740

fax +44 1483 447525

www.basware.co.uk

northwich:

langdale House, Gadbrook 

Business Centre, Gadbrook 

Road, northwich,

Cheshire, CW9 7tn

United Kingdom

tel. +44 1606 331 234

www.basware.co.uk

North America

Basware, Inc.

60 long Ridge Road

Stamford, Ct 06902

USA

tel. +1 203 487-7900

fax +1 203 487-7950

www.basware.com/us

Russia

Representative office of

Basware Corporation in

Russia

Helsinki House in moscow 4,  

Rostovsky per.1/2

moscow 119121

Russia

tel. + 7 499 937 35 84

fax + 7 499 248 06 58

www.basware.ru

Asia

Basware Corporation

9 penang Road

park mall, #08-08

Singapore 238459

telephone: +65 633 206 77

Basware Corporation 

(India branch office) 

Rajiv Gandhi It park 

(dlf Building) 

tower f, third floor 

Chandigarh

IndIA - 160 001

tel: +91 172 3012 020

fax: +91 172 3012 019

About Basware
Basware is an international software company that develops solutions for 
automating business-critical financial processes and making procurement 
more efficient. 
Basware’s software solutions automate purchase and traveling expense 
account handling and processing in addition to intensifying the efficiency  
of purchase management. Basware’s financial control solutions embrace 
various fields of business operations from planning to reporting. easy 
to use solutions deliver cost savings through efficient processes and 
 improve transparency and compliance. Software development is always 
done in close cooperation with customers.
Basware‘s goal is to be the leading software company in with its enter-
prise purchase to pay software solution suite in all of its key markets by 
2010.
founded in 1985, Basware Corporation is a public company listed on the 
nASdAQ omX Helsinki ltd. Headquartered in finland, it has a total of 20 
offices in europe, United States and in Asia pacific. www.basware.com 
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A global trailblazer. 
Basware’s products have a total of 650,000 end users  
in more than 50 countries and six continents. Basware’s
vision is to be the leading provider of Purchase to Pay 
solutions in all its key market areas by 2010.
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Basware’s net sales for 2008 amounted to EUR 

86,098, increasing by 17.5 percent on the previous 

year. The company’s record-high operating profit was 

EUR 8,679 thousand and earnings per share EUR 

0.56. The company reached the results in very chal-

lenging market conditions and grew in all market ar-

eas. The growth was strongest in the United States.

Growing and profitable in all markets

Basware’s products have a total of 650,000 end us-

ers in more than 50 countries and six continents. In 

2008, the majority of net sales, 51.8 percent, was 

generated outside Finland. 

During the year, Basware grew and increased its 

profitability across all strategic market areas: Scan-

dinavia, Central Europe, North America and Asia-Pa-

cific. In particular, Basware’s growth and profitabili-

ty improved in the North American market, where 

Basware entered into several significant customer 

agreements during the financial period. 

In September 2008, Basware acquired the Nor-

wegian company Contempus AS, a specialist in pro-

curement, purchase invoice and document man-

agement software. With the acquisition, Basware 

strengthened its market position in Norway, Swe-

den and the UK, and expanded its distribution net-

work in the US and Benelux countries.

The product development unit in India expand-

ed, and the purpose is for all future recruitments in 

product development activities to take place in India. 

Ahead of the competition as proven	

in surveys

Basware’s aim to be the leading software suppli-

er of Purchase to Pay solutions received consid-

erable recognition in summer 2008 when the in-

dependent market research company Forrester 

Research (Forrester Wave™: AP-EIPP, Q2/2008, 

June 18, 2008) named it as a market leader in 

electronic invoice automation solutions. Basware 

received the highest scores in all three sectors 

of the evaluation: strategy, current offerings and 

market presence. According to the report, Basware 

has a strong vision, excellent functionality and the 

largest market presence.

In Fall 2008, Forrester Research’s (Forrester 

Research: Holistic View: The ePurchasing Soft-

ware Market, September 9, 2008) interviewed 

more than 100 companies in the industry and 

found that Basware was among the five largest 

sellers of software solutions in the ePurchasing 

market. According to the same report, the ePur-

chasing market is growing, and there is demand 

for electronic solutions that cover the entire pro-

curement process and for closer new supplier in-

tegration in large-scale enterprises.

Partner of global giants

Basware’s goal is to enter into agreements with at 

least five major global customers every year. Sev-

eral large global customers were secured in 2008 

Basware in 2008

In 2008 Basware reached record-high profitability in challenging market 

conditions. The company strengthened its position as the leading supplier 

of Purchase to Pay solutions in all its strategic market areas. Products that 

streamline customers’ processes and the company’s solid financial situation 

established a firm foundation for accelerating international growth.

Key Figures

EUR Thousand 2008 2007

Net sales 86,098 73,270

Growth of net sales, % 17.5% 22.2%

Operating profit 8,679 7,512

Growth in operating profit, % 15.5% –7.0%

% of net sales 10.1% 10.3%

Profit before taxes 8,410 7,704

% of net sales 9.8% 10.5%

Profit for the period 6,585 4,112

% of net sales 7.6% 5.6%

International share of net sales 51.8% 48.2%

Return on equity, % 13.7% 8.9%

Return on investment, % 16.6% 16.2%

Cash and liquid assets 8,777 7,041

Equity ratio, % 59.5% 70.0%

R&D costs 15,518 13,172

% of net sales 18.0% 18.0%

R&D personnel 171 152

Personnel, 31 Dec 731 658

Earnings per share, EUR 0.56 0.36

Equity per share, EUR 4.23 4.12 

 Basware in 2008

as well. The pervasive language offering of Basware 

software and the extensiveness of its product port-

folio have made it a software supplier of several 

transnational large-scale enterprises.

Basware’s expertise was also recognized on gov-

ernmental level when the company was invited as 

an expert in electronic procurement software tech-

nology in a large-scale European Union informa-

tion society project. The project aims at building an 

electronic procurement infrastructure covering the 

EU public sector. 
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Efficiency and transparency for 

customers

Basware’s Purchase to Pay solutions and Financial 

Management Software streamline customers’ pro-

cesses and improve their transparency and regula-

tory compliance. As the uncertainty about business 

conditions increases, Basware’s ability to offer its 

customers savings will become an even more signif-

icant competitive advantage. 

In 2008, Basware reinforced its Purchase to Pay 

product family, launching products for competitive 

bidding processes and contract lifecycle manage-

ment. In addition, Basware supplemented the e-in-

voice service with a functionality that makes it pos-

sible to also transmit procurement messages, such 

as orders and order confirmations, between pur-

chasers and suppliers via the same service.

A trailblazer with a solid financial situation is 

better equipped to meet future challenges in an 

increasingly uncertain global economic situation. 

Products that have been proven excellent in sur-

veys and that provide efficiency, transparency 

and regulatory compliance lay the foundations for  

Basware’s profitable growth in 2009.   

During 2008, Basware actively monitored trends 

in the demand for the Software as a Service (SaaS) 

delivery model. Sales of SaaS-delivered Basware 

software went up 41.5 percent in 2008. In the SaaS 

model, the customer does not purchase the soft-

ware in a single transaction but as a monthly in-

voiced service. The model shifts the responsibility 

for software maintenance and development from 

the customer to the software supplier.

Record-high results in challenging market conditions.

Basware in 2008

STOCK EXCHANGE Releases 2008

26 Nov 2008: Basware to deliver Invoice Automa-

tion solution to a global IT and business services 

company  

18 Nov 2008: Basware Corporation Financial  

Calendar 2009 

14 Oct 2008: Basware Interim Report  

January 1 – September 30, 2008 (IFRS) 

14 Oct 2008: Basware Corporation starts share 

repurchases  

29 Sep 2008: Basware’s acquisition of Contempus 

AS endorsed  

23 Sep 2008: Basware wins a large Invoice Auto-

mation deal in the United States 

05 Sep 2008: Basware to acquire Contempus AS 

from Affecto  

26 Aug 2008: Basware wins a deal of over 

EUR 1 Million in the EMEA Region  

10 Jul 2008: Basware Interim Report 

January 1 – June 30, 2008 (IFRS)  

25 Jun 2008: Basware to deliver Enterprise 

Purchase to Pay solution to a US media company  

16 Apr 2008: Basware and Novartis extend coop-

eration to global level 

15 Apr 2008: Basware Interim Report 

January 1 – March 31, 2008 (IFRS)  

14 Feb 2008: Resolutions of Basware Annual 

General Meeting  

06 Feb 2008: Additional matter to be addressed 

at the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting 

28 Jan 2008: Notice of Basware Annual General 

Meeting 

24 Jan 2008: Basware Financial Statements 2007  

04 Jan 2008: Basware to provide Data Conver-

sion Service to portfolio management company 

James Hay 

Read all the releases from www.basware.com

04

05

06

07

08

Net sales (EUR Thousand)

33,891

41,666

73,270

86,098

59,954

04

05

06

07

08

Operating profit (EUR Thousand)

6,256

3,611

7,512

8,679

8,078

Licenses 23,871

Maintenance 23,785

Consulting and Services 

33,350

SaaS 1,760

Net sales by Business Operations (EUR Thousand)



Annual Report 20086

Basware became an even more significant interna-

tional player during the year, and the majority of 

our net sales, 51.8 percent, was generated outside 

Finland. Net sales and profitability developed favor-

ably in all units. The US operations increasing their 

net sales by 44.6 percent and reaching profitabil-

ity were particular key successes during the year. 

In 2008, Basware operated successfully in all its 

customer groups and also continued securing ma-

jor global customer accounts with great success. 

Signed agreements and extensive international 

software implementations realized during the year 

showed that Basware is very competitive compared 

to our major competitors. 

Becoming a global market leader

Basware took global market leadership in electron-

ic invoice automation solutions in 2008. A sur-

vey by an independent market research company 

ranked us number one in terms of strategy, current 

offerings and market presence. The survey showed 

that Basware had gained distance over its competi-

tors in the invoice automation software market.

Basware also strengthened its position in elec-

tronic procurement solutions. According to an in-

dependent market research company, Basware was 

among the five largest sellers of software solutions 

in the ePurchasing market.

Excellent products are our 

competitive edge

Basware’s success is based on three elements: 

the best product portfolio in the market, premium 

sales and delivery ability, and high customer satis-

faction. The best possible products lay the founda-

tion for international competitiveness and growth.  

Basware’s unique Purchase to Pay product fami-

ly offers an integrated solution for all phases of the 

value chain. The success of the products is support-

ed by an extensive and well-functioning distribution 

network with 70 resellers globally, in addition to the 

direct channel. We are also able to offer compre-

hensive international customer support.

The comprehensiveness of Basware’s operations 

and high customer satisfaction have contributed to 

awareness of the company and facilitated new cus-

tomer acquisition and additional sales among pres-

ent customers.

During 2008, Basware reinforced its Purchase to 

Pay product family by launching products for com-

petitive bidding processes and contract lifecycle 

management. These products further differentiate 

and reinforce the company’s portfolio. We expect 

these solutions to generate additional sales in ma-

ture markets and strengthen our competitiveness 

in securing new customer accounts. Our products 

support Unicode, which is why Basware products 

CEO’s Review

Basware succeeded excellently in 2008. We grew profitably as defined in our 

strategy and our net sales for 2008 amounted to EUR 86,098 thousand, increasing 

by 17.5 percent on the previous year. The company’s record-high operating profit 

was EUR 8,679 thousand and 10.1 percent of net sales. The company reached the 

results in very challenging market conditions and grew in all market areas.

CEO’s Review

support a total of 18 languages, including Chinese 

and Russian.

Our product development unit grew rapidly dur-

ing the year. In order to maintain the cost-efficiency 

of product development, future recruitment for 

Basware product development will mainly take 

place in our Indian product development unit. 

Recession is also an opportunity for 

Basware

At the end of 2008, the market atmosphere be-

came more challenging with increasing general un-

certainty in the world economy. In these market 

conditions, Basware reaching its goals can be con-

sidered a good result. 

For Basware, a downturn in the economy is also 

an opportunity. Even in poor market conditions, 

companies invest in software that provide savings 

with a short payback time, streamline process-

es and offer transparency to costs. Basware’s sol-

id products and finances provide the company with 

opportunities to gain a lead over its competitors. 

Ready for the future 

Our perseverance towards market leadership in 

Purchase to Pay solutions has begun to pay off. 

Our strategy projects that take us towards the goal 

114.2%

During 
the last quarter
profitability grew
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proceeded as planned during the year. Our opera-

tions have been streamlined into a great shape for 

the future, and our product portfolio gives us ex-

cellent opportunities for seeking growth and profit-

ability during the coming years as well.

We are traveling toward our goals with small, 

controlled changes. Preparing for the Software as a 

Service delivery model has an effect on both long-

term product development strategies and the orga-

nization’s ways of working and ability to deliver. 

Success in the international market and in an ex-

tensive customer base requires sensitivity to listen 

to the customers, partners and markets. Based on 

this, we will be able to develop the company’s op-

erations while preserving the ability and humility to 

change our direction as necessary. Our objective is 

to continue as a profitable and increasingly global 

company.

We managed to “swim against the current” in 

challenging market conditions at the end of the 

year to grow also in 2009. Reaching the goals 

in 2008 has been an excellent achievement for  

Basware. 

We would like to thank our customers, partners, 

shareholders and above all our personnel for the 

success we enjoyed last year. 

Ilkka Sihvo

Chief Executive Officer

Reaching the goals in 2008 has been an excellent 

achievement for Basware.

CEO’s Review
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In 2008, Basware operated successfully in all its 

customer groups and also continued winning major 

global customer accounts across a variety of indus-

tries, with great success. Independence of customer 

industries gives Basware freedom of action in fluc-

tuating market conditions, but it also challenges the 

company’s knowledge of its customers.

Differentiation and strong products that meet 

customers’ changing needs are at the core of  

Basware’s strategy. The company’s three business 

models are based on an in-depth understanding 

of the needs of global corporations, mature mar-

kets and new customers, and aptly timed decisions. 

During 2008, all three of Basware’s business mod-

els operated with success. The company increased 

the number of major global customers as expected, 

obtained additional sales in the home market and 

grew strongly in new market areas. 

Towards the goal by strategy 

projects

At the end of 2007, Basware announced five strate-

gic projects with which to pursue its vision. During 

2008, all the projects proceeded according to the 

objectives.

Must-Have Brand and Thought Leadership 

During 2008, Basware reached a strong foothold in 

comparisons made by IT market research institutes. 

In summer 2008, an independent research company 

ranked Basware as a market leader of accounts pay-

able electronic invoice presentment and payment 

vendors and gave it the top score in all three sectors 

of the survey: strategy, current offerings and market 

presence. According to the research report, Basware 

holds a 46 percent global market share as a provid-

er of invoice automation solutions (The ePurchasing 

Software Market – Trends, Leaders, and Promising 

Newcomers”, teleconference, Nov. 12, 2008). In an-

other survey, an independent research company ac-

knowledged Basware as one of the five largest sellers 

of software solutions in the ePurchasing market. Suc-

cess in these rankings increased awareness of and 

market interest in Basware. 

Five Global Giants per Year 

In accordance with its goals, Basware secured five 

agreements with globally operating customers. One 

of these is Novartis Pharma, user of the Basware  

Enterprise Purchase to Pay (EPP) solution in sev-

eral European countries since 2006. During 2008, 

the agreement was expanded to cover the inter-

national level. In addition, Basware supplied one of 

the world’s largest pharmaceutical companies with 

a Purchase to Pay solution that will be installed in 

the company’s branches in EMEA, in approximately 

20 countries with 15 different languages. 

Several global large-scale enterprises have re-

cently streamlined their operations by moving from 

parallel country-specific software and distributed  

Strategy

Basware’s vision is to be the leading provider of Purchase to Pay solutions 

in all its key market areas by 2010. The road to the vision is one of profitable 

growth: Basware’s strategic goal is an annual 20–40 percent increase in net 

sales and a 10–20 percent profit margin. In 2008, Basware reached its  

strategic goals clearly.

Strategy

decision-making, towards more centralized solu-

tions. In order to serve these big businesses even 

better, Basware further strengthened the operations 

of its global Enterprise Sales team.

Joint Forces 

At the end of 2008, Basware had more than 70 re-

sellers worldwide. Resale operations have steadily in-

creased their share of net sales during recent years. 

Dominating the US

During 2008, Basware’s growth and profitability im-

proved considerably in the US market. Basware’s 

net sales in the United States went up 44.6 percent 

on the previous year despite the unstable economic  

situation.

Conquer the Base

In addition to its global customer accounts, Basware  

focused particularly on its present customers. The 

company appointed Account Managers whose task 

is to ensure growth also in mature markets and 

among present customers. Products with varying 

lifecycles provide more profitable additional sales 

than new customers and support the maturing of 

the customer organization. Growth in the home 

Finland 49,517

Scandinavia 18,805

Europe 19,454

North America 5,004

Net Sales by Primary Segment 31 Dec 2008 
(EUR Thousand)
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market is generated by electronic procurement 

systems with which several customers are comple-

menting their tried and proven electronic financial 

administration systems.

Listening to market signals

Success across a broad customer base requires 

sensitivity to information about the market, com-

petitors and one’s own operations, and the willing-

ness and ability to adapt operations as necessary. 

Continuity, activity and sensitivity are key areas in 

Basware’s strategy, making it possible for the com-

pany to reach its goals in rapidly changing market 

situations without significant changes of course.

Due to the changed market situation, Basware 

updated its strategy projects for 2009 by replacing 

two projects with new strategy projects better suit-

ed to the current situation. The Dominating the US 

and Joint Forces projects will advance as a part of 

daily business operations. Instead of them, Basware 

will outlay on world-class product development and 

even tighter networking with customers in 2009.

Differentiation and strong products that meet customers’ 

changing needs are at the core of Basware’s strategy.

Updated strategy projects:

Must-Have Brand and Thought Leadership 

Basware will invest considerably in strengthening 

its awareness and brand in its strategic market ar-

eas.

Five Global Giants per Year 

Basware will pursue rapid and profitable growth in 

cooperation with internationally-operating corpora-

tions.

Conquer the Base 

Basware will continue growth in mature markets, 

improving customer satisfaction with the help of a 

comprehensive service concept. 

World-Class Product Development 

Basware wants to be a global trailblazer, continu-

ously responding to its customers’ changing needs 

with first-class products. Product development 

takes place in cooperation with Basware’s custom-

ers and partners, taking the comments of industry 

analysts into consideration. The company’s product 

development is able to respond and quickly adapt 

to changing product development requirements. 

The functioning and quality of product develop-

ment will be developed further.

Mastering Extented EPP Automation

Basware will tighten its cooperation with custom-

ers by developing various distribution and network 

models for increasingly efficient distribution, sup-

port and updating of products. The company will 

pay particular attention to making the service per-

spective an established part of tight-knit product 

development cooperation.

Strategy

Strategy projects

Five Global Giants per Year

Must-Have Brand and Thought Leadership

Conquer the Base

Mastering Extended EPP Automation

World-Class Product Development

Dominating the US

2008 2009 2010 2011

Joint Forces

The strategy projects were specified further at the end of 2008 to match the current market situation. World-Class Product 

Development and Mastering Extended EPP Automation were turned into strategic projects, while Dominating the US and Joint 

Forces will continue as a part of daily business operations.





Has found its course.
Basware’s core competence is in a field that no one else
masters. This gives Basware an edge that ensures 
functional solutions for customers — from start to finish.
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Basware has become a global trailblazer in making 

financial administration and procurement processes 

more efficient by developing customer-oriented so-

lutions for areas that are not within its competitors’ 

core expertise. Basware specializes in automating 

the purchase to payment process. The products are 

easy and quick to adopt modularly as needed. 

Basware’s leadership was confirmed in the re-

ports by Forrest Research published in 2008 

(Forrester Research: Holistic View: The ePurchasing 

Software Market, September 9, 2008 and Forrest-

er Wave™: AP-EIPP, Q2/2008, June 18, 2008). Ac-

cording to them, Basware is a global market leader 

in the accounts payable electronic invoice present-

ment and payment space and among the five larg-

est sellers of software solutions in the ePurchasing 

market.

In 2008, Basware strengthened its procurement 

product family with new solutions. Basware also 

launched a simple solution that promotes the adop-

tion of SEPA, the Single European Payment Area.

Transparency and best practices

With Basware’s solutions, companies are able to au-

tomate their routines and focus on their core busi-

ness. The transparency of cost structure helps 

customers in finding the right saving opportuni-

ties. During a downward trend, correctly targeted  

savings may provide an opportunity of outperform-

ing the competition, even in recession. 

Reproducibility is an essential feature of Basware’s 

products. The products are not tailored for each 

customer; instead, best practices are collected into 

the solution so as to give the customer a chance to 

review its own process, streamlining it even further.

Independent of field of business and 

ERP systems

The adoption of Basware software does not require 

the customer to change their Enterprise Resource 

Planning (ERP) systems. The software are compati-

ble and can be integrated with more than 200 ERP 

systems.

Basware’s solutions are also suitable for com-

panies operating in a variety of industries. Diversi-

fied customer companies may retain the systems 

best suitable for their each field of business while 

still achieving synergy benefits and cost-savings. 

Basware’s solutions also make it possible to rapidly 

adopt a centralized operating model, e.g. following 

a business acquisition.

Basware’s customers represent both public and 

private sectors and a broad spectrum of industries. 

All customer target groups have been taken into 

consideration in the design of the solutions. 

Solutions for all phases of the value 

chain

Basware’s Purchase to Pay product family includes 

solutions for purchase management, invoice and 

Solutions from Purchase to Payment

World-class products that bring transparency, control and regulatory  

compliance from purchase to payment are at the core of Basware’s interna-

tional competitiveness. Basware’s unique product family streamlines financial 

management and procurement processes with the help of intelligent  

automation and the solutions’ built-in best practices.

Products
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electronic and faster. The CLM solution makes the 

entire lifecycle of a company’s contract lifecycle 

easy to control.

Invoice Automation makes the processing and 

matching of purchase invoices as well as travel 

management more efficient. The payment automa-

tion solution, on the other hand, facilitates effec-

tive payment and treasury planning processes. The 

Planning and Reporting product family automates 

financial management routines and enables strate-

gic monitoring of financial indicators. Electronic in-

voicing solutions enable significant cost-savings and 

reduce the number of errors.

Additional sales module by module

Modularity is the most significant feature of Basware’s  

Purchase to Pay solutions. This means that the cus-

tomer can expand the system a part at a time. The 

light, modular operating method differs consider-

ably from the competitors’ time-consuming, huge 

system projects.

The modular way of working supports the 

growth of the processes of customer companies.  

A company may gradually adopt new modules. Cus-

tomers are able to decide themselves where to seek 

reduced costs.

Modularity is a particularly significant compet-

itive factor in a recession, with few customers in-

vesting in expensive and risky ERP reform projects. 

Yet many companies are willing to obtain a solu-

tion that makes operation more efficient in the long 

term but with a short payback period.

New products that make the 	

procurement process more efficient

In 2008, Basware considerably expanded its of-

fering of procurement solutions. The Basware 

RFx Management solution, piloted in 2007, was 

launched in order to support competitive bidding 

processes. The solution makes the competitive bid-

ding process more efficient, making it possible to 

perform the entire competitive bidding process 

electronically.

Another new product is the Basware Contract 

Lifecycle Management (CLM) application that 

streamlines the management of contracts through-

out their lifecycles, utilizing the possibilities provid-

ed by automation. CLM facilitates the coordination, 

reporting and supervision of customer, partner and 

supplier contracts. CLM can be seamlessly integrat-

ed with other procurement products if necessary. 

payment automation, planning and reporting as well 

as e-invoicing. In addition, the product family includes 

the RFx Management sourcing solution and CLM so-

lution for contract lifecycle management. Instead of 

making manual and error-prone processes electronic 

in the traditional manner, Basware offers true and in-

tegrated automation throughout the value chain.

Procurement management automates time-con-

suming and error-prone manual purchasing pro-

cesses and offers full transparency and manage-

ment of all the company’s purchases and purchase 

processes. The RFx Management sourcing solution 

makes the company’s competitive bidding process 

Products

Basware Enterprise Purchase to Pay Solutions

Basware Business Transactions

Basware Supplier Portal

Procurement Invoice Automation

Key Performance Indicator (KPI)

Basware Travel & Expense Management

Basware Document Archiving

Basware RFx 	
Management

Basware Purchase Management

Basware 	
Contract Lifecycle 

Management

Basware 	
Contract Matching

Basware 	
Invoice Processing

Basware 	
Order Matching

Basware Procurement and Invoice Automation solutions and supporting solutions.

World-class products that bring transparency, control and regulatory 
compliance from purchase to pay are at the core of Basware’s 
international competitiveness.
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In addition to the two new product launches,  

Basware piloted the Supplier Portal in 2008, com-

plementing its procurement offering and support-

ing the Software as a Service (Saas) delivery mod-

el. The Supplier Portal relays the customer’s and 

supplier’s order and delivery transactions. With the 

user-friendly and secure browser interface of the 

Supplier Portal, suppliers are able to manage the 

flow of information connected with catalogs, or-

ders and invoices. Basware’s product development 

always takes place in collaboration with the cus-

tomer. 

Basware’s electronic invoice expertise is cen-

tered in Basware Einvoices unit, which develops 

software for electronic invoicing. Basware Einvoices 

cooperates with several electronic invoice opera-

tors and has expanded outside the Nordic countries 

to other parts of Europe during 2008. 

The Basware Group Consolidation and Basware 

Business Planning solutions are included in the 

Basware Financial Management product family. The 

Basware Group Consolidation software also include 

an FAS/IFRS package that has been sold particular-

ly to countries adopting IFRS, such as Russia. 

The Basware Transparent Reporting value-add-

ed solution generates detailed data on items in fi-

nancial reports, and graphs can be produced with 

the Basware Analyzer tool.

The era of SEPA is coming 

By the end of 2010, the Single European Payment 

Area, SEPA, will be created in Europe. This will have 

effects on the bank data produced e.g. by a compa-

ny’s payment traffic, accounts payable ledger, pay-

roll computation, expense report solution, treasury 

system and invoicing. Due to its far-reaching effect, 

the challenge of SEPA is noteworthy. 

The annual purchasing volume of the City 

of Helsinki amounts to approximately EUR 

2 billion. On an annual level, the City has 

roughly 12,500 suppliers, 200,000 orders 

and 560,000 purchase invoices. Due to 

its massive purchase and invoice volumes, 

the City decided to adopt the Basware 

Purchase Management and Basware 

Invoice Processing solutions as Software 

as a Service (SaaS). 

Basware is in charge of system mainte-

nance, administration, management of 

users and catalogs and activation of sup-

pliers. Jorma Lamminmäki, Procurement 

Director, City of Helsinki, considers the 

solution flexible as the City commits little 

resources to the project, being able to 

concentrate on its own core competence. 

At the same time, the transparency and 

more efficient monitoring offered by the 

systems have developed understanding of 

the process and improved the systematic 

nature of competitive bidding processes 

in the procurement center. 

“Our next development target is to 

integrate contract management into the 

purchase to pay process and to match 

purchase orders with contracts,” states 

Kari Gröndahl, Development Director, City 

of Helsinki.

The City of Helsinki adopted 
financial administration as 	
a service

Basware offers its customers an easy solution for 

ensuring SEPA compliance. The SEPA convert-

er and SEPA version of payment traffic comple-

ment each other, being seamlessly compatible with  

Basware’s financial administration software. 

SEPA has been claimed to be a more massive 

change than the adoption of the euro, but few cus-

tomers have prepared for it. According to a survey 

carried out by Basware, only one out of ten Finnish 

companies had a SEPA plan in October 2008. As a 

result, Basware is expecting significant opportuni-

ties for SEPA solution sales in 2009.

Products

41.5%

Software  
as a Service
business grew by



15Annual Report 2008

Our next development target is to integrate contract management into the 

purchase to pay process and to match purchase orders with contracts.

Products

the base-m process flow

Planning &	
Definition Building

System	
Testing &	
Training

Customer	
Acceptance	
Testing

Production Handover &	
Closing

Solution	
Support

Solution	
Scoping

M0 Start M1 Solution	
defined

M2 Installation	
complete

M3 Ready for 
testing

M4 Ready for 
production

M5 Entry 
into service

M6 Closure

Project Management

Basware’s standard Enterprise Purchase to Pay installation model BASE-M starts with the initial solution scoping and ends with the successful handover to the customer staff 

and the Basware support team.

Basware is given the top score in all three 
dimensions: Strategy, Current Offering and 
Market Presence

Forrester Wave™: Accounts Payable EIPP, Q2 2008 report used 78 

criteria to evaluate top vendors in the accounts payable electronic 

invoice presentment and payment space. The report stated “Basware	

 stays just ahead of a strong pack”. Forrester recognized Basware’s 

strategy and market presence, giving the company the highest 

scores in strategy. Basware was stated to have “the largest market 

presence, excellent functionality, and a strong vision”. The report 

further notes that Basware is “continuing to enhance its EIPP product 

innovation while expanding into new areas”.

Among the top in ePurchasing 	
vendors

According to a Forrester Research report Company Basware was 

quoted as being among the five largest sellers of software solu-

tions in the ePurchasing market. 

Independent market forecasts state that overall ePurchasing mar-

kets are estimated to grow moderately around 6–8% faster than 

total IT purchases (3–5%). 

The Forrester report states that “while products like eProcurement 

and eSourcing are widely adopted and have slower growth, other 

products like contract life-cycle management and electronic invoice 

presentment and payment (EIPP) have more limited adoption and 

great growth potential”. (Forrester Research: Holistic View: The ePurchasing 

Software Market, September 9, 2008)
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Operating Environment

Basware’s strategy is based on differentiation. By developing aptly timed 

solutions for the needs of its customers, Basware has created a product port-

folio that competitors will find difficult to match. In 2008, independent market 

surveys ranked Basware a global market leader in electronic invoice automation 

solutions and among the top five sellers of software solutions in the ePurchasing 

market. As a trailblazer, Basware expects growth to continue in 2009.

The market for both invoice automation solutions 

and electronic procurement solutions grew in 2008.  

According to latest market estimates from January 

2009 the general IT market is expected to decrease 

in 2009 (–3%) and software market to remain un-

chaged (0%). However, growth in the Invoice Au-

tomation and Enterprise Purchase to Pay solu-

tion market has been predicted to moderately beat  

(6–8%) the general IT market (3–5%).

Basware’s net sales increased by 17.5 percent 

in 2008. Profitable growth beating the market lift-

ed Basware to a strong position in the electronic fi-

nancial management and procurement software 

markets.

Basware’s main market areas are the Nordic 

countries, Russia, Central Europe, North America 

and Asia-Pacific. In Europe, Basware’s focus areas 

are the United Kingdom, Germany and France. In 

Asia-Pacific, Basware operations primarily focus on 

Australia, China, Malaysia and Singapore. In 2008, 

Basware increased its net sales and improved its 

profitability across all strategic market areas.

Market leader in electronic invoice 

automation solutions

Basware holds a strong position in the market. Ac-

cording to a report published by an independent 

market research company, Basware is by far the 

market leader in electronic invoice automation so-

lutions. In the survey of all the significant actors in 

the industry, Basware achieved first place in all sec-

tors: strategy, current offerings and market pres-

ence. Compared to the previous survey carried out 

in 2005, Basware had clearly succeeded in gaining 

distance over its competitors. 

In Fall 2008, an independent market research 

company published a report of the position of more 

than a hundred companies in the electronic pro-

curement solution market. Basware was ranked 

among the five most significant actors. The com-

pany’s strategy and products were considered top 

class in particular. 

Basware has grown more rapidly than any of its 

key competitors. Rapid and profitable growth has 

enabled Basware to invest more than the competi-

tors, and this is how the company has managed to 

gain lead over its competitors even further. 

Basware’s seamless solution suite

Basware’s core expertise is in an area that competi-

tors are not specialized in. Basware has competitors 

in individual solutions, but the integrated product 

and service offering that covers the entire Purchase 

to Pay value chain gives Basware indisputable com-

petitive edge. With the seamless solution suite,  

Basware is able to offer its customers true and  

integrated automation instead of merely making indi- 

vidual processes electronic. 

Some of Basware’s direct competitors are smaller 

than Basware and primarily operate locally. Devel-

opers of document management, scanning and re-

cycling systems compete with Basware’s purchase 

invoice management solutions. In addition, custom 

solutions built into Enterprise Resource Planning 

(ERP) systems can be considered competitors.

In cooperation with customers

Basware’s products have more than 650,000 end 

users in more than 50 countries and six continents. 

The customers represent private as well as public 

sectors and operate in a variety of fields from fi-

nancial services to manufacturing industry, educa-

tion, health care and pharmaceutical industry, high 

tech, publishing activity, airlines and telecom, ser-

vices and retail. The broad spectrum of industries 

makes it possible for Basware to steer its opera-

tions based on the market conditions.  

The customers range from global giants to me-

dium-sized and small companies. During 2008,  

Basware moved towards increasingly major custom-

er accounts, securing five globally operating cus-

tomers in accordance with its strategic objective, 

including Novartis and a large international phar-

maceutical company.

The success of Basware’s products is based on 

recognizing the customers’ needs and offering aptly 

timed, high-quality solutions that support business 

operations. Partnership in product development as 

well as development of the customer’s financial pro-

cesses is an integral part of Basware’s operations. 

As a result of close collaboration with custom-

ers, Basware has managed to adopt the best prac-

tices of more than a thousand customer companies 

in its software. Basware products offer customers 
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the opportunity to critically review the functioning 

of the entire process. The product family that pro-

motes transparency, efficiency and regulatory com-

pliance from purchase to payment makes it possible 

for customers to achieve cost savings and stream-

line their operations.

Changing markets

General economic uncertainty and a downturn in 

economy marked the latter half of 2008. Many soft-

ware suppliers’ ability to invest suffered, and compa-

nies cut their R&D expenditure. The growth of small 

companies in particular slowed down and is likely to 

slow down further in the future. Basware expects the 

competition field to consolidate further, resulting in a 

decreased number of acquisitions and competitors.

The Software as a Service (SaaS) model will be-

come more commonplace in the coming years and 

it will have an impact on the operating model of 

the invoice automation and Enterprise Purchase to 

Pay market in the future. The service concept will 

change the interface to the customer, and the cus-

tomer will face a more extensive business process 

offered by the company.

 

Aiming at growth in 2009 as well

Basware is not immune to economic fluctuations, 

but its ability to offer customers efficiency and cost 

savings provides the company’s products with op-

portunities in all economic conditions. Forrester  

Research states that the best AP-EIPP products de-

liver operational savings, error reduction, and higher 

early-payment discounts (Forrester Research: Holis-

tic View: The ePurchasing Software Market, Septem-

ber 9, 2008). The impact of a recession is not likely 

to be as significant on such investments with a short 

payback time as in the software industry on average. 

Basware’s lead over other actors in the industry 

is indisputable, and the company is going to main-

tain its leading position in the future. Basware’s ob-

jective is to continue profitable growth and interna-

tionalization in 2009.

Operating Environment

According to the Forrester Wave™ report published in summer 2008, 
Basware “leads the pack” of accounts payable electronic invoice presentment 
and payment vendors.       

Business environment trends

Customers

Technology Legislation Economy

Competitors & market

• CIO role changing from IT to business support
• Purchase-to-pay and savings driving the RFP’s
• Changing software deployment models
• Supplier networks high in “hype”

• IT cost savings drive governance
• Next generation web applications
• From fixed processes to business 
	 rules driven automation

• Strengthening of corporate 
	 governance requirements
• EU level e-business acceleration

• Slowdown of global markets
• Savings on the agenda of enterprises

• Mix of market maturity
• Growing market driven by specialists. Replacement investments 
	 in procurement starting (10 years life cycle)
• Consolidation of vendors, large ERP players entering the market, 
	 acquisitions

Prevailing trends in present business environment.

Forrester Wave™: AP-EIPP, Q2/2008, June 18, 2008
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In 2008, Basware spent 18.0 percent of its net sales 

on product development. At the end of the year, 171  

Basware employees worked in the Software Production 

unit, of them 136 in Finland, 26 in India and 8 in Norway.

Basware’s differentiation-based strategy requires 

product development to be continuously sensitive to 

market messages and able to react to them. Aptly 

timed solutions that quickly generate cash flow are 

launched into the market. 

In 2008, Basware strengthened its internation-

al position, securing several global major corpora-

tions as its customers. Success in the heavyweights 

of software suppliers requires top-notch product de-

velopment. Basware turned world-class product de-

velopment into a new strategic project in 2008. As 

a part of the strategy project, Basware harmonized 

its product development practices across the entire 

product development process.

Basware’s product development saw an increase 

of 19 people during 2008. Future recruitment in Bas-

ware’s product development activities will mainly 

take place in the Indian product development unit 

established in 2007. Product management, product 

innovations and software platform design will re-

main in Finland.

Toward more customer-driven product 

development

Basware’s product development always takes place 

in cooperation with the customer. Customer-driven, 

however, does not mean customer-specific prod-

ucts: world-class efficiency and cost savings are 

achieved with flexible solutions that require the 

minimum amount of customization. With Basware 

products, customer companies can streamline their 

operations by adopting the best practices in the in-

dustry. 

In 2008, Basware tightened its customer coopera-

tion in product development even further by changing 

product development work with customers from proj-

ects to a continuous operating model. Therefore, the 

customer is central throughout the product develop-

ment process from beginning to end.

Product launches that complement 

and integrate the offering

In 2008, Basware’s product development introduced 

two significant new products: Basware RFx Manage-

ment sourcing solution and Basware Contract Life-

cycle Management solution, both piloted in 2007.  

In the future, Basware’s product development 

will utilize the data already in the systems even 

more effectively. In 2009, Basware will launch a 

real-time solution for the management of corporate 

expenditure. The solution will transform cost con-

trol from a cyclic, repeated process into a continu-

ous one.

In addition, product development will make the 

integration of Basware’s product portfolio even 

more effective through new technology. Integration 

Toward World-Class Product Development

Customers play a key role in Basware’s product development. The starting 

point in product development is aptly timed understanding of the customer’s 

needs, and new products are always created in cooperation with the customer. 

Therefore, Basware has been able to launch tried and tested global trailblazer 

solutions that solve real problems. 

Product Development

18% 
 of net sales

the share 
of product 
development was
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ropean payment traffic and it is a significant change 

for companies; yet according to a Basware survey, 

only one in ten Finnish companies had a SEPA plan 

in October 2008. 

As it is difficult for an individual company to ver-

ify the SEPA compatibility of its financial adminis-

tration systems, in fall 2008 Basware launched a 

SEPA converter and SEPA version that ensure com-

patibility in an easy and proven way. Basware ex-

pects the products to become financially significant 

in 2009 in particular in Finland, when companies 

must acknowledge the impact of SEPA on their  

financial administration systems at the latest.

In the long term, changes in the industry that 

will have an effect on Basware’s product develop-

ment include the increasing popularity of the Soft-

ware as a Service model. Software as a Service 

(SaaS) model increases the probability of successful 

software acquisitions by centralizing technological 

competence in a single place, and it highlights the 

idea of selling best practices instead of mere soft-

ware; something that Basware already cherishes.

Success in the heavyweights of software suppliers  

requires top-notch product development.

product life cycle

PR0 PR1 PR2 PR3 PR4

Product Creation

Requirements Management

Shipment Readiness

INPUTS:
BI/CI
Customer
Needs
Strategy:
• Company
• Product
• Technology

OUTPUTS:
Product Package	
Support Readiness 
Sales Readiness

Aptly timed understanding of the customers’ needs and sensitivity to listen to the market are in a key role in Basware’s product development.

Product Development

is already quite comprehensive, but it will be devel-

oped further during 2009. 

Product development is ready for 

changes in the industry

The software business faces constant change. Of 

the short-term changes, the adoption of the Single 

Euro Payments Area, SEPA, by the end of 2010 is 

the most important as far as Basware is concerned. 

SEPA started in January 2008 with the adoption of 

the SEPA bank transfer. SEPA will revolutionize Eu-

PHASE 0
Initial 
Planning

PHASE 1
Detail 
Planning

PHASE 2
Project
Execution

PHASE 3
Project
Closing

PHASE 4
Product
Packaging

PHASE 5
Product
Shipment &
Versioning





In the same square with the customer.
Basware products are more than software. The products combine the best  
practices of thousands of customer companies. They are refined in cooperation  
with customers into functional entities.
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Basware strives to be an alluring employer whose 

employees are committed, goal-oriented and highly 

proficient in an international business environment. 

A favorable internal and external employer image, 

high-quality recruitment and systematic develop-

ment of employees’ competence are keys to reach-

ing this objective. In 2008, the number of Basware 

employees continued its steady growth: the num-

ber of employees increased by 11 percent on the 

previous year to 731 at the end of 2008.

Alluring employer in the eyes of 

present and future personnel alike

Basware’s four values – aim for achievement, be 

professional, build on respect and act with courage 

– originate in the company’s personnel. The spirit 

crystallized in these values is alive in Basware, re-

gardless of geographical location. The Basware 

spirit is one of daring and pioneership where the 

meaningfulness of work is upheld by matching em-

ployees’ tasks with their competence, personal de-

velopment targets and wishes. Two things that pro-

mote wellbeing at work emerge every year in job 

satisfaction surveys: Basware’s people and atmo-

sphere. 

In Finland, a trustworthy Finnish company on its 

way to the international market has been seen as 

an alluring employer, and high-quality recruitment 

has been an easy task. As business conditions are 

getting more uncertain, trustworthiness and finan-

cial stability become even more significant to em-

ployer image. Building the employer image abroad 

where awareness of Basware is not yet as high as 

in Finland, will become increasingly important in 

the future. The international employer image de-

velops hand in hand with the company’s interna-

tional growth and development of awareness of its 

products.

Focus on the development of 

strategic competence 

Basware offers its employees an opportunity for 

continuous competence development. Basware’s 

own academies are an important form of training. 

The Sales and Project Academies, which have re-

ceived a favorable reception from the employees, 

were supplemented by two new ones in 2008: Con-

sulting and Leadership Academies. The Academies 

convene employees of the company from all over 

the world, offering an excellent opportunity for 

networking and sharing know-how. The employees 

have appreciated the opportunity for participat-

ing in the Academies, which have been felt to be of 

great use. 

Those who pass the Academy are given a cer-

tificate of training. Certification promotes uniform 

quality and implementation of shared operating 

models in a company that operates in an extensive 

geographical area.

Personal targets are part of 

comprehensive compensation

Basware rewards achievements. Every employee 

has personal, objectively measured targets, and 

Organization of Internationally-Minded Professionals

Profitable growth is impossible without highly competent personnel. Active 

development of personnel competence and encouraging a working environ-

ment that emphasizes courage and a positive attitude are an investment in 

the employees. 

Personnel

04

05

06

07

08

Number of Personnel

302

395

658

731

528

Customer Services 48.7%

R&D 23.4%

Sales & Sales Support 

18.9%

Administration 9.0%

Personnel Groups 

Master 34.1%

Bachelor 44.0%

College and other 21.9%

Educational Background of Personnel
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an incentive is paid for achieving them. Financial 

remuneration is not, however, the only incentive 

in the mindset of comprehensive compensation.  

Basware invests in its employees’ wellbeing at work 

by sponsoring employees’ clubs and arranging vari-

ous communal events, for instance.

The year starts with regional kick-offs, which 

were particularly massive in 2008 due to announc-

ing the new corporate image. The renewed strategy 

was implemented in the events, and each employee 

recorded his or her personal objectives for imple-

menting the strategy in his or her own work. 

Employees of the year – ones who have put the 

Basware values into practice in their work in an ex-

ceptional way – selected from five different per-

sonnel groups were also announced in the event. 

Basware’s Executive Team selects the employees of 

the year based on proposals made by the personnel.

Rewarding also encompasses the possibility to 

develop oneself and training, which young employ-

ees in particular value highly. 

Job satisfaction is high

Basware’s annual job satisfaction survey was ar-

ranged for the 12th time in 2008. The response 

rate was good: 73 percent of the company’s em-

ployees responded to the survey. Overall satisfac-

tion remained almost unchanged from the previous 

year: on a scale of 1 to 5, it amounted to 3.7. 

In the survey, particularly high scores were 

achieved in questions measuring knowledge of the 

objectives of one’s own department and the compa-

ny – averaging more than 4.1. At Basware, strategy 

is truly implemented at the individual level. The em-

ployees are aware of how their work is connected 

with the big picture and see the significance of their 

own work. The employees were also very satisfied 

with leadership: management was rated at 3.9.

The employees are aware of how their work is connected with  

the big picture and see the significance of their own work.

what kind of behavior do we encourage?

Basware

Act with
courage

Aim for
achievement

Be professionalBuild on
respect

Basware employees’ commitment to the company is 

also a sign of job satisfaction. Of the employees, 25 

percent have been employed by the company for 6 

to 10 years, and 39 percent have been at the com-

pany’s employ for 2 to 5 years. For a growth com-

pany, these figures are an excellent achievement.

Number of personnel increasing 

outside Finland

Basware’s rapid international growth combined 

with larger and increasingly global customers re-

quire more and more competence from its em-

ployees. The personnel are well set for responding 

to the challenge: more than 30 percent of employ-

ees have at least a Master’s degree and more than  

75 percent at least a Bachelor’s degree. Basware is 

a youthful company: the average age of Basware 

employees was 36 years at the end of 2008. 

In 2008, an increasing share of Basware em-

ployees worked outside Finland. While 41 percent of 

Basware employees worked outside Finland at the 

end of 2007, the corresponding figure at the end of 

2008 amounted to 46 percent. 

As a result of the acquisition of Contempus AS 

in September 2008, a total of 41 new employees in 

Norway, Sweden and the UK joined Basware. Syn-

ergy benefits were pursued by unifying personnel 

processes and integrating Contempus employees to 

Basware’s local subsidiaries.

Growth in Basware’s personnel will take place 

mainly outside Finland in the future as well.  In par-

ticular, the Indian product development unit and 

the subsidiaries in the US and Central Europe are 

expected to grow in terms of personnel. Basware 

estimates its total number of personnel to increase 

by approximately 10 percent in 2009.

Personnel
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A company with customers in six continents and 

more than 50 countries must be able to think in a 

global and multicultural way. As an international 

player, Basware wants to be responsible with regard 

to its investors, customers, employees as well as the 

communities surrounding its business operations. 

Basware’s values arise from the company’s person-

nel. Compatibility of the company’s values with its em-

ployees’ values has become increasingly significant in 

terms of employer image and wellbeing at work.

Financial responsibility is our 	

foundation

A solid financial situation, good profitability and 

strong growth make deeds that build today’s and to-

morrow’s welfare possible. Profitability and financial 

stability are an integral part of Basware’s responsi-

bility. Stability and trustworthiness yield added val-

ue to all stakeholders. 

A trustworthy company looks after its personnel, 

offering a variety of opportunities of self-develop-

ment and recreation. 

Acting for a better tomorrow

Basware’s electronic financial management software 

solutions have more than 650,000 end users. The 

software reduce paper consumption in thousands 

of offices all over the world, guiding customer com-

panies towards the paperless office. Paperlessness 

saves the environment and money. An invoice sent 

on paper, for instance, burdens the environment ap-

proximately 20 times as much as an electronic in-

voice and costs five times as much to its sender.

Environmental issues have been taken into consid-

eration in Basware’s own premises, too. Basware’s 

head office in Espoo has held a Green Office certif-

icate issued by the World Wildlife Fund since 2003. 

The prerequisites for being issued the certificate 

include a standing environmental program, waste 

sorting and recycling, reduction of carbon dioxide 

emissions and endeavors to constantly improve en-

vironmental issues. The realization of select indica-

tors is monitored every year.

Cooperation with the Plan Finland charity foun-

dation has continued since 2002. Basware has 14 

sponsored children in developing countries, and 

the company wants to build a better future for their 

communities. In addition to child sponsorship, in 

2008 Basware also supported the facilities of fam-

ilies, communities and authorities for preventing 

child abuse and abandonment in Togo and Sudan 

and promote the realization of the rights of children 

in need of special protection through Plan’s social 

responsibility program.

Learning from young artists 

The Art of Basware is an annual contest for young vi-

sual artists, intended to support and encourage them 

to develop their skills. The contest has grown in pop-

ularity year on year, and 243 artists under the age of 

30 took part in the ninth contest in 2008 with a to-

tal of 612 works. The winning work and five others 

were bought for Basware’s art collection. Displayed 

everywhere around Basware’s Espoo premises, mod-

ern art reminds of the company’s values and opens 

windows to a daring and novel way of thinking.

Respect for People and Environment 

High business ethics are the cornerstone of Basware operations. The company’s 

four values – aim for achievement, be professional, build on respect and act with 

courage – underlie a corporate culture that respects people and the environment.

Social Responsibility

Vietnam, birth registration support

Birth registration is very significant to a 

child. The U.N. Convention on the Rights of 

the Child states that a child should be reg-

istered immediately after birth and that the 

child has rights to a name and a nationali-

ty. Registration is an official identification 

testimonial and supports the other human 

rights.

Plan’s project aims at registering the 

birth of a child in order to support the other 

rights of the children. The project is active 

especially in remote areas and among ethni-

cal minorities.

Basware’s cooperation 	
with Plan

Jouna Karsi participated in Art of Basware in 2007.
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Basware wants to be responsible with regard to its investors, customers, 

employees as well as the communities surrounding its business operations.

Social Responsibility

Togo, supporting girls’ education 

in rural areas

Togo is one of the poorest countries in the 

world. The educational system suffers from se-

vere financial problems and cannot respond to 

the educational needs of the fast growing pop-

ulation. Inequality is prevailing especially in 

girls’ educational possibilities in rural areas.

The purpose of the project is to guaran-

tee more equal educational possibilities in 15 

school districts. This means that all girls liv-

ing in the districts have the possibility to go to 

school and better chances of finishing compre-

hensive school.

Sudan, preventing female genital cutting

Female genital cutting is reality for 90 percent 

of married women between 15 and 49 years in 

Northern, Eastern and Western part of Sudan. 

Plan project aims at reducing the number 

of harmful traditions abusing female rights by 

creating safe environments for girls and wom-

en to grow safely to become equal and respon-

sible members of the society and also partici-

pate in developing their societies.

Basware’s cooperation 	
with Plan

Togo, preventing child prostitution and 

abuse in rural areas

Child prostitution, trafficking and abuse are se-

vere problems in Togo. Togo is a poor country 

and estimates state over 313,000 children be-

tween 5 and 15 years of age are separated from 

their families due to work in cities or neighbor-

ing countries.

Plan project aims at reducing prostitution 

in selected 20 project communities by raising 

awareness of prostitution, reasons behind it 

and its harmful consequences. Target groups 

are families, communities and the whole society.

Basware has sponsored children in developing countries since 2002. Cooperation with Plan began 

when each Basware unit was assigned a sponsor child. The company currently has 14 sponsored 

children in Africa, Asia and Latin America. Donations are used to promote children’s wellbeing and 

to offer them better educational opportunities. 

“Basware personnel and clients value our Plan cooperation highly and it has strengthened 	

Basware’s image as a responsible employer. During our Plan cooperation we have also encouraged 

our stakeholders to support Plan. In addition we further encourage other Finnish companies to 

support children in developing countries,” says Hannu Vaajoensuu, Chairman, Basware Board of 

Directors.

In addition to sponsoring individual children, Basware has also taken part in other projects and 

participated in Cameroon Little Lions project which aimed at improving children’s living conditions 

in Cameroonian villages. Between 2005 and 2007, Basware took part in the Plan Investor program 

and supported projects in Sri Lanka, the Dominican Republic and Sierra Leone. In 2008 Basware 

also participated in Plan’s social responsibility program in Togo and Sudan. The purpose of the pro-

gram is to support families, communities and authorities to prevent child abuse and abandonment 

as well as to protect the rights of children needing special protection.

Promoting better living conditions





See the big picture. 
Everything from purchase to payment is controlled and 
transparent. Basware’s proficient process management 
enables transparency in business operations.
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Board of Directors

Hannu Vaajoensuu, born 1961, MSc (Econ)

Member of the Board since 1990, Chairman of the 

Board since 2005

Key working experience: Basware Corp.: CEO 1999–

2004, Executive Director 1991–1999, consulting po-

sitions in the company 1987–1991 

Current positions of trust: Biocomputing Platforms 

Ltd Oyj: Member of the Board, Comptel Oyj: Deputy 

Chairman of the Board, Efecte Oy: Chairman of the 

Board, Festum eServices: Chairman of the Board,  

Profit Software Oy: Chairman of the Board

Matti Copeland, born 1961, MSc (Econ), Stanford 

Graduate School of Business (Stanford Executive 

Program 2000), Member of the Board since 2008

Key working experience: A&B: Managing Partner 

2007–, Deloitte: Partner, M&A Advisory 2005–2007, 

CapMan Capital Management: Investment Direc-

tor Buyout Business Unit 2002–2005, Aura Capital: 

Managing Director 2001–2002, Jippii Group: Man-

aging Director 2001–2001, Leonia/Sampo: Executive 

Vice president, Large Corporate Clients 1998–2001, 

KANSALLIS-OSAKE-PANKKI/Merita/Merita-Nord-

banken: Head of Debt Capital Markets 1988–1998, 

Citibank New York: Manager 1986–1988 

Current positions of trust: Member of the Board 

in several growth companies. The Finnish Associa-

tion of Professional Board Members: Board mem-

ber since 2005–

Sakari Perttunen, born 1957, MSc (Econ)

Member of the Board 1993–2004, since 2008

Key working experience: Basware Corporation: 

CFO 2004–2007, Vice President IT 2001–2003, Vice 

President Development 1999–2000, specialist and 

management positions at Basware 1987–1998

 

Current position of trust: Movenium Oy: Chairman 

of the Board.

Ossi Pohjola, born 1957, BSc

Management Consultant, Business Integration 

Group BIG, Member of the Board since 2004

Key working experience: Oracle EMEA: Senior Vice 

President 1999–2002, Oracle Northern, Central and 

Eastern Europe: Vice President 1993–1999, Anders-

en Consulting Oy: CEO 1988–1993

Current positions of trust: Sininen Meteoriitti Oy: 

Chairman of the Board of Directors, Idean Enter-

prises Oy, Insta Group Oy, Suur-Seudun Osuuskaup-

pa SSO, Forte Netservices Oy, Asan Security Tech-

nologies Oy, Sievo Oy and DynaRoad Oy: member 

of the Board of Directors.

Ilkka Toivola, born 1963, MSc (Tech)

Nokia Siemens Networks: Head of Global Sales, 

Business Support Systems

Member of the Board since 2008

Key working experience: Nokia Networks: Vice 

President, Quality and Customer Satisfaction, Mem-

ber of Nokia Networks Board 2005–2007, Vice 

President, Mobile Software Integration 2004–2005, 

General Manager, Mobile Software Integration 

2002–2003, Director, Mobile Charging Solutions 

Business 2000–2002, Hewlett-Packard Company: 

Global Client Executive 1999–2000, Professional 

Services Country Manager in Finland and Managing 

Consultant 1995–1999, Business Development Man-

ager, European Marketing Center, Germany 1993–

1995, Account and Senior Account Manager 1989–

1993

Board of Directors
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Members of the Board of Directors: 

Hannu Vaajoensuu, Matti Copeland, 

Sakari Perttunen, Ossi Pohjola and  

Ilkka Toivola.

Board of Directors
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Executive Team

Ilkka Sihvo, CEO, MSc (Econ), MSc (Tech), born 

1962, at Basware since 1989

Key working experience: Basware Corporation: 

Member of the Board 1990–, CEO 2005–, CFO 

2000–2004, management positions in the compa-

ny 1989–1999 

Mika Harjuaho, CFO, MSc (Econ), born 1966, at  

Basware since 2007 

Key working experience: Suunto Oy: Financial Di-

rector 2001–2007, Ericsson AB: Area Business Con-

troller 2000–2001, Oy LM Ericsson AB: Business 

Controller 1997–2000, Suomen Unilever Oy Van den 

Bergh Foods: Controller 1996–1997, Unilever Neder-

land B.V.: Internal Auditor 1995–1996, Suomen Uni-

lever Oy Lever: Marketing Accountant 1994–1995 

Olli Hyppänen, Senior Vice President, Strategy and 

Development as of 1 Jan 2008, Senior Vice Presi-

dent, Software Production until 31 Aug 2008, 

MSc (Tech), born 1966, at Basware since 2003 

Key working experience: Tellabs International: Di-

rector, Supply Chain Engineering 2002–2003, Tel-

labs Corp.: Senior Manager 2000–2001, Department 

Manager 1999, Program Manager 1998, Tecnomen 

Corp.: Project Manager 1996–1998 

Positions of trust: Lacquer: Chairman of the Board 

2005–, ManPro: Chairman of the Board 2006– 

Ulla Martola, Senior Vice President, Human Re-

sources & Development, MSc (Econ), born 1962, at 

Basware since 2003 

Key working experience: Talent Partners: Senior 

Executive Consultant 2002–2003, KPMG Wideri: 

Chief Knowledge Officer 1999–2002, KPMG Con-

sulting: Senior Manager 1995–1999, Principal Con-

sultant 1991–1994 

Steve Muddiman, Senior Vice President, Global 

Marketing, University Graduate (Comms), born 1961,

at Basware since 2008

Key working experience: VMware Inc.: Director of 

Field and Corporate Marketing Europe, Middle East 

& Africa 2006–2008, Ariba Inc.: VP Marketing and 

Strategy, Europe, Middle East & Africa 2001–2005, 

Hewlett-Packard Inc.: Various General Management 

and Marketing Management positions 1989–2000

Pekka Rehn, Senior Vice President, Products as of 

1 Sep 2008, Vice President, Product Development 

until 31 Aug 2008, MSc (Econ), Certified Informa-

tion Systems Auditor (CISA), born 1966, at Basware 

since 2005 (also in 1995–1996)

Key working experience: Basware Corporation: 

Vice President, Product Development, Procurement 

products 2005–2008, Meridea Financial Software 

Oy: including positions such as Senior Vice Presi-

dent Operations, Offering Manager and Program 

Manager 2001–2005, Sampo Group: Various posi-

tions such as Business CIO and Vice President Web 

Banking Systems, IS Auditor, 1997–2001, Basware 

Oy: Consultant 1995–1996 

Esa Tihilä, General Manager, Europe until 30 Sep 

2008, SVP, Global Operations as of October 1, 2008, 

College Graduate (Econ), eMBA, born 1964, at Bas-

ware since 2004 

Key working experience: Meridea Financial Soft-

ware: CEO 2001–2004, ICL PLC: Group Executive Di-

rector 2001, Global Director, e-Business 1999–2001, 

ICL Data: Director, e-Business 1997–1998, Business 

Development Director 1995–1996

Positions of trust: Basware e-Invoices Oyj: Member 

of the Board 2008–, Sonera Corporation: Member 

of the Board 2001–2003, ICL Invia: Member of the 

Board 2000–2001, Nice Business Solutions Finland: 

Chairman of the Board 1999–2001

Odd Roar Trapnes, Senior Vice President, Bas-

ware Scandinavia, MSc (IT), BSc (Econ), born 1957, 

at Basware since 2005 (worked as a partner for  

Basware since 1999) 

Key working experience: Adaptive Systems / Io-

core: Managing Director 1997–2005, Texas Instru-

ments Norway, Managing Director 1993–1997, Mc-

Donnell Douglas Information Systems Norway: 

Managing Director & Sales Manager Nordic region 

1988–1993

Executive Team
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Members of the Executive Team: Ilkka Sihvo, 

Mika Harjuaho, Olli Hyppänen, Ulla Martola, 

Steve Muddiman, Pekka Rehn, Esa Tihilä 

Odd Roar Trapnes, and Jukka Virkkunen.

Executive Team

Jukka Virkkunen, Senior Vice President, Country 

Manager Finland, College Graduate (Econ), born 

1960, at Basware since 2006 

Key working experience: Capgemini Finland Oy 

Technology Services: Unit Manager 2004–2006, 

Ementor Oy: Sales Director 2002–2003, Fujitsu Ser-

vices Oyj: Marketing Director, Nordic 2000–2002, 

ICL Data Oy e-Business: Sales Director 1997–2000, 

Account Manager 1996–1997

Positions of trust: Helsinki region Chamber of Com-

merce: member of committee, member of ICT com-

mittee since 2006

Other members in 2008

Matti Rusi, Senior Vice President, Global Oper-

ations, MBA, born 1963, at Basware 1997 – 29 Feb 

2008 

Jari Tavi, CTO, BSc in Eletronics Engineering, born 

1963, at Basware 2002 – 31 Dec 2008
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44,000 for the whole term. However, Board mem-

bers with a full-time position in the Basware Group 

(Vaajoensuu) are not entitled to this fee. In addi-

tion, all members of the Board are paid a meeting 

fee of EUR 275 for each meeting.

The Chairman of the Board, Hannu Vaajoensuu, 

holds a position in the Company. He is responsible 

for the Company’s strategic projects such as acqui-

sitions. The service terms and conditions have been 

specified in writing, stating that the Chairman of 

the Board has:

6 months’ period of notice and salary for the pe-••

riod of notice should the Company give notice,  

in addition to which he is entitled to severance 

pay equivalent of 12 months’ fixed salary,

6 months’ period of notice and salary for the pe-••

riod of notice should the person resign himself, 

no additional compensation is paid,

12-month prohibition of competition as of the ter-••

mination of the employment,

retirement age and pension benefits pursuant to ••

the Employees’ Pensions Act (TEL).

The salary of the Chairman of the Board, including 

benefits, totaled EUR 99,078.57 in 2007. Salary in 

money was EUR 86,327.07 and fringe benefits to-

taled EUR 12,751.50. The Chairman of Board is not 

included in the bonus program of the Company.

CEO and management

The Board appoints the CEO of Basware Corpora-

tion and supervises his performance. The CEO is in 

charge of the day-to-day management of the Com-

pany in accordance with the instructions and or-

ders given by the Board, as well as by the Compa-

nies Act. In 2008, Ilkka Sihvo acted as the CEO of 

the Company. 

Basware Corporation is a public limited compa-

ny publicly listed on NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd.  

Basware Group is comprised of the Finnish parent 

company as well as Finnish and foreign subsidiaries. 

Highest decision-making power is held by the Gener-

al Meeting of Shareholders, Board of Directors and 

CEO. The following is a summary of the company’s 

Corporate Governance Statement. The full state-

ment can be found on the company’s public web site 

at www.basware.com/corporategovernance.

General Meeting 

The General Meeting is the highest decision-mak-

ing body of Basware Corporation. The Annual Gen-

eral Meeting is summoned once a year and extraor-

dinary General Meetings are arranged, if necessary, 

during the year. The Annual General Meeting de-

cides on the approval of the Income Statement and 

the Balance Sheet, measures occasioned by the 

profit or loss shown in the approved Balance Sheet, 

on discharging the members of the Board and the 

CEO from liability and on the election of the mem-

bers of the Board of Directors. The Annual Gener-

al Meeting also elects the auditors and decides on 

the remuneration of the Board of Directors and au-

ditors and covers other matters mentioned in the 

invitation to the General Meeting. The 2009 Annu-

al General Meeting will take place on February 12, 

2009 in Helsinki. 

Board of Directors

The Board of Directors of Basware Corporation is 

responsible for the Company’s management and 

the appropriate arrangement of its operations. The 

Board supervises the Company’s operations and 

management and decides on significant matters 

concerning the Company strategy, organization, fi-

nancing and investments. The essential duties and 

responsibilities of the Board are defined primarily 

by the Articles of Association and the Finnish Com-

panies Act. In accordance with the Articles of As-

sociation, the Basware Board of Directors has a 

minimum of four and a maximum of eight regular 

members. The Board members are elected by the 

Annual General Meeting for one term of office at a 

time.  

The Board has a quorum when more than half of 

the members are present. 

Composition of the Board in 2008

The Annual General Meeting on February 14, 2008 

elected five members to the Board of Directors. 

Matti Copeland, Sakari Perttunen, Ossi Pohjola, Ilk-

ka Toivola and Hannu Vaajoensuu were elected to 

the Board. Matti Copeland, Sakari Perttunen and 

Ilkka Toivola were new members. 

In its first meeting on February 14, 2008, the 

Board elected Hannu Vaajoensuu as Chairman of 

the Board and Sakari Perttunen as Vice Chairman. 

One Board member (Vaajoensuu) held a position in 

the Company in 2008. Vaajoensuu owns more than 

8 percent and Perttunen more than 7 percent of all 

the shares of the Company when the ownership of 

persons under guardianship and of controlled com-

panies is taken into account. Three of the members 

(Copeland, Pohjola and Toivola) are independent of 

the Company and its significant shareholders. The 

members of the Board are presented on page 28. 

The Board convened 94 times in 2008 and the av-

erage attendance rate of the directors at the Board 

meetings was 94 percent.

Remuneration of the Board members

The Annual General Meeting decides on the remu-

neration paid to the members of the Board of Di-

rectors. In 2008, the Board members were paid an 

annual fee of EUR 22,000, Vice Chairman of the 

Board EUR 26,000 and Chairman of the Board EUR 

Corporate Governance

Corporate Governance
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Basware acknowledgements
Forrester Research: Basware is a 	•	

market leader in the accounts payable 	

electronic invoice presentment and 	

payment space (Forrester Wave™: AP-EIPP, 

Q2/2008, June 18, 2008)

Forrester Research: Basware among the five •	

largest sellers of software solutions in the 

ePurchasing market (Forrester Research: Holistic 

View: The ePurchasing Software Market, September 9, 

2008)

Internationalization Award granted by 	•	

the President of the Republic of Finland 	

in 2004 

The Finnish Information Processing As-•	

sociation (FIPA) recognized the Basware 

Invoice Processing application and its 	

successful internationalization as the 2007 

ICT deed in Finland 

Basware chosen as an expert in Europe-wide •	

procurement infrastructure project (Pan 

European Public Procurement 	

On-line)

CEO 

The Board decides on the service terms and condi-

tions of the CEO, specified in writing. Currently the 

CEO has:

6 months’ period of notice and salary for the pe-••

riod of notice should the Company give notice, in 

addition to which he is entitled to severance pay 

equivalent of 12 months’ fixed salary,

6 months’ period of notice and salary for the pe-••

riod of notice should the person resign himself, 

no additional compensation is paid,

12-month prohibition of competition as of the ter-••

mination of the employment,

bonus based on performance is no more than 50 ••

percent of basic salary,

retirement age and pension benefits pursuant to ••

the Employees’ Pensions Act (TEL).

The CEO’s remuneration consists of salary in mon-

ey, fringe benefits, a possible annual bonus based 

on performance and of warrants. The CEO’s to-

tal salary, including benefits and bonuses, totaled 

EUR 162,687.09 in 2008. Salary in money was 

EUR 147,574.79 and fringe benefits totaled EUR 

151,121.30. The CEO was paid performance bonus for 

2007. In addition, the CEO was given 16,000 Series 

C warrants of the Basware 2007 warrant program 

during 2008. 

Executive Team 2008 

The Group’s Executive Team assists the CEO in the 

operative management of the Company, prepares 

matters handled by the Board and the CEO as well 

as plans and monitors the operations of the business 

units. The Executive Team convenes once a month. 

The CEO acts as chairman of the Executive Team. 

Members of the Executive Team in 2008 

were Ilkka Sihvo (CEO, Chairman), Mika Harjua-

ho (CFO), Olli Hyppänen (strategy and develop-

Corporate Governance

ment), Ulla Martola (HR&Dev), Steve Muddiman  

(global marketing), Matti Rusi (global sales), Jari 

Tavi (technology), Esa Tihilä (Europe), Odd Roar 

Trapnes (Scandinavia) and Jukka Virkkunen (Fin-

land). Steve Muddiman joined Basware on Septem-

ber 1, 2008. Matti Rusi resigned on February 2, 

2008 and Jari Tavi on October 30, 2008. 

The Executive Team’s remuneration consists of 

salary in money, fringe benefits, a possible annu-

al bonus based on performance and of warrants. 

The compensation principles of the Executive Team 

members are decided by the Board. A long-term in-

centive program for the top management was in-

troduced in 2005. Based on the program, warrants 

can be granted to the members of the top manage-

ment. In addition to the members of the Executive 

Team, some of the country managers of Basware’s 

business units are included in the program.

The members of the Executive Team, exclud-

ing the CEO, were paid a total of EUR 1,209,241.21 

in salaries, EUR 109,369.87 in fringe benefits and 

EUR 188,555.19 in bonuses based on performance 

in 2007.

Risk management 

Risk management at Basware is guided by legal 

requirements, business requirements set by the 

owners of the company as well as the expecta-

tions of the customers, personnel and other impor-

tant stakeholders. The goal of risk management is 

to systematically and extensively identify and ac-

knowledge the risks involved in the operations as 

well as to make sure that the risks are appropriately  

managed when making business decisions. The 

company’s risk management supports the attain-

ment of strategic goals and ensures the continuity 

of business operations. Basware takes risks that are 

a natural part of its strategy and objectives. The 

company is not ready to take risks that might en-

danger the continuity of operations or that are un-

controllable or that would significantly harm the 

company’s operations.  

In accordance with its strategy, Basware aims to 

supplement its organic growth with acquisitions. In 

realizing such projects, the company aims to follow 

due diligence and utilize its internal and external 

competence in the planning and implementation 

phases as well as when integrating acquired func-

tions with the company’s operations. Acquisitions 

may involve normal acquisition responsibilities and 

risks, and also other responsibilities and risks con-

nected with their nature and value.
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In accordance with the company’s risk management 

policy, risks are divided into six categories: risks re-

lated to business operations, products, personnel 

as well as legal, financial and data security risks. 

Each group has a designated person in charge. Risk 

management does not have a separate organiza-

tion within the Company but its responsibilities fol-

low the distribution of liability throughout the orga-

nization and operations.

In the process of risk management, the goal is 

to identify and evaluate the risks, after which a risk-

specific plan is drawn up and concrete action is tak-

en. Such actions may include, for example, avoiding 

the risk, diminishing the risk by different means or 

transferring the risk by insurance or agreements.  

The company has created a crisis communication 

plan as a part of its risk management process. 

In accordance with Basware’s risk management 

process, the Board of Directors receives an annual 

report of the most significant risks discovered dur-

ing the assessment of risks. The Board analyses the 

risks from the point of view of shareholder value. 

According to the reporting conforming to the 

risk management process, the most significant 

risks in 2008 are associated with the development 

of new business model, maintaining the company’s 

competitiveness in customer acquisition, ensuring 

product leadership and strengthening the position 

of immaterial property rights. Measures to manage 

these risks are underway.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND INTERNAL AUDIT

The ultimate responsibility for accounting and fi-

nancial administration lies with the Basware Corpo-

ration’s Board of Directors. The Board is responsi-

ble for internal control, and the CEO is responsible 

for the practical arrangements and monitoring of 

the control system. The steering and monitoring of 

business operations is based on the reporting and 

business planning system covering the entire Group. 

The CEO and CFO give both Board and Executive 

Team meetings presentations of the Group’s situa-

tion and development based on monthly reports.

The Company’s internal audits have been car-

ried out by the company’s own employees, aiming 

to ensure compliance with the harmonized admin-

istration and operating policies in different subsid-

iaries and business units. As of 2009, internal audit 

arrangements will be reorganized so that internal 

audit services will be acquired from an external and 

independent service supplier selected by the Board 

of Directors of Basware Corporation. The key prin-

ciples of internal audit will be described in internal 

audit guidelines and risk-based action plan for in-

ternal audit, approved by the Board.

Insider Administration

Basware’s insider guidelines comply with the NASDAQ  

OMX Helsinki Guidelines for Insiders effective as of 

January 1, 2006. The guidelines forbid insiders, in-

cluding persons under their guardianship and com-

panies where they exercise control, to trade in 

shares or option rights issued of the company for 

a period of four weeks prior to the publication of 

an interim report or a financial statements bulletin 

(the so-called closed window). By law, the Company 

public insiders include members of the Board, CEO, 

auditors and the auditor in charge of the compa-

ny of public accountants as well as Executive Team 

members responsible for the key business areas. In 

addition, the Company has a company-specific in-

sider register that includes those who regularly re-

ceive insider information in their daily work. If nec-

essary, the company also keeps project-specific 

insider registers. The Company lawyer is in charge 

of the guidance and supervision of insider issues, 

and the Communications Manager takes care of the 

register. The insider register of Basware Corpora-

tion is maintained by the Finnish Central Securities 

Depository Ltd. The insiders and their up-to-date 

shareholdings can also be seen on the company’s 

website.

External audit

The primary function of audit is to verify that the 

Financial Statements give accurate and adequate 

information about Basware Corporation’s result and 

financial position for the financial period. 

In addition, the Auditors report to the Board of 

Directors on the ongoing auditing of administration 

and operations. According to the Articles of Associ-

ation, Basware Corporation has a minimum of one 

and a maximum of two auditors appointed by the 

Annual General Meeting, at least one of which is a 

firm accredited by the Central Chamber of Com-

merce (Authorized Public Accountants). Additional-

ly, the company has a minimum of one and a max-

imum of two deputy auditors. The auditors are 

elected until further notice. The Board’s proposal 

for the auditor is disclosed in the notice of the Gen-

eral Meeting. 

In 2008, Basware’s auditor was Ernst & Young 

Oy, Authorized Public Accountants, with Heikki 

Ilkka, A.P.A., as the auditor in charge. Terhi Mäkinen, 

A.P.A., was the deputy auditor.  Expenditure on the 

actual audit amounted to EUR 62 thousand in 2008 

and on expert audit services to EUR 76 thousand.

Corporate Governance
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Basware’s growth is sustainable.
The financial objectives set for 2008 as a whole were achieved in 
terms of net sales in extremely challenging market conditions. 
Operating profit for the full year was record-high and was within 
the guidance.
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FINANCIAL YEAR 2008:

Net sales EUR 86,098 thousand (EUR 73,270 »»
thousand) – growth 17.5 percent

Operating profit EUR 8,679 thousand (EUR 7,512 »»
thousand) – growth 15.5 percent

Operating profit 10.1 percent of net sales (10.3%)»»
International operations accounted for 51.8 per-»»
cent of net sales (48.2%) – growth 26.2 percent

Backlog of SaaS orders not recognized as in-»»
come EUR 10,519 thousand (EUR 11,112 thousand) 

at the end of the period   

Earnings per share EUR 0.56 (EUR 0.36)»»
Dividend proposal for 2008: EUR 0.23 per share »»
(2007: EUR 0.15)

The Financial Statements have been prepared ac-

cording to International Financial Reporting Stand-

ards (IFRS).

REPORTING

Basware acquired Contempus AS from Affecto Plc 

on September 30, 2008. Contempus has been in-

cluded in the consolidated financial statements for 

October 1–December 31, 2008. The preliminary bal-

ance sheet of Contempus Group was included in 

the Basware’s Q3 consolidated balance sheet be-

cause the acquisition was confirmed on Septem-

ber 30, 2008. This interim report also presents un-

audited pro forma income statement data for net 

sales and operating profit for 2008 as comparison 

data. The figures have been calculated to illustrate 

what the Group’s net sales and operating profit for 

2008 would have been had the income statement 

data for Contempus been consolidated for the en-

tire period.

Basware’s primary reporting segment is based 

upon geography as follows: Finland, Scandinavia, 

Europe and North America.

Basware reports its Software as a Service (SaaS) 

revenue separately in the second segment. Soft-

ware as a Service revenue includes license, mainte-

nance and services revenue invoiced monthly based 

on an agreement. Software as a Service agree-

ments typically span several years. The Group also 

reports the backlog of SaaS orders not recognized 

as income. The Company’s SaaS sales are growing 

and this dilutes net sales growth in the short term.

As of January 1, 2008, the capital structure of 

Basware Corporation’s foreign subsidiaries has 

been changed to the extent that the majority of the 

long-outstanding intercompany trade receivables in 

the parent company have been converted to a long-

term net investment in a foreign operation. The 

purpose of the loan arrangement is to fund a long-

term strategic investment. Foreign currency gains 

and losses from a net investment in a foreign oper-

ation are recorded in a separate component of eq-

uity in the consolidated financial statements.

NET SALES

Basware Group’s net sales increased by 17.5 percent 

during the period (January–December) and were 

EUR 86,098 thousand (EUR 73,270 thousand). With 

comparable currency exchange rates, net sales in-

creased by 20.1 percent in 2008. Pro forma net 

sales for the financial period would have been EUR 

93,300 thousand had the Contempus net sales 

been consolidated for the entire period.

The Company’s product sales decreased by 0.8 

percent during the period to 27.7 percent (32.8%) 

of net sales. Due to an adjustment of revenue rec-

ognition principles for product sales, some of the 

agreements signed at the end of 2006 were rec-

ognized in the first quarter of 2007. The value of 

these agreements amounts to over EUR 3 million. 

The growth of product sales without these compo-

nents would have been 15.5 percent.

Maintenance revenue and support services relat-

ed to maintenance increased by 13.1 percent in the 

period and accounted for 29.0 percent (30.1%) of 

net sales. Consulting and services revenue grew by 

37.1 percent and accounted for 41.3 percent (35.4%) 

of net sales. SaaS sales increased by 41.5 percent 

in the period and accounted for 2.0 percent (1.7%) 

of net sales. The backlog of SaaS orders not rec-

ognized as income was EUR 10,519 thousand (EUR 

11,112 thousand) at the end of the period. 

Value added resellers provided a net share of 

16.3 percent (14.9%) or EUR 3,901 thousand of 

product sales in the financial period, corresponding 

to 8.7 percent (10.1%) of international operations’ 

total net sales.

International operations accounted for 51.8 per-

cent (48.2%) of Basware’s net sales for the period, 

increasing by 26.2 percent. 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Basware’s operating profit for the period increased 

by 15.5 percent to EUR 8,679 thousand (EUR 7,512 

thousand). Operating profit represented 10.1 per-

cent (10.3%) of net sales. Excluding one-off items, 

operating profit for 2008 grew by 25.3 percent and 

amounted to EUR 9,415 thousand, or 10.9 percent 

of net sales. Pro forma operating profit for the fi-

nancial period would have been EUR 8,897 thou-

sand had the Contempus operating profit sales 

been consolidated for the entire period. 

The Company’s fixed costs were EUR 69,900 thou-

sand (EUR 59,543 thousand) in the period, up 17.4 

percent on the corresponding period the previous 

year. Personnel costs made up 72.1 percent (68.2%) 

or EUR 50,399 thousand (EUR 40,600 thousand) of 

the fixed costs. The increase in personnel costs aris-

ing form the Contempus acquisition totaled EUR 

1,745 thousand. Bad debt and movement in bad debt 

accruals are included in fixed costs. Bad debt reser-

vations at the end of the fourth quarter amounted to 

EUR 845 thousand (EUR 789 thousand).  

Basware’s consolidated financial statements in-

clude one-off costs of EUR 736 thousand associat-

ed with the integration of Contempus. They consist 

of benefits paid in connection with terminating em-

ployment relationships (EUR 504 thousand), expert 

fees (EUR 48 thousand) and costs resulting from 

the adoption of shared infrastructure and premises 

(EUR 185 thousand).  

Research and development costs totaled EUR  

15,518 thousand (EUR 13,172 thousand), of which EUR 

2,739 thousand (EUR 3,061 thousand) or 17.6 percent 

(23.2%) were capitalized during the period. Amorti-

zation of capitalized research and development costs 

totaled EUR 1,183 thousand (EUR 983 thousand). Re-

search and development costs equaled 18.0 percent 

(18.0%) of net sales. The costs increased 17.8 per-

cent (20.6%) during the financial year.

Board of Directors’ Report 1.1.2008–31.12.2008
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The Company’s finance income and finance expens-

es were EUR –269 thousand (EUR 191 thousand). The 

Company’s profit before tax was EUR 8,410 thousand 

(EUR 7,704 thousand). Taxes for the period totaled 

EUR 1,825 thousand (EUR 3,591 thousand). Profit for 

the period was 7.6 percent (5.6%) of net sales, or 

EUR 6,585 thousand (EUR 4,112 thousand). Undilut-

ed earnings per share were EUR 0.56 (EUR 0.36).

FINANCE AND INVESTMENTS

Basware Group’s total assets on the balance sheet 

at the end of the financial period were EUR 81,909 

thousand (EUR 67,722 thousand). The Company’s 

cash and liquid assets were EUR 8,777 thousand 

(EUR 7,041 thousand), of which cash and cash equiv-

alents were EUR 8,745 thousand (EUR 7,010 thou-

sand) and financial assets at fair value through prof-

it or loss were EUR 31 thousand (EUR 31 thousand).  

During the period under review, the Compa-

ny withdrew a 3-year loan of EUR 10.7 million to fi-

nance the acquisition of Contempus AS. The loan is 

hedged by a 2-year interest cap agreement, setting 

a cap of 5.4% for the base rate of interest.

Cash flow from operating activities was EUR 8,331 

thousand (EUR 4,387 thousand). Cash flow from in-

vestments was EUR –12,303 thousand (EUR –7,969 

thousand).

Equity ratio was 59.5 percent (70.0%) and gear-

ing was 9.3 percent (–5.7%). The Company’s inter-

est-bearing liabilities totaled EUR 13,283 thousand 

(EUR 4,334 thousand), of which current liabili-

ties accounted for EUR 5,555 thousand (EUR 4,314 

thousand). Return on investment was 16.6 percent 

and return on equity 13.7 percent. 

The acquisition price of Contempus AS was NOK 

83.6 million (approximately EUR 10.1 million at the ex-

change rate on the date of the acquisition). In the fi-

nancial statements, EUR 3,758 thousand associated 

with customer relationships and products has been 

allocated to intangible assets, taking deferred tax li-

abilities into consideration. The purchase price in-

cludes EUR 4,264 thousand of goodwill. The alloca-

tion of the acquisition purchase price is preliminary. 

The Company’s capital expenditure, resulting 

from regular additional and replacement invest-

ments required for growth, was EUR 1,007 thou-

sand (EUR 817 thousand) in the period. Gross in-

vestments which include, in addition to those 

mentioned above, the capitalized research and de-

velopment costs and acquisitions (Contempus) to-

taled EUR 12,476 thousand (EUR 12,220 thousand).  

Impairment tests indicate no impairments of as-

sets. Amortization of intangible assets totaled EUR 

2,398 thousand (EUR 2,050 thousand), of which 

amortization associated with business acquisitions 

amounted to EUR 993 thousand (EUR 712 thou-

sand).

RESEARCH, DEVELOPMENT AND NEW 

PRODUCTS

Research and development costs were EUR 15,518 

thousand (EUR 13,172 thousand) in the period, cor-

responding to 18.0 percent (18.0%) of net sales. Re-

search and development costs increased by 17.8 

percent (20.6%) compared with the same period 

last year. Of the research and development costs, 

EUR 2,739 thousand (EUR 3,061 thousand) or 17.6 

percent (23.2%) were capitalized during the peri-

od. Amortization of capitalized research and devel-

opment costs totaled EUR 1,183 thousand (EUR 983 

thousand).  

A total of 171 (152) people worked in Software 

Production at the end of 2008. The Software Pro-

duction unit is expanding in India, where there are 

currently 26 employees.  

In 2008, Basware introduced two significant new 

products: the RFx Management sourcing solution 

and Basware Contract Lifecycle Management so-

lution piloted in 2007. In addition, Basware piloted 

its Supplier Portal, which supplements the procure-

ment offering. 

In 2008, Basware tightened its customer coop-

eration in product development even further by 

changing product development work with custom-

ers from individual projects to a continuous oper-

ating model. Therefore, the customer is central 

throughout the product development process from 

beginning to end.

In the longer term, changes in the industry that 

will have an effect on Basware’s product develop-

ment include the increasing popularity of the Soft-

ware as a Service model. Software as a Service 

(SaaS) increases the probability of successful soft-

ware acquisitions by centralizing technological 

competence in a single place, and it highlights the 

idea of selling the best practices – something that 

Basware already cherishes.

PERSONNEL

Basware employed 689 (580) people on average 

and 731 (658) people at the end of the period. The 

number of personnel increased by 73 persons and by 

11.1 percent compared with the same period the pre-

vious year. As a result of the Contempus acquisition, 

the number of personnel increased by 41 people.

The share of personnel working in foreign units 

has increased compared with the previous year. 

At the end of the period, 46.1 percent (40.9%) of 

Basware personnel worked outside of Finland and 

53.9 percent (59.1%) in Finland. 18.9 percent of the 

personnel work in sales and marketing, 48.7 in con-

sulting and services, 23.4 percent in Software Pro-

duction, and 9.0 percent in administration. 

The average age of employees is 35.9 (35.6) 

years. Of the employees, 34.1 percent have a Mas-

ter’s degree and 44.0 percent have a Bachelor’s de-

gree. Women account for 27.5 percent of employ-

ees, men for 72.5 percent. 

For incentive purposes, the Company has a bo-

nus program that covers all employees. During the 

financial period, the Company also had two out-

standing warrant programs, one for the manage-

ment and the other for the Group’s key personnel.

BUSINESS OPERATIONS

Finland

The Finland segment includes operations in Finland, 

Russia, Asia, Australia and the Financial Management 

business. The company has branches in India and 

Singapore and a representative office in Russia. Net 

sales for the financial period increased by 1.4 percent 

to EUR 49,517 thousand (EUR 48,849 thousand). 

Net sales of the Finnish Enterprise Purchase 

to Pay unit increased by 10.6 percent in 2008. Net 

sales of the Financial Management operations 
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(Basware FIMA Oy) increased by 3.9 percent and ac-

counted for 10.2 percent (11.5%) of Basware Group’s 

business operations. 

A total of approximately 8.3 million invoices 

were transmitted through the Einvoicing service of 

Basware Einvoices Oy in 2008. The invoice volume 

increased by approximately 21.1 percent during the 

year compared with the same previous year. A to-

tal of 133 new customer agreements were signed in 

2008. Of the agreements, 29.0 percent were inter-

national agreements.

The Enterprise Purchase to Pay and Financial 

Management solutions are sold in Russia. Current-

ly there are 5 resellers in the area.  

There are 6 resellers in the Asia Pacific region. 

New customers in 2008 included ABB in Japan, 

Malaysian Airlines, UnitingCare Health, Challenger 

Group Services, Bureau VERITAS, Datacom, Flinders 

University, BGC Contracting Pty Ltd, Flight Centre 

Ltd, and Svitzer Australia Pty Ltd.

In the Finland segment, new customers during 

the reporting period included A-Lehdet Oy, Gasum 

Oy, Konecranes Plc, Suomen Liikunta ja Urheilu 

(SLU), Tampereen Messut, Rautaruukki Oyj, Finpro 

ry, CPS Color Oy, American Express Service Europe, 

NCC Group, Sesca Group, Thermo Fisher, Skanska Oy, 

Backman-Trummer Oy Ab, AS Paulig Baltic, Viking 

Line Abp, Sisu Diesel Oy, Oy HYY-Yhtiöt AB, Toyota 

Motor Finland Oy, Tampereen seurakuntayhtymä, 

Tschelkovskiy Vitami and Stockmann ZAO.

There are currently 17 resellers in all in the area 

and the number of personnel averaged 421 (367). 

Scandinavia   

Basware’s Nordic organization consists of a cen-

trally directed Scandinavian (Sweden, Denmark and 

Norway) unit. All the Basware Enterprise Purchase 

to Pay and Financial Management products are sold 

in the Nordic countries, apart from the payment so-

lutions which are currently sold only in Finland. 

Net sales of the area increased by 12.0 percent 

in the financial period EUR 18,805 thousand (EUR 

16,797 thousand). The profitability of the operations 

improved by 205.6 percent and operating profit was 

EUR 1,017 thousand (EUR 333 thousand). One-off 

items associated with Contempus acquisition totaled 

EUR 716 thousand. Operating profit excluding one-

off items totaled EUR 1,733 thousand. 

New customers include SKTF, HSB Umeå, Vil-

la Organic, GS-Hydro Norge AS, Terra Gruppen AS, 

Apokjeden AS, G4S Security Systems AS, Tollpost, 

ODIM AS, Sandefjord Kommune, Storebrand Livs-

forsikring AS, Tamro AB, NORDUnet A/S, Scandic 

Hotels AB, and Norstedts Juridik AB.

 Business operations are mainly handled by the 

own organization and there were 112 (96) employ-

ees on average in the area.

Europe 

Basware’s European business operations consist 

of the units in Germany, France, The Netherlands, 

United Kingdom and Southern Europe. Additional-

ly, the reseller network covers the eastern part of 

Central Europe. All Enterprise Purchase to Pay so-

lutions are sold in Europe, apart from the payment 

and travel & expense management solutions. 

Net sales in the Europe segment increased by 

29.0 percent to EUR 19,454 thousand (EUR 15,081 

thousand). The profitability of the operations im-

proved by 98.0 percent and operating profit was 

EUR –74 thousand (EUR –3,662 thousand). 

The UK data capture operations developed ac-

cording to plan and were profitable.

New customers included Nutrixo, Romande En-

ergie, Societe de Figaro in France, PowerPacker in 

the Netherlands, Pension Regulator, Signet in the 

UK, Europe Arab Bank, Transavia.com, AkzoNobel 

Functional Chemicals, Ballast Nedam 4th environ-

men Axapta, Ovako Steel, Rentokil Initial, Norsk Aller 

AS, Nor-Lines, Sector Alarm, AKVA Group, Hertel, 

ENCI, ERAM, Prinovis Liverpool Ltd, Barmenia, Au-

toliv, Friesland Hungaria zRt., Contitrade Ireland, and 

CHEP.

There are 35 resellers in Europe, and the number 

of Basware personnel was 129 (93) at year’s end. 

North America 

Basware’s North American unit sells the Enterprise 

Purchase to Pay solutions in the United States and 

Canada. 

Net sales of the area for the financial year increased 

by 44.6 percent and totaled EUR 5,004 thousand 

(EUR 3,460 thousand). The profitability of the oper-

ations improved by 116.5 percent and operating prof-

it was EUR 289 thousand (EUR –1,751 thousand). 

New customers include Allied Tube & Conduit 

Corporation, Howard Hughes Medical Institute, Pro-

tection One Alarm Monitoring Inc., Allied Building 

Products, ING Direct in Canada, Natixis, and Gener-

al Growth Properties.

There were 10 resellers in North America at the 

end of the period. On average, there were 26 (25) 

employees in the area.

OTHER EVENTS OF THE FINANCIAL PERIOD

Basware established a representative office in Mos-

cow at the beginning of 2008. 

Basware Corporation was one of Forrester’s choic-

es in the Forrester Wave survey (Forrester Wave™: 

AP- EIPP, Q2/2008) published on June 18. The sur-

vey report consists of three parts: strategy, cur-

rent product offering and market position. Accord-

ing to the survey, Basware received highest score in 

all these areas, and according to the report, Basware 

has the highest market share, best functionality and 

a solid vision. The results of the survey reflect the 

company’s success in combining solid strategic out-

look with a functional product offering.  

In fall 2008, Forrester Research’s market analy-

sis (Forrester Research: Holistic View:The ePurchas-

ing Software Market,by Andrew Bartels, September 

9,2008) of more than 100 companies in the indus-

try found that Basware was among the five largest 

suppliers of electronic procurement solutions in the 

world. According to the same report, the electronic 

procurement solution market is growing, and there 

is demand for electronic solutions that cover the 

entire procurement process and closer new supplier 

integrations in large companies.

The Basware Executive Team has expanded as 

a result of organizational changes in the Software 

Production unit. Pekka Rehn has been appointed as 

the head of the new Products unit. Olli Hyppänen, 

former head of the Software Production unit, was 

appointed as Senior Vice President, Strategy and 
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Development, to lead the new Strategy and Devel-

opment unit that was founded on October 1. 

Additionally, Steve Muddiman has been appoint-

ed as Senior Vice President, Global Marketing. Ari 

Salonen took up his post as General Manager, North 

America for Basware’s North American operations 

on September 1, 2008.

SHARE AND SHAREHOLDERS

Basware Corporation’s share capital totaled EUR 

3,440,437.20 at the end of the period and the 

number of shares was 11,468,124. 

Share price and trade

During the reporting period, the highest price of the 

share was EUR 10.45 (EUR 14.00), the lowest was 

EUR 6.00 (EUR 9.50) and the closing price was EUR 

6.59 (EUR 10.00). The average price of the share was 

EUR 7.53 (EUR 12.03) during the period. 

A total of 2,298,467 (2,761,995) shares were 

traded during the financial period which is the 

equivalent of 20.1 percent (24.1%) of the average 

number of shares. Market capitalization with the pe-

riod’s closing price on December 31, 2008 was EUR 

75,301,011 (EUR 114,681,240).

Shareholders

Basware had 17,120 (17,301) shareholders on Decem-

ber 31 including nominee-registered holdings (8). 

Nominee-registered holdings accounted for 9.1 per-

cent of the total number of shares.

The company received one notice of change in 

ownership during the financial period when Baillie 

Gifford Overseas Limited’s and Baillie Gifford & Co’s 

holding in Basware Corporation decreased to be be-

low 5% on April 3, 2008.

GOVERNANCE

The Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on 

February 14, 2008, confirmed the number of Board 

members as five. The Annual General Meeting re-

solved to agree on the proposal and elected Mat-

ti Copeland, Sakari Perttunen, Ossi Pohjola, Ilk-

ka Toivola and Hannu Vaajoensuu members of the 

Board of Directors.

The Annual General Meeting further resolved to 

elect Ernst & Young Oy, Authorized Public Accoun

tants as the auditor, with APA Heikki Ilkka in charge 

and APA Terhi Mäkinen as the deputy auditor. 

The Board was authorized to resolve on share 

issue and share repurchase.

A separate stock exchange release has been is-

sued on the Board authorizations and other resolu-

tions of the Annual General Meeting of Sharehold-

ers on February 14, 2008.

Share repurchase

The Board of Directors of Basware Corporation de-

cided to start share repurchase during the report-

ing period. A maximum of 400,000 shares will be 

purchased, corresponding to approximately 3.49 

percent of all shares in the Company. The decision 

is based on the authorization granted by the Annu-

al General Meeting of Basware Corporation on Feb-

ruary 14, 2008, on the repurchase of a maximum 

of 1,146,812 shares. Share repurchase will end on 

March 31, 2009 at the latest. Non-restricted equity 

will be used for acquiring the shares, so the acquisi-

tions will decrease the Company’s distributable as-

sets. The shares will be purchased in public trading 

on NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd in compliance with 

the rules and guidelines of NASDAQ OMX Helsinki 

Ltd and Finnish Central Securities Depository Ltd. 

concerning share repurchases.

At the end of 2008, 41,567 shares had been ac-

quired. 

Decrease of Share Premium

The AGM authorized the company’s share premi-

um to be decreased by EUR 33,057,787.45 for the 

purpose of transferring the decreased amount to 

the company’s invested non-restricted equity. The 

decrease has been carried out in accordance with 

the resolution of the National Board of Patents and 

Registration of Finland on June 24, 2008.

SHORT-TERM RISKS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

In accordance with Basware’s risk management pol-

icy, risks are divided into six categories: risks relat-

ed to business operations, products, personnel as 

well as legal, financial and data security risks. Bas-

ware takes risks that are a natural part of its strat-

egy and objectives. These risks are managed and 

decreased in various ways. Short-term risks are 

considered to be risks in the current reporting 

year.

The global crisis of the finance market, gener-

al economic uncertainty and depression decrease 

companies’ willingness to invest, which might have 

an unfavorable impact on the development of the 

company’s net sales and profitability. In previous 

economic downturns, the demand for the Com-

pany’s products and services has remained more 

positive than the general economic market as a 

whole as the company’s software solutions gener-

ate cost savings. The rapidly weakened global mar-

ket situation does however cause uncertainty. 

The Group’s main currency is euro, accounting 

for approximately 67 percent of net sales in 2008 

(approximately 66% in 2007). The Company did 

not realize hedging for exchange rate fluctuations 

during the financial year as the impact of currency 

risks on the Company’s net sales and result were 

not considered significant. The significance of ex-

change rate fluctuations between the euro and 

other currencies will increase hand in hand with 

the share of international operations. The Group’s 

exchange rate hedging principles will be defined 

during the first quarter of 2009 as a part of the 

leading principles of finance policy approved by 

the Board.

Goodwill has been tested during the last quar-

ter of 2008. In accordance with the testing for im-

pairment of assets, no depreciation of goodwill 

was made. At the end of 2008, Basware UK imple-

mented a rationalization program and reorganiza-

tion of operations, facilitating profitable growth 

in the unit. If the unit’s profitability does not im-

proved as planned in the medium term despite the 

streamlining program, it is likely that the goodwill 

allocated to the unit will need to be impaired. 

In other respects, no significant changes have 

taken place in Basware’s short-term risks and un-

certainties during the financial period.
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ACQUISITIONS AND CHANGES IN GROUP 

STRUCTURE

Basware acquired the entire share capital of Con-

tempus AS from Affecto. The acquisition price was 

NOK 83.6 million (approximately EUR 10.1 million, 

exchange rate EUR/NOK 8.27). Contempus was 

part of Affecto’s operations in Norway and produc-

es software solutions for procurement, invoice and 

document management. 

The acquisition strengthens Basware’s market 

position in Norway, Sweden and the UK as well as 

brings valuable expertise to Basware to improve 

competitiveness. In addition, Basware can extend 

its distribution channel through existing Contem-

pus’ sales channel in the United States and Benelux 

countries. Synergy benefits can be reached by uni-

fying the business operations as well as by adopt-

ing common infrastructure and offices in Oslo, 

Stockholm and Manchester. 

The cost savings will materialize starting from 

the beginning of 2009 and they will be approxi-

mately EUR 3 million by the end of 2009. Basware’s 

consolidated financial statements for 2008 include 

one-off costs of EUR 736 thousand associated with 

the integration of Contempus. The financial figures 

of Contempus have been integrated into Basware 

for October 1 – December 31, 2008, and the profit of 

Contempus for the fourth quarter of 2008 is slight-

ly positive before one-off-items.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL 

RESPONSIBILITY

Basware’s software products reduce paper con-

sumption in thousands of offices around the world, 

leading the customer companies toward the paper-

less office, which saves both the environment and 

money. Profitability and financial stability are an 

integral part of Basware’s responsibility. Stability 

and trustworthiness yield added value to all stake-

holders. 

Basware’s head office in Espoo has held a Green 

Office certificate issued by the World Wildlife Fund 

since 2003. The prerequisites for being issued the 

certificate include a standing environmental pro-

gram, waste sorting and recycling, reduction of car-

bon dioxide emissions and endeavors to constantly 

improve environmental issues.

Cooperation with the Plan Finland charity foun-

dation has continued since 2002. Basware has 14 

sponsored children in developing countries, and 

the company wants to build a better future for their 

communities. The Art of Basware is an annual com-

petition for young visual artists, intended to support 

and encourage them to develop their skills. 

STRATEGY     

Basware adopts updated strategy for the years 

2009–2012. The long term net sales growth objec-

tive remains in the range of 20–40 percent with op-

erating profit margin of 10–20 percent of net sales.

Basware will launch new EPP (Enterprise Purchase 

to Pay) Automation Services offering during 2009 to 

target Software as a Service (SaaS) application space 

and services market. The SaaS market is predicted to 

see a remarkably higher growth than the software li-

cense market in the business application space.

Due to the changed market situation, Basware 

updated its strategy projects for 2009 by replacing 

two projects with new strategy projects better suit-

ed to the current situation. The Dominating the US 

and Joint Forces projects will advance as a part of 

daily business operations. Instead of them, Basware 

will outlay on world-class product development and 

even tighter networking with customers in 2009.

Updated strategy projects:

Must-have brand and thought leadership 

Basware will invest considerably in strengthening its 

awareness and brand in its strategic market areas.

Five global giants per year 

Basware will pursue rapid and profitable growth in 

cooperation with internationally-operating corpora-

tions.

Conquer the base

Basware will continue growth in mature markets, 

improving customer satisfaction with the help of a 

comprehensive service concept. 

World-class product development

Basware wants to be a global trailblazer, continuous-

ly responding to its customers’ changing needs with 

first-class products. Product development takes 

place in cooperation with Basware’s customers and 

partners, taking the comments of industry analysts 

into consideration. The company’s product develop-

ment is able to respond and quickly adapt to chang-

ing product development requirements. The func-

tioning and quality of product development will be 

developed further.

Mastering Extended EPP Automation

Basware will tighten its cooperation with custom-

ers by developing various distribution and network 

models for increasingly efficient distribution, sup-

port and updating of products. The company will 

particularly pay attention to making the service per-

spective an established part of tight-knit product 

development cooperation.

MANAGEMENT AND AUDITORS

In 2008, Ilkka Sihvo acted as the CEO of the Com-

pany. The CEO is in charge of the day-to-day man-

agement of the Company in accordance with the 

instructions and orders given by the Board. The An-

nual General Meeting of Shareholders on February 

14, 2008, confirmed the number of Board members 

as five. Matti Copeland, Sakari Perttunen, Ossi Poh-

jola, Ilkka Toivola and Hannu Vaajoensuu were elect-

ed to the Board. In its first meeting, the Board elect-

ed Hannu Vaajoensuu as Chairman of the Board and 

Sakari Perttunen as Vice Chairman. 

The Annual General Meeting further resolved to 

elect Ernst & Young Oy, Authorized Public Accoun

tants as the auditor, with APA Heikki Ilkka in charge 

and APA Terhi Mäkinen as the deputy auditor. 

EVENTS AFTER THE FINANCIAL PERIOD

The Company’s organization has been adjusted to 

match market changes, and a new unit, Enterprise 

Purchase to Pay (EPP) Automation Services, headed 

by Riku Roos, has been established. The EPP Automa-

tion Services unit includes the subsidiary Basware Ein-

voices as well as the Software as a Service functions. 
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The Finnish business unit, Basware’s subsidiary 

FIMA, and the Russian operations have been merged 

into a business unit called NorthEast, headed by 

Jukka Virkkunen, currently the head of the Finnish 

business unit.

As of January 1, 2009, members of the Basware 

Executive Team are Ilkka Sihvo, CEO; Mika Harjua-

ho, CFO; Olli Hyppänen, Senior Vice President, Strat-

egy and Development; Steve Muddiman, Senior 

Vice President, Global Marketing; Pekka Rehn, Sen-

ior Vice President, Products; Esa Tihilä, Senior Vice 

President, Global Operations; Odd Roar Trapnes, 

Senior Vice President Scandinavia; and Jukka 

Virkkunen, Senior Vice President NorthEast. 

As of 2009 the duties of Hannu Vaajoensuu, the 

Chairman of the Board, were redefined. In addition 

to chairman’s standard duties  Hannu Vaajoens-

uu will continue as a member of the M&A Team and 

have an advisory role in major M&A projects. He will 

also carry out networking and industry influencer 

activities.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

General economic uncertainty has increased consid-

erably. Basware solutions generate cost savings and 

therefore the demand is not heavily dependent on 

the economic situation.

Market forecasts published in January 2009, ex-

pect the entire IT market to decrease in 2009 (–3%), 

while the software market remains unchanged 

(+0%). However, the invoice automation and Enter-

prise Purchase to Pay markets are forecast to grow 

moderately, beating the overall IT market by approx-

imately 6 to 8 percentage units (3–5%).

Western Europe and the United States combined 

account for approximately three quarters of the en-

terprise software market. In these markets, elec-

tronic invoice processing and procurement solutions 

are still in their infancy. The procurement manage-

ment and electronic invoice processing markets are 

heterogeneous in terms of the competitive situa-

tion. Growth could attract more competitors to the 

market. The industry is consolidating, and this de-

velopment could go on in the future as well. Globally 

speaking, Basware is a medium-sized software com-

pany in terms of net sales as well as number of per-

sonnel.

Basware’s direct competitors are mainly local-

ly operating and often smaller companies. In North 

America in particular, the company has also larg-

er competitors, especially in the field of procure-

ment management. Developers of document man-

agement, scanning and recycling systems compete 

with Basware, particularly with regard to purchase 

invoice management solutions. Competing solutions 

also include customized solutions integrated into 

ERP (Enterprise Resource Planning) systems. 

The software products still offer a competitive 

edge, thanks to the integrated offering consisting of 

new added value products and the products. Auto-

mation services, a new concept in the portfolio, will 

have a positive impact on the competitiveness.

EPP Automation Services will bring more pre-

dictability and transparency over Basware’s revenue 

stream and profitability development. In 2008, reve-

nue from continuous services (including maintenance) 

accounted for approximately a third of the total reve-

nue. Basware predicts that EPP Automation Services 

revenue will increase significantly in the strategy pe-

riod. More detailed business targets for EPP Automa-

tion Services will be released by the end of 2009.

The Company’s international growth is based on 

efforts of its own sales and marketing activity as 

well as the reseller channel. Development of the in-

direct distribution channel continues in Europe, Rus-

sia and Asia. In North America, the focus will be on 

developing the Company’s own sales channel for the 

time being. In Scandinavia, the focus is on profitabil-

ity, and moderate growth is supported by the Com-

pany’s expanded product portfolio and the develop-

ment of the service business. In Finland, the focus 

is on profitability, and moderate growth will primari-

ly be achieved from the fields of procurement man-

agement and services.

Of the Company’s EUR 10,519 thousand backlog 

of SaaS orders, approximately EUR 1 million will be 

recognized as income in 2009.

Basware has complemented its organic growth 

with acquisitions. The Company will continue to re-

view possible acquisition targets during 2009. The 

aim of the acquisitions is to expand the Company’s 

distribution channel and product portfolio in inter-

national markets.

The Group will increase its number of person-

nel mainly in India during the first quarter. Research 

and development costs are expected to increase 

more moderately compared with the level of 2008. 

Additional investments required by growth will not 

begin until during the second quarter, provided that 

net sales for the first quarter have realized in ac-

cordance with expectations. 

The cost savings resulting from the synergy ben-

efits of the Contempus integration will materialize 

starting from the beginning of 2009 and they will 

be approximately EUR 3 million by the end of 2009. 

The values associated with customer relationships 

and product –related are amortized over 4.25 years, 

the straight-line depreciations are about 1 million for 

year 2009.

Basware expects its net sales to develop positively 

on the level of 2008. Operating profit (EBIT) for 2009 

is expected to be from 10 to 15 percent of net sales. 

BOARD’S DIVIDEND PROPOSAL

Basware is a growth company that aims at increased 

market capitalization and moderate dividend yield. 

When preparing the dividend proposal, the Board 

considers the Company’s financial position, profita-

bility and prospects in the near future.

At the end of 2008, the Group parent company’s 

distributable funds are EUR 57,375,196.00. 

Basware’s Board of Directors proposes to the An-

nual General Meeting that a dividend of EUR 0.23 

per share (2007: EUR 0.15) be paid for 2008.

Espoo, Finland, January 21, 2009

Board of Directors

Hannu Vaajoensuu, Chairman of the Board

Sakari Perttunen

Matti Copeland

Ossi Pohjola

Ilkka Toivola

Ilkka Sihvo, CEO
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The geographical division of net sales by the location of assets (primary segment): 

NET SALES 
(EUR thousand) 10–12/2008 10–12/2007 Change, % 1–12/2008 1–12/2007 Change, %

Finland 15,329 14,278  7.4 49,517 48,849  1.4
Scandinavia 6,627 5,782  14.6 18,805 16,797 12.0
Europe 5,264 5,652 –6.9 19,454 15,081 29.0
North America 1,311 1,030  27.3 5,004 3,460 44.6
Sales between segments –2,238 –3,554 37.0 –6,682 –10,917 38.8
Group total 26,294 23,187  13.4 86,098 73,270  17.5

The geographical division of net sales by the location of customers:

NET SALES 
(EUR thousand) 10–12/2008 10–12/2007 Change, % 1–12/2008 1–12/2007 Change, %

Finland 12,769 10,851  17.7 41,514 37,969  9.3
Scandinavia 6,411 5,549  15.5 18,309 15,911  15.1
Europe 5,143 5,422 –5.1 19,191 14,785  29.8
North America 1,971 1,366 44.3 7,083 4,604 53.8
Group total 26,294 23,187  13.4 86,098 73,270  17.5



43Financial Statements 2008 Annual Report 2008

The geographical division of net sales by the location of assets (primary segment):

Operating profit
(EUR thousand) 10–12/2008 10–12/2007 Change, % 1–12/2008 1–12/2007 Change, %

Finland 4,385 2,335 87.8 7,898 12,706 –37.8 
Scandinavia –21 873 –102.4 1,017 333 205.6 
Europe –48 –1,078 95.5 -74 –3,662 98.0 
North America 118 –160 174.0 289 –1,751 116.5 
Operating profit between segments –312 –47 –565.8 –452 –114 –295.7 
Group total 4,122 1,924 114.2 8,679 7,512  15.5

Geographical distribution of personnel (primary segment): 

Personnel 
(Employed, on average) 10–12/2008 10–12/2007 Change, % 1–12/2008 1–12/2007 Change, %

Finland 426 383  11.2 421 367  14.9
Scandinavia 146 98 49.3 112 96  16.8
Europe 127 142 –10.3 129 93 38.9
North America 29 28  3.6 26 25  5.7
Group total 729 651  11.9 689 580  18.7
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 Group Income Statement
1.1.–31.12.2008 (IFRS)

EUR thousand Notes 1.1.–31.12.2008 1.1.–31.12.2007 Change, %

NET SALES 2, 3 86,098 73,270 17.5

Other operating income 5 250 834 –70.0
Materials and services 6 –4,726 –4,459 6.0
Employee benefits expenses 7 –50,399 –40,600 24.1
Depreciation and amortization –3,043 –2,590 17.5
Other operating expenses 8 –19,500 –18,943 2.9
Operating profit 8,679 7,512 15.5

Finance income 9 734 344 113.6
Finance expenses 9 –1,003 –152 559.2
Profit before tax 8,410 7,704 9.2

Income tax expense 10 –1,825 –3,591 –49.2
PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 6,585 4,112 60.1

NET PROFIT/LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE
To equity holders of the parent 6,467 4,092
To minority interest 118 20

6,585 4,112

Earnings per share (basic), EUR 11 0.56 0.36 58.1
Earnings per share (diluted), EUR 11 0.56 0.36 58.1
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 Group Balance Sheet
31.12.2008 (IFRS)

EUR thousand Notes 31.12.2008 31.12.2007 Change, %

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Intangible assets 12 17,022 12,210 39.4
Goodwill 12 29,212 25,702 13.7
Tangible assets 13 991 1,009 –1.8
Available-for-sale investments 14 38 38 0
Trade and other receivables 15 536 12 4,305.1
Deferred tax assets 20 2,208 2,489 –11.3
Non-current assets 50,006 41,460 20.6

Current assets
Inventories 16 48 42 15.1
Trade and other receivables 17 20,737 18,704 10.9
Income tax receivables 17 2,341 476 392.2
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 18 31 31 0.7
Cash and cash equivalents 19 8,745 7,010 24.8
Current assets 31,902 26,263 21.5

ASSETS 81,909 67,722 20.9

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Shareholder's equity
Share capital 23 3,440 3,440
Share premium account 23 69 33,127 –99.8
Own shares 23 –271 0 100
Fair value fund 23 33,598 540 6,121.4
Translation differences –3,991 392 –1,118.4
Retained earnings 15,648 9,765 60.2
Parent company’s shareholders’ equity 48,493 47,265 2.6
Minority interest 224 148 51.6
Shareholder's equity 48,717 47,413 2.8

Non-current liabilities 
Deferred tax liability 20 2,307 1,643 40.4
Interest-bearing liabilities 24, 25 7,729 20 39,047.5
Non-current liabilities 10,036 1,663 503.4

Current liabilities
Interest-bearing liabilities 24, 25 5,555 4,314 28.8
Trade payables and other liabilities 24 16,683 14,000 19.2
Tax liability from income tax 24 918 333 175.9
Current liabilities 23,156 18,647 24.2

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 81,909 67,722 20.9
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 Group Cash Flow Statement
1.1.–31.12.2008 (IFRS)

EUR thousand 1.1.–31.12.2008 1.1.–31.12.2007

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit for the period 6,585 4,112
Adjustments for profit

Employee benefits 142 204
Depreciation and amortization 3,043 2,590
Finance income and expenses 269 –158
Unrealized profits and losses 0 –127
Income taxes 1,825 3,591
Other adjustments -36 0

Total adjustments for profit 5,243 5,732

Working capital changes
Increase (-) / decrease (+) in inventories –6 5
Increase (-) / decrease (+) in short term non-interest bearing receivables –1,427 –4,316
Increase (+) / decrease (-) in short term non-interest bearing liabilities 1,558 2,499

Total working capital change 125 –1,812

Interest paid –291 –124
Interest received 154 287
Other financial items in operating activities –38 –7
Income taxes paid –3,447 –3,801
Net cash from operating activities 8,331 4,387

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of tangible and intangible assets –3,631 –2,869
Proceeds from sale of tangible and intangible assets 47 48
Acquisitions of subsidiaries –8,728 –8,180
Proceeds from other investments 0 3,013
Repayments of loan receivables 9 20
Net cash used in investing activities –12,303 –7,969

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Minority's capital investment 0 40
Proceeds from loans 12,650 4,000
Repayments of borrowings –4,300 –562
Purchase of own shares –271 0
Repayments of financial lease liabilities –1 –10
Dividends paid –1,720 –1,720
Net cash used in financing activities 6,358 1,749

Net change in cash and cash equivalents according to cash flow statement 2,386 –1,833

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 7,041 8,975
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents –650 –101
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 8,777 7,041
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 2,386 –1,833

In the cash flow statement cash and cash equivalents comprise of liquid funds and term deposits as well as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
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 Group Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
1.1.2008–31.12.2008 (IFRS)

EUR thousand 
Shareholders' 

equity 

Share 
premium 
account Own shares

Invested 
non-restricted

 equity
Fair  

value fund
Translation 
differences

Retained 
earnings

Minority 
interest Total

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 1.1.2007 3,440 33,127 0 0 540 235 7,176 88 44,606

Change in translation difference 157 13 170
Share-related compensation 204 204
Net profit / loss recognized
directly in shareholders' equity 157 217 374

Profit for the period 4,092 20 4,112
Total profits and losses 157 4,310 20 4,486

Dividend distribution -1,720 -1,720
Rights issue 40 40
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 31.12.2007 3,440 33,127 0 0 540 392 9,765 148 47,413

EUR thousand 
Shareholders' 

equity 

Share 
premium 
account Own shares

Invested 
non-restricted

 equity
Fair  

value fund
Translation 
differences

Retained 
earnings

Minority 
interest Total

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 1.1.2008 3,440 33,127 0 0 540 392 9,765 148 47,413

Change in translation difference –4,383 994 –3,389
Share-related compensation 142 142
Transfers between items –33,058 33,058 41 –41 0
Other changes -42 –42
Net profit / loss recognized
directly in shareholders' equity –4,383 1,136 –41 3,288

Profit for the period 6,467 118 6,585
Total profits and losses –4,383 7,603 118 3,337

Dividend distribution –1,720 –1,720
Purchase of own shares –271 -271
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 31.12.2008 3,440 69 –271 33,058 540 –3,991 15,648 224 48,717
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Notes To The Group Financial Statements (Ifrs)

Basware Corporation is a public Finnish company found-
ed under the Finnish law. The company’s domicile is 
Espoo, Finland. The shares of the parent company Bas-
ware Corporation have been listed on the NASDAQ OMX 
Helsinki Ltd since 2000. Basware develops software for 
Enterprise Purchase to Pay and Financial Management 
solutions.

A copy of the Group financial statements is available 
on the Internet at www.basware.fi or the parent com-
pany’s headquarters, address Linnoitustie 2, Espoo.

The Board of Directors has approved the financial 
statements on January 21, 2008. Shareholders have the 
right to approve or reject the financial statements in the 
Annual General Meeting. The financial statements may 
also be revised in the Annual General Meeting.

1. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Accounting principles
Basware Corporations’ financial statements have been 
prepared according to the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS), approved for use in EU 
countries, in accordance with the standards and inter-
pretations valid on December 31, 2007. New principles 
applied for the first time in the financial period have not 
had a significant effect on the Group Financial State-
ments. The Group’s Financial Statements are presented 
in thousands of euro, which is the primary and reporting 
currency of the Group’s parent company, and they are 
based on acquisition costs unless otherwise stated in 
the accounting principles.

As of January 1, 2008, the Group has applied the fol-
lowing new and revised standards and interpretations:

IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 - Group and Treasury Share Transac-»»
tions. The interpretation clarifies the scope of appli-
cation of those regulations concerning transactions 
paid in equity instruments (IFRS 2) and requires a 
re-evaluation of such transactions in subsidiar-
ies. The interpretation has not had an effect on the 
Group financial statements.
IFRIC 12 - Service Concession Arrangements. The »»
Group has not had any agreements according to the 
interpretation with the public sector during the last 
or preceding financial periods. 
IFRIC 14 IAS 19 - The Limit on a Defined Benefit As-»»
set, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Inter-
action. The Group has no defined benefit plans re-
ferred to in the interpretation.
The Group will apply the following standards and in-»»
terpretations as of 2009 or later. These have not yet 
been applied in the present Financial Statements:
IFRS 1 - First-time Adoption of IFRSs and IAS 27 »»
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements - 

amendment. Effective as of the financial period be-
ginning on January 1, 2009.
IFRS 2 - Share-based Payment - Vesting Conditions »»
and Cancellations - amendment. Effective as of the 
financial period beginning on January 1, 2009.
IFRS 3 - Business Combinations and IAS 27 Consol-»»
idated and Separate Financial Statements - amend-
ment (effective after 2009).  Effective as of the fi-
nancial period beginning on January 1, 2010.
IFRS 8 - Operating Segments - new standard. Effec-»»
tive as of the financial period beginning on Janu-
ary 1, 2009.
IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements - »»
amendment. Effective as of the financial period be-
ginning on January 1, 2009.
IAS 23 - Borrowing Costs - amendment. Effective »»
as of the financial period beginning on January 1, 
2009.
IAS 32 - Financial Instruments: Presentation and »»
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements  - Finan-
cial Puttable Instruments and Obligations Arising 
on Liquidation. Borrowing Costs - amendment. Ef-
fective as of the financial period beginning on Jan-
uary 1, 2009.
IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and »»
Measurement - Eligible hedged items. Effective 
as of the financial period beginning on January 1, 
2010.
IFRIC 13 - Customer Loyalty Programs – new inter-»»
pretation. Effective as of the financial period begin-
ning on January 1, 2009.
IFRIC 15 - Agreements for the Construction of Real »»
Estate - new interpretation. Effective as of the fi-
nancial period beginning on January 1, 2009.
IFRIC 16 - Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign »»
Operation - new interpretation. Effective as of the 
financial period beginning on January 1, 2009.

IAS 1 will have an effect on the presentation of the fi-
nancial statements and IFRS 8 will have an effect on the 
notes to the financial statements. Other amendments 
are not considered to have a significant effect on the 
Group Financial Statements.

Principles of consolidation
Basware’s Group financial statements include the par-
ent company Basware Corporation and the subsidiaries 
controlled by it. With regard to subsidiaries, the parent 
company’s control is based on full ownership of the 
share capital or a majority holding. The Company does 
not own shares in joint enterprises or affiliates.

The subsidiaries have been included in the Group 
financial statements as of the acquisition date. Intra-
group holding is eliminated using the acquisition cost 

method. Acquired companies are accounted for using 
the purchase method according to which the assets 
and liabilities of the acquired company are measured at 
their fair value when it has been possible to determine 
the value reliably. Deferred taxes of the acquisition cost 
adjustments are recognized according to the valid tax 
rate and the remainder is recognized as goodwill on the 
balance sheet.

Intra-group business transactions, internal liabilities 
and receivables, and internal profit distribution are 
eliminated in the Group financial statements. Minority 
interest is separated from the profit and shareholders’ 
equity on the balance sheet and the corresponding 
figures are reported separately in the Group income 
statement and in the shareholders’ equity on the bal-
ance sheet. 

Transactions in foreign currencies 
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the 
exchange rates prevailing at the transaction dates. At 
the end of the accounting period, the unsettled bal-
ances on foreign currency receivables and liabilities 
are valued at the rates of exchange prevailing at the 
end of the accounting period. Foreign exchange gains 
and losses related to normal business operations are 
entered in the appropriate income statement account 
before operating profit. 

In the Group financial statements, the income state-
ments of foreign subsidiaries are translated into euros 
at the average rate for the financial period and balance 
sheets at the exchange rate of the balance sheet date. 
Average rate difference due to different exchange rates 
on the income statement and balance sheet are entered 
in translation differences under retained earnings. 
Translation differences arising from the elimination of 
foreign subsidiaries and translation of equity items are 
recognized under shareholders’ equity. 

Foreign currency gains and losses from monetary 
items part of the net investment in a foreign unit are 
recognized in translation difference and entered on the 
income statement when the net investment is aban-
doned. 

Revenue recognition
Revenue recognition of product sales requires that 
there is a binding agreement of the sale, the product 
has been delivered, proceeds from the transaction can 
be reliably specified, the financial gain will benefit the 
company with sufficient probability, and significant ben-
efits and risks related to ownership or rights of use of 
the product have been transferred to the buyer. License 
agreements with a right of return or conditions related 
to the product’s functionality or implementation project 
are recognized as revenue once the right of return has 
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expired or the above-mentioned conditions have been 
fulfilled.

Service revenue is recognized at the time of delivery. 
Maintenance revenue is allocated over the contract pe-
riod. 

When net sales are calculated, sales revenue is ad-
justed for exchange rate differences of foreign currency 
sales.

Other operating income
Other operating income includes proceeds from the 
sale of property, plant and equipment and possible 
rental income. 

Operating profit
The IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements stand-
ard does not define the concept of operating profit. The 
Group uses the following definition of operating profit: 
operating profit is the net sum of operating income 
added to net sales, less the cost of purchase for finished 
goods which is adjusted with inventory changes, less the 
costs resulting from employee benefits, depreciation 
and possible impairment loss as well as other operating 
expenses. All other items of the income statement are 
presented after operating profit. Exchange differences 
and fair value changes of derivatives are included in 
operating profit, provided that they result from items 
related to business operations; otherwise they are rec-
ognized under financing items.

Impairment
The Group performs an annual impairment test of good-
will, those intangible assets that have unlimited useful 
lives, and unfinished development projects. Additionally 
indications of impairment are evaluated regularly. In 
case of such indications, the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit or asset is evaluated. 

An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carry-
ing amount of an asset exceeds the recoverable amount. 
If there is a positive change in the estimated recoverable 
amount of money, depreciation loss related to tangible 
fixed assets and other intangible assets, excluding good-
will, is nullified. However, an impairment loss is only re-
versed to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have 
been determined had no impairment loss been recog-
nized. Goodwill impairment loss is not reversed in any 
situation. Additionally, the impairment loss of equity 
instruments that are recognized as available-for-sale fi-
nancial assets is not reversed through profit and loss.

Goodwill
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the cost of the 
acquisition over the Group’s share of the fair values of 

the acquiree’s net assets at the time of the acquisition. 
Goodwill is recognized at the original acquisition cost 
less accumulated depreciation.

Goodwill is allocated to those cash-generating units 
that are expected to gain from the synergy benefits re-
sulting from combining business operations. Goodwill 
is not amortized regularly but instead tested annually 
for impairment; book value of the cash generating unit 
and goodwill allocated to the unit are compared to the 
unit’s recoverable amount (value in use). If the value in 
use is lower than the carrying amount, the amortization 
is entered as an expense on the income statement and 
allocated primarily to goodwill on the balance sheet. 

The current value of future cash flows is based on 
the so-called perpetuity assumption (time period is infi-
nite). The forecast cash flows are estimated for a period 
of three years and the value of the so-called residual 
part of use value after the forecast period is determined 
using the Gordon model. Value in use is based on cash 
flows according to three-year predictions and business 
plans. The cash flows for the following years are esti-
mated by extrapolating the cash flow of the third year 
with the zero-growth assumption. The discount rates 
employed are the weighted average of capital costs 
and its starting point is determining the risk in accord-
ance with CAPM. The discount rate includes a risk-free 
interest rate that takes the time value of money into 
consideration and a risk premium. 

Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets include software, capitalized 
product development costs and customer relationships. 
Intangible assets are recognized at the original acqui-
sition cost less accumulated depreciation according to 
plan and possible impairment. Public subsidies related 
to the acquisition of an intangible asset are deducted 
from the acquisition cost of the asset and recognized 
as income by reducing the depreciation charge of the 
asset they are related to. The expected useful lives of 
intangible assets are 3 to 5 years. 

Research and development costs
Research expenses are booked as an expense as they 
are incurred. Development costs of new products and 
new product versions with significant enhancements 
are capitalized and recognized and amortized over the 
useful life. In determining the useful life, the obsoles-
cence of technology and the typical life cycle of prod-
ucts in the industry are taken into consideration. Am-
ortization starts once the product version is launched. 
Maintenance of existing products and minor enhance-
ments are recognized as they are incurred. Product 
development projects prior to 2004 have not been 
capitalized as the amount of capitalization cannot be 

determined reliably. Unfinished development projects 
are tested for impairment at the balance sheet date.  

Tangible assets 
Tangible assets include machinery and equipment. Tan-
gible assets are recognized on the balance sheet at the 
original acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation 
according to plan and possible impairment. The useful 
lives of tangible assets are 3 to 5 years. 

Leases
Leases on property, plant and equipment are classified 
as finance leases if they transfer a substantial portion 
of the risks and rewards incident to ownership. Finance 
leases are recognized on the balance sheet at the begin-
ning of the lease as assets and liabilities at the lower of 
the fair value of the leased asset and the present value 
of the minimum lease payments. Commodities acquired 
using finance leases are amortized according to plan 
and possible impairment losses are recognized. Finance 
lease liabilities are recognized under interest-bearing in 
short and long term liabilities.

If the risks and benefits typical of ownership remain 
with the lessor, the contract is handled as another rent-
al agreement and the payments executed based on the 
agreement are recognized as an expense in fixed install-
ments over the lease period. 

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are receivables generated from sales 
of products, software user rights and services. They are 
recognized at the original value. Trade receivables are 
categorized according to their nature to current and 
non-current trade receivables. 

Financial assets
The Group’s financial assets are categorized according 
to the IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement standard to the following categories:

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss»»
held-to-maturity investment»»
loans and other receivables»»
available-for-sale financial assets»»

The categorization is based on the purpose of the ac-
quisition of the financial assets, and it is performed in 
connection with the original acquisition.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
A financial asset is grouped into the Financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss category if it is acquired 
as held for trading, or it is designated as at fair value 
through profit or loss upon initial recognition. Financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss comprise of 
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cash invested in short-term interest funds. The assets 
are valued at the fair market price at the balance sheet 
date, and the change in value is recognized under fi-
nance income on the income statement. 

Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative finan-
cial assets with fixed or determinable payments and 
fixed maturity that the Group has the positive intent 
and ability to hold to maturity.

They are valued at amortized cost and are included 
in non-current assets. At the closing date, there were no 
such financing items on the balance sheet.

Loans and other receivables
Loans and other receivables are non-derivative finan-
cial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market and are not held by the 
company with the intent to sell. Loans and other receiv-
ables are valued at amortized cost. They are included in 
current or non-current trade receivables and other re-
ceivables category on the balance sheet in accordance 
with their nature. If the receivable matures in more than 
12 months, it is categorized in long-term receivables.

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative fi-
nancial assets specifically designated to this group or 
not categorized otherwise. They are included in long-
term assets unless they are intended to be held for less 
than 12 months as of the closing date, in which case 
they are included in short-term assets. Available-for-
sale financial assets are measured at fair value. When 
the fair value cannot be reliably determined, they are 
measured at acquisition cost.

Changes in the fair value of available-for-sale financial 
assets are entered in the fair value reserve in equity, tak-
ing into account the tax effect. Changes in fair value are 
transferred from equity to the income statement when the 
instrument is sold or its value has decreased so that an 
impairment loss has to be recognized for the instrument.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value. 
Transaction costs have been included in the original car-
rying amount of financial liabilities. Subsequently, all fi-
nancial liabilities are valued at amortized cost using the 
effective interest rate method. Financial liabilities are 
divided into current and non-current liabilities and they 
can either be interest-bearing or non-interest-bearing.

Impairment of sales receivables and financial assets
Based on a risk assessment, an impairment is made for 
uncertain sales receivables. 

Additionally, an assessment is conducted at each 
closing date to determine if there is objective evidence 
of impairment of an item or a category included in the 
financial assets.

Provisions
A provision is recognized when the Group has a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that the obligation will have to be 
settled, and the amount of the obligation can be reliably 
estimated.

Pensions
The statutory pension coverage of Basware Corpora-
tion employees is provided through insurance policies 
taken out with a pension institution. Pension coverage 
for personnel employed by units outside Finland is ar-
ranged in line with the requirements of local legislation 
and social security provisions. Payments related to de-
fined contribution pension plans are recognized on the 
income statement in the year they are incurred. There 
are no defined benefit plans.

Share-based payment costs
The IFRS 2 Share-based payments standard is applied 
to warrants that have been issued after November 7, 
2002 and whose subscription period has not started 
before January 1, 2005. The fair value is defined using 
the Black–Scholes warrant pricing model. When war-
rants are used, settlements received based on share 
subscriptions are entered in the share capital and share 
premium account.

Taxation
The tax expenses on the income statement comprise of 
tax based on the taxable income for the financial year 
and deferred taxes. Tax expenses are recognized in the 
income statement except for the expenses entered di-
rectly to shareholders’ equity when they are entered on 
the balance sheet as part of shareholders’ equity. Taxes 
based on the results of the Group companies are re-
corded according to the local tax rules of each country.  

Deferred taxes are calculated from all temporary 
differences between the carrying amount and taxable 
value. Deferred tax is not recognized for non-tax de-
ductible goodwill and deferred tax is not recognized for 
non-distributed profits of subsidiaries in so far as the 

difference is not likely to be discharged in the foresee-
able future.

At the closing date, a company-specific assessment 
of the amount of deferred tax assets included on the 
balance sheet is conducted and it is reduced to the ex-
tent that likely cannot be utilized in the taxation of the 
company in question. Deferred tax liabilities are wholly 
included on the balance sheet.

Own shares
Share repurchase and conveyance of shares and related 
costs are presented under shareholders’ equity.

Accounting principles requiring management’s con-
sideration and key uncertainties relating to the esti-
mates

When preparing the financial statements, estimates 
and supposition regarding the future have to be made. 
Realization may however differ from these estimates. 
Additionally, discretion must be used when applying the 
accounting principles. The estimates are based on the 
best views of the management at the time of the clos-
ing of the books. Possible changes in the estimates and 
suppositions are recorded in accounting in the period 
when the estimate or supposition is adjusted and in all 
the following financial periods.

The management believes that the estimates and 
suppositions are accurate enough to be used as basis 
for fair value assessment. Additionally, the Group re-
views the possible indications of depreciation regarding 
both tangible and intangible assets at each closing date, 
at the latest.

The most significant estimates included in the finan-
cial statements are related to measurement of assets, 
current sales receivables, utilization of deferred tax 
assets and capitalization of product development ex-
penses. 

The Group performs an annual impairment test 
of goodwill, those intangible assets that have unlim-
ited useful lives, and unfinished development projects 
and evaluates indications of impairment as presented 
above. Recoverable amounts of cash-generating units 
have been determined by calculations based on value in 
use. More information on the measurement of intangi-
ble assets in company mergers can be found in note 4. 
Product development costs are capitalized in intangible 
assets regarding new products as well as product ver-
sions with significant upgrades and amortized during 
the useful life after the product has been completed.
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2. SEGMENTS

Primary segment
Basware Group’s operations are mainly led as geo-
graphical entities. The primary segment structure is 
determined by geographical location: Finland, Scandi-
navia, Europe and North America.

Revenue, assets and liabilities are allocated to geo-
graphical segments according to the location of assets. 
Therefore the revenues from reseller activities in Asia 
Pacific as well as in Russia and other areas outside of 
Europe, are included in the Finnish geographical seg-
ment.

According to the transfer pricing regulations of the 
Group, transactions between Group companies are con-
ducted on so called Arm’s Length terms. As of January 
1, 2008, the so-called Transactional Net Margin method 
compliant with the principles of OECD’s Transfer Pricing 
Guidelines is applied to product sales and maintenance 
services and the so-called Cost Plus method is applied 
to other services. OECD’s Comparable Uncontrolled 
Price Method was to the transfer pricing of product 
sales and maintenance services during earlier financial 
periods.

Secondary segment
The following business segments are defined as second-
ary segments: product sales, consulting and services, 
maintenance and support, Software as a Service (Saas), 
and other operations. 

Product sales include the revenue from the license 
sales of Basware’s own products through group compa-
nies as well as resellers. Also, ASP lease-based license 
sales are entered in product sales.

Work related to customer projects, such as software 
installation, business consulting and project man-
agement are included in the Consulting and services 
segment. Project work is typically conducted by the 
consulting units. Transaction-based payments of the 
Basware Business Transactions (Basware Einvoices) as 
well as the monthly fees of the service are also entered 
in services.

Yearly maintenance fees as well as the customer 
work of the personnel in the support units are included 
in the Maintenance and support segment. 

Software as a Service revenue includes product sales, 
maintenance and services revenue invoiced monthly 
based on an agreement. Software as a Service agree-
ments typically span several years.

Other operations include profit from the sales and 
maintenance of third party software and equipment.

Assets and investments are allocated to segments 
according to the primary function of the cost center. 
Non-allocated assets include cash and bank receivables, 
tax assets, furniture entered in fixed assets as well as 
capitalized research and development costs. There is no 
non-allocated revenue
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2. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Geographical segments (primary segment)
EUR thousand
1.1.–31.12.2008 Finland Scandinavia Europe North America Eliminations Not allocated Group total

INCOME STATEMENT INFORMATION
External net sales 48,293 16,509 16,435 4,861 86,098
Internal net sales 1,224 2,296 3,019 143 –6,682
Net sales 49,517 18,805 19,454 5,004 –6,682 86,098

Operating profit of the segment 7,898 1,017 –74 289 –452 8,679
Operating profit 8,679

Finance income and expenses –269 –269
Income tax expense –1,825 –1,825
Profit for the period 5,008 565 –1,079 –136 2,227 6,585
Profit for the period 6,585

BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION
Segment's assets 39,262 9,638 7,300 3,018 53,227
Non-allocated assets 28,682 28,682
Total assets 33,271 9,638 7,300 3,018 81,909

Segment's liabilities 9,454 5,310 3,581 1,284 –2,027 17,602
Total liabilities 9,454 5,310 3,581 1,284 –2,027 17,602

OTHER INFORMATION
Net sales, goods 11,755 4,082 7,460 2,470 25,767
Net sales, services 32,664 13,588 11,691 2,388 60,331
Investments 3,415 8,624 415 21 12,476
Depreciation and amortization –2,597 –126 –247 –13 –60 –3,043
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EUR thousand
1.1.–31.12.2007 Finland Scandinavia Europe North America Eliminations Not allocated Group total

INCOME STATEMENT INFORMATION
External net sales 40,252 15,331 14,496 3,192 73,270
Internal net sales 8,597 1,466 585 268 –10,917
Net sales 48,849 16,797 15,081 3,460 –10,917 73,270

Operating profit of the segment 12,706 333 –3,662 –1,751 –114 7,512
Operating profit 7,512

Finance income and expenses 192 192
Income tax expense –3,591 –3,591
Profit for the period 9,446 358 –3,725 –1,904 –63 4,112
Profit for the period 4,112

BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION
Segment's assets 33,271 7,395 8,766 1,730 –4,575 46,587
Non-allocated assets 21,135 21,135
Total assets 33,271 7,395 8,766 1,730 –4,575 67,722

Segment's liabilities 8,310 4,439 8,986 4,239 –11,974 14,000
Total liabilities 8,310 4,439 8,986 4,239 –11,974 14,000

OTHER INFORMATION
Net sales, goods 11,899 4,250 6,522 1,228 23,899
Net sales, services 28,353 11,081 7,974 1,964 49,372
Investments 4,841 146 8,854 6 13,847
Depreciation and amortization –2,120 –137 –254 –17 –62 –2,590

Business segments (secondary segment)
EUR thousand 
1.1.–31.12.2008 Product sales

Consulting  
and services

Maintenance 
and support SaaS

Other  
operations Not allocated Total

Net sales 23,871 33,350 23,785 1,760 3,332 86,098
Assets 15,272 9,171 2,073 57 528 54,808 81,909
Investments 2,739 9,737 12,476

EUR thousand  
1.1.–31.12.2007 Product sales

Consulting  
and services

Maintenance 
and support SaaS

Other  
operations Not allocated Total

Net sales 24,117 23,342 22,100 1,250 2,461 73,270
Assets 15,272 7,972 3,360 1,049 40,069 67,722
Investments 1,467 86 12,294 13,847
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4. ACQUISITIONS

Basware acquired Contempus AS (Contempus) from Affecto Plc on September 30, 
2008. Contempus has been included in the consolidated financial statements for 
October 1 – December 31, 2008. The preliminary balance sheet of Contempus Group 
was included in the Basware’s Q3 consolidated balance sheet because the acquisi-
tion was confirmed on September 30, 2008. The purchase price, NOK 83.6 million 
was paid in cash on the day of the acquisition.

Basware acquired the entire share capital of Contempus AS. The final acquisition 
cost of the shares was EUR 10,109 thousand. In addition to the purchase price, the fi-
nal acquisition cost includes expert fees amounting to a total of EUR 39 thousand.

The allocation of the acquisition cost is preliminary. Of the acquisition cost, EUR 
3,590 is allocated to customer relationships and EUR 168 thousand to products. The 
current value of the customer relationships has been defined using the Multi-period 
Excess Earning method, wherein the net cash flows generated by an asset are cal-
culated as if the assets required to generate the cash flow had been leased from a 
third party. The value associated with customer relationships is amortized in 4.25 
years. The current value of the acquired software products has been determined 
using the Relief-from-Royalty method. In the method, the current value of net cash 
flows is calculated as if a third party would have had to be paid a license fee for the 
sale of the asset. The license policy used in both companies and prevailing in the 
industry has been used in determining the license fees. Product-related value is 
amortized over 4.25 years.

The value of net assets including the current value allocations was EUR 5,440 
thousand. The purchase price includes EUR 4,264 thousand of goodwill. The good-
will is based on expected synergy benefits, as the acquisition strengthens Bas-
ware’s market position and increases its competitiveness with competent person-
nel. Contempus is a Norwegian company that produces software solutions for the 
management of procurement, invoices and documents. Contempus has developed 
and supplied electronic information management solutions based on its proprietary 
technology for more than 17 years. Contempus has service units in Sweden and Nor-
way that distribute, install and maintain solutions sold to customers. In 2008, Con-
tempus established a subsidiary that serves customers and partners in the United 
Kingdom. In addition, Contempus has partners that take care of the international 
market in the United States and Benelux countries.

In the stock exchange release on the transaction, the company described the at-
tained synergy benefits as follows: “The acquisition strengthens Basware’s market po-
sition in Norway, Sweden and the UK as well as brings valuable expertise to Basware 
to improve competitiveness. In addition Basware can extend its distribution channel 
through existing Contempus’ sales channel in the United States and Benelux coun-
tries. Synergy benefits can be reached by unifying the business operations as well 
as by transferring to common infrastructure and common offices in Oslo, Stockholm 
and Manchester. Cost savings will be realized starting from the beginning of 2009 and 
they will be approximately EUR 3 million by the end of 2009. One-off-items are ap-
proximately EUR 1 million and they will all be realized in the fiscal year of 2008.”

Net sales of the separate Contempus companies for October-December amounted 
to EUR 2.1 million and operating profit to EUR -446 thousand. Basware’s consoli-
dated financial statements include one-off costs of EUR 736 thousand associated 
with the integration. They consist of benefits paid in connection with terminating 
employment relationships (EUR 504 thousand), expert fees (EUR 48 thousand) and 
costs resulting from the adoption of shared infrastructure and premises (EUR 185 
thousand).

Basware Group’s pro forma net sales for the financial period would have been 
EUR 93,300 thousand had the Contempus net sales been consolidated for the entire 
period. Pro forma operating profit for the financial period would have been EUR 
8,897 thousand had the Contempus operating profit sales been consolidated for 
the entire period.

Contempus Group
Acquisition date: 30.9.2008

EUR thousand Fair value
Acquiree’s carrying 

amount
Tangible assets 63 63
Intangible assets:

customer relationships 3,590
software products 168
product development expenses 615 615

Trade and other receivables 2,508 2,508
Cash and cash equivalents 1,380 1,380
Total assets 8,324 4,566

Deferred tax liabilities 0
Trade and other payables 2,884 2,884
Total liabilities and other items 2,884 2,884

Net assets 5,440 1,682
Goodwill through acquisition 4,264

Currency exchange difference –404
Total acquisition cost 10,108

Acquired company’s financial assets 1,380
Cash flow effect of entities acquired in 
the financial period 8,728

5. Other Operating Income

EUR thousand 1.1.–31.12.2008 1.1.–31.12.2007
Other operating income 218 84
Gain on disposal of non-current assets 32 750
Other operating income 250 834

3. Net Sales by Customer Location

EUR thousand 1.1.–31.12.2008 1.1.–31.12.2007
Finland 41,514 37,969
Scandinavia 18,309 15,911
Europe 19,191 14,785
North America 7,083 4,604
Net sales 86,098 73,270
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Warrants
Warrants have been granted to the key personnel to increase their commitment and work motivation. The valuation model used is Black–Scholes, It is estimated in the calcula-
tions that average personnel changes. The expected volatility is based on the volatility of the year preceding the date of issue of warrants.		

Warrants 2006A 2007D 2007E
Date of issue 12.12.2006 13.5.2007 13.5.2007
Issued number 60,300 83,600 83,600
Subscription price 13.35 12.34 12.34
Volume-weighted price on the date of issue 12.45 12.00 12.00
Volume-weighted fair value on the date of issue 1.67 2.05 2.40
Expected volatility 25% 25% 25%
Risk free interest 4.00% 4.00% 4.00%
Expected dividends 2.00% 2.00% 2.00%

There are no other related party transactions.

6. Materials and Services

EUR thousand 1.1.–31.12.2008 1.1.–31.12.2007
Purchases during the period –3,034 –2,724
Increase / decrease in inventories 6 22
External services –1,698 –1,757
Materials and services –4,726 –4,459

7. Personnel and Related Parties

Personnel in average 1.1.–31.12.2008 1.1.–31.12.2007
Finland 421 367
Scandinavia 112 96
Europe 129 93
North America 26 25
Personnel total 689 580

Employee benefits expenses
EUR thousand 1.1.–31.12.2008 1.1.–31.12.2007
Salaries and fees –41,786 –33,253

Pension expenses, defined benefit 
plans –4,297 –3,485

Granted warrants –142 –204
Other employee benefits –4,173 –3,658
Other employee benefits total –4,316 –3,862

Employee benefits expenses –50,399 –40,600

Management and Board salaries, fees and benefits
EUR thousand 1.1.–31.12.2008 1.1.–31.12.2007
CEO of parent company –220 –163

Compensation of the members of the Board of Directors
EUR thousand 1.1.–31.12.2008 1.1.–31.12.2007
Hannu Vaajoensuu –141 –99
Matti Copeland –27 0
Sakari Perttunen –31 0
Ilkka Toivola –27 0
Kirsi Eräkangas –5 –30
Antti Pöllänen 0 –88
Ossi Pohjola –27 –27
Tom Bangemann –5 –17
Asko Ahonen –5 –27
Total –488 –451

Key management compensation
EUR thousand 1.1.-31.12.2008 1.1.-31.12.2007
Short-term employee benefits –1,796 –1,662
Post-employment benefits –230 -230
Benefits related to termination of 
employment 0 0
Equity-related benefits –142 –204
Management compensation –2,168 –2,096

Compensation of the members of the Board of Directors, the executive team as well 
as the managing directors of the subsidiaries has been taken into notice in manage-
ment compensation.

Pension benefits of the members of the Board and the CEO are pursuant to em-
ployment pension legislation. 
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10. Income Taxes

Direct tax
EUR thousand 1.1.–31.12.2008 1.1.–31.12.2007
Income tax on operations –2,115 –3,095
Tax for previous accounting periods –5 215
Change in deferred tax liabilities and 
tax assets 294 –711
Tax on income from operations –1,825 –3,591

Tax base reconciliation
EUR thousand 1.1.–31.12.2008 1.1.–31.12.2007
Profit before taxes 8,410 7,704

Mathematical tax based on parent 
company's tax rate *) –2,187 –2,003
Effect on different tax rates applied to 
foreign subsidiaries 739 –583
Non-deductible expenses –346 –32
Non-taxable income 254 0
Tax for previous accounting periods –5 215
Unrecognized tax on loss for the 
period –220 –1,188
Calitalize on losses –60 0
Tax provision on income statement –1,825 –3,591

*) Parent company’s tax rate was 26 percent in 2007 and 2008.

11. Earnings per Share

1.1.–31.12.2008 1.1.–31.12.2007
Profit for the period, EUR thousand 6,585 4,112

Average share number, 1,000 pieces
- undiluted 11,463 11,468
- diluted 11,463 11,468

EPS (undiluted), EUR 0.56 0.36
EPS (diluted), EUR 0.56 0.36

Dividend per share

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting of shareholders on 
February 12, 2009 that a dividend of EUR 0.23 per share be paid.

8. Other Operating Expenses

EUR thousand 1.1.–31.12.2008 1.1.–31.12.2007
Rents –2,680 –2,043
Non-statutory employee benefits –714 –686
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 0 –288

Audit fees –62 –137
Taxadvices –33 0
Other fees and services –43 –78
Audit fees total –138 –215

Travel expenses –4,554 –3,842
Marketing expenses –3,195 –2,844
IT and telephone expenses –1,790 –1,489
Other expenses –6,429 –7,536
Total –15,968 –15,711

Other operating expenses total –19,500 –18,943

Research and development expenses
Research and development in income 
statement –12,779 –10,111
Increases in capitalized research and 
development expenses –2,739 –3,061
Research and development expenses 
total –15,518 –13,172

9. Finance Income and Expenses

EUR thousand 1.1.–31.12.2008 1.1.–31.12.2007
Finance income
Other interest and financial income 210 344
Financial income from derivative  
financial instruments 524 0
Finance expenses
Other interest and financial expenses –385 –152
Financial expense from derivative 
financial instruments –618 0
Finance income and expenses total –269 191

Finance income is formed from the proceeds of fund investments and expenses 
from the loan interests.

Exchange differences recognized on income statement
EUR thousand 1.1.–31.12.2008 1.1.–31.12.2007
Exchange differences included in net 
sales 123 30
Exchange differences included in 
purchases and expenses –224 –656
Foreign exchange gains 55 57
Foreign exchange losses –90 –23
Exchange differences recognized on 
income statement –136 –593
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12. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill
EUR thousand 2008
Acquisition cost 1.1. 25,702
Translation difference –754
Additions 4,264
Acquisition cost 31.12. 29,212
 
Book value 31.12.2008 29,212

Goodwill
EUR thousand 2007
Acquisition cost 1.1. 18,477
Translation difference 43
Additions 7,199
Alignment –17
Acquisition cost 31.12. 25,702
 
Book value 31.12.2007 25,702

Goodwill comprises of the following arrangements:

Corporate restructuring Goodwill
Momentum Doc, AB (2002) 807
Iocore AS / Basware AS (2005) 2,413
Trivet Oy (2005) 669
Analyste Oyj (2006) 13,874
Digital Vision Technologies Ltd. (2007)/ Basware UK 7,186
Contempus AS (2008) 4,264
Total 29,212

Goodwill has been allocated to cash-generating units accordingto the synergy 
benefits expected to result from unifying the operations:

Cash generating unit Goodwill
Basware Oyj 16,153
Basware AB 403
Basware AS 5,470
Basware UK 7,186
Total 29,212

Goodwill has been tested for impairment in the last quarter of 2008, and the dis-
count rate used in the impairment testing is 8.08 percent (Basware Corporation) or 
8.24 percent (Basware AB, Basware AS, Basware UK). The weighted average cost of 
capital reflects the capital structure at the time of the test. The recoverable amount 
evaluated in the impairment test is based on the 2009 budget and on subsequent 
development assessed on the basis of the budget. Key variables used in the calcula-
tions are the change rates of net sales and costs. The growth of net sales has been 
determined by taking into account the company’s actual performance, market posi-
tion and growth potential in the market in question.

On grounds of sensitivity analyses based on the zero-growth scenario, the man-
agement of the Company estimates that it is unlikely that a change in the key vari
ables used in the test would create a situation where the accounting value of good-
will included in the balance sheet exceeded the recoverable amount of the unit.

Growth in Basware UK’s net sales is expected to follow the target of the com-
pany’s strategy for the planning period in broad outline, meaning annual growth of 
20–40 percent. The tested accounting value of the assets of the company is EUR 7.4 
million, of which goodwill allocated to the unit accounts for approximately EUR 7.2 
million. The recoverable amount according to the business plans is approximately 
EUR 14.6 million. If the unit’s annual growth during the planning period is between 
10 and 15 percent, sensitivity analyses show that the unit’s recoverable amount is 
approximately EUR 7.4 million.

If Basware UK’s annual growth in net sales during the planning period remains 
under 10–15 percent and profitability does not improve according to plans, this 
would constitute a situation with indications of impairment of goodwill. If the value 
in use according to testing for impairment of goodwill performed at this time was 
lower than the accounting value of the unit’s assets tested, the impairment would 
be recognized as a cost in the income statement and would be primarily allocated to 
goodwill on the balance sheet.

Intangible assets 2008 
EUR thousand 

Develop-
ment 
costs Intangible rights

Intangible assets,  
finance lease

Other long-term   
investments

Assets, unfinished 
projects Total

Acquisition cost 1.1. 5,211 8,853 77 0 3,004 17,146
Translation difference –167 –174 –340
Acquisitions through business combinations 686 3,773 4,459
Additions 323 198 94 2,416 3,031
Reclassifications between items 628 –628 0
Acquisition cost 31.12. 6,681 12,650 77 94 4,793 24,295
 
Cumulative amortization 1.1. –1,698 –3,161 –77 0 –4,936
Translation difference 161 97 258
Cumulative depreciation on acquisitions –197 –197
Amortization –1,183 –1,211 –5 –2,398
Cumulative amortization 31.12. –2,915 –4,275 –77 –5 –7,273

Book value 31.12.2008 3,765 8,375 0 89 4,793 17,022
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13. Tangible Assets

Tangible assets 2008  
EUR thousand 

Machinery and 
equipment

Machinery and 
equipment,  

finance lease Works of art Total
Acquisition cost 1.1. 4,514 203 64 4,781
Translation difference –178 –72 –250
Acquisitions through business combinations 70 70
Additions 686 6 692
Disposals –119 –5 –124
Acquisition cost 31.12. 4,974 126 70 5,170

Cumulative depreciations 1.1. –3,586 –186 –3,772
Translation difference 118 70 189
Cumulative depreciation on acquisitions –136 –136
Accrued depreciation on deductions and transfers 95 3 98
Depreciation –552 –5 –558
Cumulative depreciation 31.12. –4,062 –118 –4,180

Book value 31.12.2008 912 9 70 991

Tangible assets 2007  
EUR thousand

Machinery and 
equipment

Machinery and 
equipment,  

finance lease Works of art Total
Acquisition cost 1.1. 3,863 200 58 4,121
Translation difference –29 3 –26
Acquisitions through business combinations 132 132
Additions 620 6 627
Disposals –72 –72
Acquisition cost 31.12. 4,514 203 64 4,781

 
Cumulative depreciations 1.1. –3,170 –167 –3,337
Translation difference 24 –3 21
Cumulative depreciation on acquisitions 65 6 71
Depreciation –505 –22 –528
Cumulative depreciation 31.12. –3,586 –186 –3,772

Book value 31.12.2007 928 17 64 1,009

Intangible assets 2007 
EUR thousand Development costs Intangible rights

Intangible assets, 
finance lease

Assets, unfinished 
projects Total

Acquisition cost 1.1. 3,735 7,311 77 1,743 12,865
Translation difference 4 11 15
Acquisitions through business combinations 1,340 1,340
Additions 401 191 2,660 3,252
Disposals –327 –327
Reclassifications between items 1,072 –1,072 0
Acquisition cost 31.12. 5,211 8,853 77 3,004 17,146
 
Cumulative amortization 1.1. –712 –2,100 –74 –2,885
Translation difference –2 2 0
Amortization –983 –1,064 –3 –2,050
Cumulative amortization 31.12. –1,698 –3,161 –77 –4,936

Book value 31.12.2007 3,514 5,692 0 3,004 12,210
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14. Available-for-sale Investments

EUR thousand 31.12.2008 31.12.2007
Acquisition cost 1.1. 38 2,612
Disposals –2,574
Acquisition cost 31.12 38 38

Available-for-sale investments including non-public shares. 

15. Long-Term Trade and Other Receivables

EUR thousand 31.12.2008 31.12.2007
Other Long-Term receivables 12 12
Derivative financial instruments 524 0
Long-term and Other Receivables total 536 12

16. Inventories

EUR thousand 31.12.2008 31.12.2007
Raw materials and consumables 48 42
Inventories total 48 42

FiFo principle has been applied in the measurement of inventories.

17. Trade and Other Receivables

EUR thousand 31.12.2008 31.12.2007
Trade receivables 18,513 16,985
Loan receivables 0 9
Other receivables 794 490
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 1,429 1,221
Trade and other receivables 20,737 18,704

Income tax receivables 2,341 476

The age distribution of sales receivables and impairment loss
2008 Impairment loss Net 2008 2007 Impairment loss Net 2007

Non-overdue sales receivables 12,504 12,504 10,867 10,867
Overdue sales receivables

1 – 180 days 5,858 –175 5,684 5,480 5,480
181 – 360 days 632 –360 271 715 –271 444
Over 360 days 363 –310 53 712 –518 194

Total 19,357 –845 18,513 17,774 –789 16,985

18. Other Financial Assets

EUR thousand 31.12.2008 31.12.2007
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 31 31

Other financial assets 31 31

Fund units have been classified as Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and they have been measured according to the last quotation of the reporting day.
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20. Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

Deferred tax asset 2008

EUR thousand 1.1.2008
Translation  
difference

In income  
statement

In shareholders' 
equity

Companies  
acquired/sold 31.12.2008

Losses 2,489 22 –303 2,208
Total 2,489 22 –303 2,208

 
Confirment losses for which a deferred 
tax asset has not been recognized 1,878

Deferred tax liabilities 2008

EUR thousand 1.1.2008
Translation  
difference

In income  
statement

In shareholders' 
equity

Companies  
acquired/sold 31.12.2008

Allocation of fair value on purchases 1,355 –59 –253 1,052 2,095
Other accrual differences 288 –61 –16 211
Total 1,643 –59 –314 1,036 2,307

Deferred tax asset 2007

EUR thousand 1.1.2007
Translation  
difference

In income  
statement

In shareholders' 
equity

Companies  
acquired/sold 31.12.2007

Losses 2,618 -119 –10 2,489
IFRS adjustments 20 –20 0
Adjustments of accounting principles 863 11 –874 0
Total 3,501 –108 –904 2,489

Confirment losses for which a deferred 
tax asset has not been recognized 1,750

Deferred tax liabilities 2007

EUR thousand 1.1.2007
Translation  
difference

In income  
statement

In shareholders’ 
equity

Companies  
acquired/sold 31.12.2007

Allocation of fair value on purchases 1,183 –28 –132 332 1,355
IFRS adjustments 123 123
Other accrual differences 155 –6 16 165
Total 1,462 –28 –139 348 1,643

In accordance with its strategy, the Company focuses on profitability in the Nordic market, and in Central Europe and the United States on growth in the short term and profit-
ability in the long term. Deferred tax assets have not been recognized for all losses, as it has been estimated that the losses cannot be utilized in the near future. Utilization 
of tax assets has been begun in 2008. In determining the deferred tax assets, the valid tax rate in each country has been applied. Losses for which no deferred tax assets 
have been recognized for 2008 amount to EUR 2.0 million (2007: EUR 5.2 million).

19. Cash and Cash Equivalents

EUR thousand 31.12.2008 31.12.2007
Cash and cash equivalents 8,745 7,010
Cash and cash equivalents 8,745 7,010
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21. MANAGEMENT OF FINANCING RISKS

Basware Group’s international operations involve cus-
tomary financing risks. The purpose of financial risk 
management is to ensure the availability of sufficient 
financing cost-efficiently and monitor and, if necessary, 
limit the emerging risks by taking appropriate measures. 
Risk management is centralized in the Group’s finance 
department. In accordance with the risk management 
policy, the department reports to the Company’s Board 
of Directors at least once a year. 

Currency risk
The Group’s main currency is euro, accounting for ap-
proximately 67 percent of net sales in 2008 (approxi-
mately 66% in 2007). In addition to the euro area, Bas-
ware operates in various areas, the most significant of 
them being Sweden, Norway, the United Kingdom and 
the United States. The company is exposed to exchange 
rate risks in these countries through intra-company 
trade, exports and imports as well as through the eq-
uity and funding of foreign subsidiaries. The Company 
did not realize hedging for exchange rate fluctuations 
during the financial year as the impact of currency risks 
on the Company’s net sales and result were not con-
sidered significant. The significance of exchange rate 
fluctuations between the euro and other currencies will 
increase hand in hand with the share of international 
operations. The Group’s exchange rate hedging princi-
ples will be defined during the first quarter of 2009 as a 
part of the leading principles of finance policy approved 
by the Board.

Change in exchange rates between 2007 and 2008 
had a greater impact on Basware’s growth than dur-
ing previous financial periods. Basware’s net sales in-
creased by 20.1% in local currency terms during 2008.

As of January 1, 2008, the capital structure of Basware 
Corporation’s foreign subsidiaries has been changed 
to the extent that the majority of the long-outstanding 
intercompany trade receivables in the parent company 
have been converted to a long-term net investment in a 
foreign operation. The purpose of the loan arrangement 
is to fund a long-term strategic investment. Foreign cur-
rency gains and losses from a net investment in a foreign 
operation are recorded in a separate component of eq-
uity in the consolidated financial statements. A sensitiv-
ity analysis of currency risk calculated as required by 
IFRS 7 would have had an impact of EUR +/–0.4 million 
on the profit before tax at the closing date, assuming 
a rate change of +/– 5% of the local currencies (SEK, 
NOK, DKK, GBP, USD) against the euro. Other variables 
are assumed to remain unchanged. The calculation 
includes the foreign currency trade payables and ac-
counts receivable in the balance sheet.

Interest rate risk
The company had a total of EUR 13,283 thousand of in-
terest-bearing liabilities at the closing date. During the 
period under review, the Company withdrew a 3-year 
loan of EUR 10.7 million to finance the acquisition of 
Contempus AS. The loan is hedged by a 2-year interest 
cap agreement, setting a cap of 5.4% for the base rate 
of interest. The company had interest rate investments 
in money market funds.

The average balances of the variable rate loans re-
alized during the period have been used in calculating 
the sensitivity analysis required by IFRS 7. At the clos-
ing date December 31, 2008, the effect on variable rate 
interest-bearing liabilities on profit before taxes would 
have been EUR –23 thousand had the interest rate in-
creased by 1 percentage point. Correspondingly, the ef-
fect on variable rate interest-bearing liabilities on profit 
before taxes would have been EUR +41 thousand had 
the interest rate decreased by 1 percentage point.

Liquidity risk
The company maintains sufficient liquidity reserves 
through centralized Group-level cash management, 
payment traffic and overdraft facilities. The company 
has an account with a million euro overdraft facility se-
cured by mortgage.

Credit risks
The company’s sales receivables are spread to a vast 
clientele and do not include significant credit risks. 
Credit decisions are followed and monitored centrally 
by the Group management. The company has not used 
surety bonds to secure sales receivables.

22. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT  
 
The company’s capital management aims to ensure the 
continuity of the company’s operations (going concern) 
and increase shareholder value.

The capital structure can be adjusted by decisions 
on, e.g., distribution of dividend, share repurchase and 
share issues.

During the financial period, the Annual General 
Meeting resolved to decrease the company’s share 
premium account by EUR 33,057,787.45. The purpose 
of the decrease is to transfer the decreased amount to 
the invested non-restricted equity fund. The decrease 
has been carried out in accordance with the resolution 
of the National Board of Patents and Registration of 
Finland on June 24, 2008.

The Board of Directors of Basware Corporation has 
started share repurchase during the reporting period. 
A maximum of 400,000 shares will be purchased, cor-

responding to approximately 3.49 percent of all shares 
in the Company. The decision is based on the authoriza-
tion granted by the Annual General Meeting of Basware 
Corporation on February 14, 2008, on the repurchase 
of a maximum of 1,146,812 shares. Share repurchase 
will end on March 31, 2009 at the latest. Non-restricted 
equity will be used for acquiring the shares, so the ac-
quisitions will decrease the Company’s distributable as-
sets. The shares will be purchased in public trading on 
NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Oy in compliance with the rules 
and guidelines of NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Oy and Finnish 
Central Securities Depository Ltd. concerning share re-
purchases. At the end of 2008, 41,567 shares had been 
acquired.

Equity ratio and gearing ratio are indicators of the 
capital structure.

During 2008, the group’s objective, which was un-
changed from 2007, was to maintain a strong equity 
ratio, a moderate gearing ratio and an AAA credit rat-
ing. The equity ratio in 2008 was 59.5% (2007: 70.0%).  
The gearing ratio in 2008 was 9.3% (–5.7%). The Dun & 
Bradsheet credit rating was AAA in 2008 (AAA).

The change in the gearing ratio in 2008 was prima-
rily due to the loan arrangement used for financing the 
acquisition of Contempus AS.
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24. Liabilities

EUR thousand 31.12.2008 31.12.2007
Non-current liabilities

Interest bearing liabilities from  
financial institutions 7,108 16
Interest bearing finance lease  
obligations 2 4
Derivative financial instruments 618 0
Deferred tax liabilities 2,307 1,643

Non-current liabilities 10,036 1,663

Current liabilities
Interest bearing liabilities from  
financial institutions 5,550 4,300
Interest bearing finance lease  
obligations 5 14

Advances received 0 0

Trade and other liabilities 1,500 1,575
Accrued expenses and deferred 
income 11,140 8,816

Other liabilities 4,043 3,609

Tax liabilities from income 918 333

Current liabilities 23,156 18,647

Total liabilities 32,847 20,310

25. Finance Lease Liabilities 

EUR thousand 31.12.2008 31.12.2007
Long-term finance leases,  
interest-bearing 2 4
Short-term finance leases,  
interest-bearing 5 14
Finance lease liabilities 7 18

Finance lease liabilities - minimum rentals
Within a year 5 15
More than one year but no more than 
5 years 2 4
Minimum rentals 7 19
Future financing costs related to  
leasing agreements 0 -0
Finance lease liabilities 7 18

Present value of minimum rentals
Within a year 5 14
More than one year but no more than 
5 years 2 4
Future minimum lease payments at 
present value 7 18

23. equity

EUR thousand Share number
Shareholders' 

equity
Share premium 

account
Invested non-

restricted equity Other reserves Own shares Total
31.12.2007 11,468,124 3,440 33,127 0 540 0 37,107
Reclassifications between items –33,058 33,058 0
Purchase of own shares –41,567 –271 –271
31.12.2008 11,426,567 3,440 69 33,058 540 –271 36,836

Invested non-restricted equity fund
The invested non-restricted equity fund includes the decrease of the share premium fund by EUR 33,057,787.45.  The decrease has been carried out in accordance with the 
resolution of the National Board of Patents and Registration of Finland on June 24, 2008.

Other funds
Other funds include the fair value reserve, which includes the increase in the value of the Analyste deal shares between the publication and realization of the deal in 2006.

Treasury shares
The treasury shares reserve includes the acquisition cost of own shares held by the Group.

The most significant items in the accrued liabilities are the provisions for vacation pay 
EUR 3,899 thousand and bonuses EUR 3,287 thousand.

Of the loans from financial institutions, EUR 3,566 (4,300) thousand will mature 
in 2009, EUR 3,550 thousand in 2010 and EUR 3,550 thousand in 2011. The average 
interest rate of the loans was 4.7 (3.6) percent in 2008.

Finance lease interest rates were 3.43 percent (3.07–3.43) in 2008.
The Company underwent a tax audit concerning 2006 and 2007. No final report 

on the audit has been received, and no provision has been made in the accounts due 
to the audit.
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28. Shares in Subsidiaries

Company Domicile Country
Group  

holding, %
Nextware Oy Espoo Finland 100
Basware GmbH Düsseldorf Germany 100
Basware UK Ltd. Guildford United Kingdom 100
Basware AB Stockholm Sweden 100
Basware B.V. Amsterdam The Netherlands 100
Basware A/S Fredensborg Denmark 100
Basware Inc. Delaware United States 100
Basware SAS Paris France 100
Basware AS Oslo Norway 100
Basware Einvoices Oy Espoo Finland 90.3
Basware FIMA Oy Espoo Finland 95.96
Digital Vision Technologies Ltd. Manchester United Kingdom 100
Contempus AS Oslo Norway 100
Contempus AB Stockholm Sweden 100

27. Related party transactions

The Group insiders include the parent company and the subsidiaries. In addition, 
members of the Board of Directors and the Executive Teams, including the President 
and CEO, are insiders.

26. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

EUR thousand 31.12.2008 31.12.2007
Own guarantees

Business mortgage of own debt 1,200 1,200

Commitments on behalf 	
of subsidiaries
 
Guarantees 1,096 1,103

Other own contingent liabilities
 
Lease liabilities

Current lease liabilities 868 601
Lease liabilities maturing in 1-5 years 838 685

Total 1,706 1,286

Rental liabilities
Current rental liabilities 2,385 1,827
Rental liabilities maturing in 1-5 years 4,620 3,957
Rental liabilities maturing later 1,196 172

Total 8,201 5,956

Other own contingent liabilities total 9,907 7,242

Commitments and Contingent 	
Liabilities total 12,203 9,545

29. EVENTS AFTER THE FINANCIAL PERIOD

The Company’s organization has been adjusted to match market changes, and a 
new unit, Enterprise Purchase to Pay (EPP) Automation Services, headed by Riku 
Roos, has been established. The EPP Automation Service unit includes the subsidi-
ary Basware Einvoices as well as the Software as a Service functions. 

The Finnish business unit, Basware’s subsidiary FIMA, and the Russian opera-
tions have been merged into a business unit called NorthEast, headed by Jukka 
Virkkunen, currently the head of the Finnish business unit.

As of January 1, 2009, members of the Basware Executive Team are Ilkka Sihvo, 
CEO; Mika Harjuaho, CFO; Olli Hyppänen, Senior Vice President, Strategy and De-
velopment; Steve Muddiman, Senior Vice President, Global Marketing; Pekka Rehn, 
Senior Vice President, Products; Esa Tihilä, Senior Vice President, Global Opera-
tions; Odd Roar Trapnes, Senior Vice President, Scandinavia; and Jukka Virkkunen, 
Senior Vice President, NorthEast.

The tasks of the Chairman of the Board, Hannu Vaajoensuu, were redefined as 
from the beginning of 2009. In addition to the ordinary duties of the Chairman of 
the Board, Vaajoensuu is a member of the team that prepares business acquisitions 
and an advisor in merger projects. His duties also include contacts with the key 
interest groups of the industry.
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 Parent Company Income Statement
1.1.–31.12.2008 (FAS)

EUR thousand Notes 1.1.–31.12.2008 1.1.–31.12.2007 Change, %

NET SALES 2 37,540 42,862 –12.4

Other operating income 3 56 1,071 –94.8

Materials and services 4 –2,058 –2,032 1.3
Employee benefits expenses 5 –21,587 –19,463 10.9
Depreciation and amortization 6 –3,227 –3,025 6.7
Other operating expenses –7,299 –8,421 –13.3
Operating profit 3,425 10,993 –68.8

Finance income 7 2,369 590 301.5
Finance expenses 7 –4,131 –605 583.4
Profit before appropriation and taxes 1,663 10,979 –84.9

Change in depreciation differences 0 0 –100.0
Profit before taxes 1,663 10,979 4.8

Income tax expense 8 –823 –3,331 –75.3
PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 840 7,649 –89.0
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 Parent Company Balance Sheet
31.12.2008 (FAS)

EUR thousand Notes 31.12.2008 31.12.2007 Change, %

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Intangible assets 9 7,484 6,268 19.4
Goodwill 9 12,649 14,326 –11.7
Tangible assets 10 540 537 0.6
Investments 11 48,634 35,420 37.3
Non-current assets 69,307 56,551 22.6

Current assets
Inventories 12 48 42 15.1
Long-term trade and other receivables 13 524 0 100.0
Short-term trade and other receivables 14 13,245 15,481 –14.4
Financial assetts at fair value through profit or loss 31 31 0.7
Cash and cash equivalents 1,825 939 94.3
Current assets 15,673 17,200 –5.0

TOTAL ASSETS 84,980 73,044 16.3

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Shareholders' equity
Share capital 3,440 3,440
Share premium account 0 33,058 –100.0
Other reserves 33,058 0 100.0
Retained earnings 23,478 17,820 33.3
Profit for the period 840 7,649 -89
Shareholders' equity 15 60,816 61,967 -1.9

Liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 16 86 149 –40.7
Long-term interest bearing liabilities 17 7,726 16 48,406.3
Long-term non-interest bearing liabilities 17 2,677 177 1,412.4
Short-term interest bearing liabilities 18 5,550 4,300 29.1
Short-term non-interest bearing liabilities 18 8,123 6,435 26.2
Total liabilities 24,165 11,077 118.2

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 84,980 73,044 16.3
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 Parent Company Cash Flow Statement
1.1.–31.12.2008 (FAS)

EUR thousand 1.1.–31.12.2008 1.1.–31.12.2007

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the period 840 7,649
Adjustments for profit 5,782 5,790
Working capital changes –1,890 –4,306

Cash flow from operating activities before financial items and taxes 4,732 9,132
Interest paid –213 –107
Dividend received 1,016 0
Interest received 194 422
Other financial items in operating activities –542 –491
Income taxes paid –2,708 –2,948
Net cash from operating activities 2,480 6,009

Cash flows from investing activities 
Purchase of tangible and intangible assets –2,797 –3,196
Proceeds from sale of tangible and intangible assets 41 43
Acquired subsidiaries –1 –10,073
Proceeds from other investments 0 3,013
Granted loans –5,463 –2,835
Repayments of loan receivables 267 10
Net cash used in investing activities –7,953 –13,038

Cash flows before financing activities –5,473 –7,030

Cash flows from financing activities  
Purchase of own shares –271 0
Proceeds from loans 12,650 4,000
Repayments of borrowings –4,300 –400
Dividends paid –1,720 –1,720
Net cash used in financing activities 6,359 1,880

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 886 –5,150
Increase (+) / decrease (-) in cash and cash equivalents 886 –5,150

Net change in cash and cash equivalents according to balance sheet
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 971 6,121
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 1,856 971
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 886 –5,150
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 Notes to the Parent Company Financial Statements

1. ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES USED IN PREPARING THE PARENT 
COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Tangible assets 
Tangible assets are recognized in the balance sheet at the original acquisition cost 
less accumulated depreciation. The useful lives of tangible assets are 3 to 5 years. 

Leases 
In the parent company financial statements, leasing payments are recognized as an-
nual expenses in accordance with the Finnish Accounting Standards.  

Liquid assets 
Liquid assets include cash, bank balances and other liquid securities.  

Taxes
Income taxes have been recognized in accordance with Finnish tax legislation. 

Notes to the Income Statement

2. Net sales

EUR thousand 2008 2007
Net sales by business branches

Product sales and maintenance 21,846 32,925
Services 10,696 9,937
Total 32,541 42,862

Net sales by business areas

Enterprise Purchase to Pay 32,550 38,654
Financial Management –9 4,208
Total 32,541 42,862

Net sales by market areas

Domestic 30,147 30,596
Foreign 2,394 12,266
Total 32,541 42,862

3. Other operating income

EUR thousand 2008 2007
Subcription of research 24 0
Gain on sale of non-current assets 32 1,071
Total 56 1,071

Basware Corporation’s financial statements for 2008 have been prepared in accor
dance with the Finnish Accounting Act. The Group has applied the International Fi-
nancial Reporting Standards (IFRS) in its reporting as from January 1, 2005. The par-
ent company’s financial statements and balance sheets for 2008 and 2007 are not 
comparable due to the incorporation of Basware FIMA Oy in 2007.

Transactions in foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the exchange rates prevailing at 
the transaction dates. At the end of the accounting period, the unsettled balances on 
foreign currency receivables and liabilities are valued at the rates of exchange pre-
vailing at the end of the accounting period. Foreign exchange gains and losses related 
to normal business operations are entered in the appropriate income statement ac-
count before operating profit and foreign exchange gains and losses associated with 
financing are entered as a net amount under financial income and expenses. 

Revenue recognition 
Revenue recognition of product sales requires that there is a binding agreement of 
the sale, the product has been delivered, proceeds from the transaction can be reli-
ably specified, the financial gain will benefit the company with sufficient probability, 
and significant benefits and risks related to ownership or rights of use of the product 
have been transferred to the buyer. License agreements with a right of return or 
conditions related to the product’s functionality or implementation project are recog-
nized as revenue once the right of return has expired or the above-mentioned condi-
tions have been fulfilled.  

Maintenance revenue is allocated over the contract period and service revenue is 
recognized at the time of delivery. 

Other operating income 
Other operating income includes proceeds from the sale of property, plant and 
equipment and rental income. 

Research and development costs 
Research expenses are recognized as an expense as they are incurred. Product 
development expenses are recognized so that development costs of new products 
and product versions with significant enhancements are capitalized and amor-
tized. Maintenance of existing products and minor enhancements are recognized 
as they are incurred. Public subsidies related to capitalized development expenses 
are deducted from the acquisition costs. Development costs incurred before 2004 
have been booked as annual expenses for the relevant financial period. 

Pensions 
The statutory pension coverage of Basware Corporation employees is provided 
through insurance policies taken out with a pension institution. The statutor pen-
sion expenses are recognized as expenses in the year they are incurred.  

Intangible assets
Intangible assets include software, goodwill and capitalized product development 
costs. They are recognized in the original acquisition costs less accumulated depre-
ciation. Public subsidies related to the acquisition of intangible assets are deducted 
from the acquisition cost of the asset and recognized as income by reducing the de-
preciation charge of the asset they are related to. The useful lives of intangible assets 
are 3 to 5 years.
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4. Materials and services

EUR thousand 2008 2007
Purchases during the financial period –729 –557
Change in inventories 6 22
Services purchased –1,336 –1,497
Total –2,058 –2,031

5. Notes to personnel and corporate governance

EUR thousand 2008 2007
Personnel expenses

Salaries paid to CEO and the Board of 
Directors –488 –451
Salaries paid to other personnel –17,410 –15,543
Pension expenses –2,749 –2,425
Other personnel expenses –940 –1,045
Total –21,587 –19,463

Number of personnel

Personnel average for the period 326 319
Personnel at the end of the period 331 303

The pension arrangements of CEO and the Board of Directors comply with the local 
rules.

6. Depreciation and write-offs

EUR thousand 2008 2007
Intangible assets –1,233 –1,053
Tangible assets –317 –295
Goodwill –1,677 –1,677
Total –3,227 –3,025

7. Financial income and expenses

EUR thousand 2008 2007
Interest and other financial income 2,369 589
Interest and other financial expenses –4,131 –605
Total –1,763 –15

8. Direct taxes

EUR thousand 2008 2007
Income taxes on the financial period

Income taxes on actual business –882 –2,609
Change of deferred taxes 61 –707
Income taxes from previous  
financial periods –1 –15

Total –823 –3,331

9. Intangible assets

EUR thousand 2008 2007
Intangible rights

Book value 1.1. 8,710 6,243
Increase 3,082 2,811
Decrease –628 –344
Book value 31.12. 11,164 8,710

Accumulated depreciation 1.1. –2,442 –1,403
Disposals 0 13
Amortization for the financial period –1,238 –1,053
Accumulated amortization 31.12. –3,680 –2,442

Balance sheet value 31.12. 7,484 6,268

Goodwill

Book value 1.1. 16,794 16,811
Decrease 0 –17
Book value 31.12. 16,794 16,794

Accumulated amortization 1.1. –2,468 –791
Amortization for the financial period –1,677 –1,677
Accumulated amortization 31.12. –4,145 –2,468

Balance sheet value 31.12. 12,649 14,326
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10. Tangible assets

EUR thousand 2008 2007
Book value 1.1. 3,144 2,917
Increase 324 392
Decrease –104 –166
Book value 31.12. 3,364 3,144

Accumulated amortization 1.1. –2,607 –2,423
Disposals 95 111
Amortization for the period –313 –295
Accumulated amortization 31.12. –2,824 –2,607

Balance sheet value 31.12. 540 537

Total fixed assets 20,673 21,131

11. Investments

EUR thousand 2008 2007
Shares in group companies

Book value 1.1. 16,175 4,330
Increase 1 11,845
Book value 31.12. 16,176 16,175

Other shares

Book value 1.1. 38 2,290
Decrease 0 –2,252
Book value 31.12. 38 38

Other receivables

Receivables from group companies 32,420 19,206

Shares in subsidiaries

Company Dominicle Country

Parent 
company  

holding, %

Nextware Oy Espoo Finland 100
Basware GmbH Düsseldorf Germany 100
Basware UK Ltd. Guildford United Kingdom 100
Basware AB Stockholm Sweden 100
Basware B.V. Amsterdam The Netherlands 100
Basware A/S Fredensborg Denmark 100
Basware Inc. Delaware United States 100
Basware SAS Paris France 100
Basware AS Oslo Norway 100
Basware Einvoices Oy Espoo Finland 90.3
Basware FIMA Oy Espoo Finland 95.96
Digital Vision Technologies Ltd. Manchester United Kingdom 100

12. Inventories

EUR thousand 2008 2007
Raw materials and consumables 48 42
Total 48 42

13. Long-term receivables

EUR thousand 2008 2007
Derivative financial instruments 524 0
Long-term receivables total 524 0

14. Short-term receivables

EUR thousand 2008 2007
Accounts receivables 5,347 3,821

Receivables from group companies
Accounts receivables 1,426 10,065
Loan receivables 2,776 0
Interest receivables 940 524
Total 5,142 10,589

Prepaid expenses and accrued income 2,378 764
Other receivables 378 307
Total 13,245 15,481
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15. Shareholders’ equity

EUR thousand 2008 2007
Share capital 1.1. 3,440 3,440
Increase for the financial period 0 0
Share capital 31.12 3,440 3,440

Share premium account 1.1. 33,058 33,058
Decrease for the financial period –33,058 0
Share premium account 31.12. 0 33,058

Equity 31.12. 3,440 36,498

Non-restricted equity 1.1. 0 0
Increase for the financial period 33,058 0
Non-restricted equity 31.12. 33,058 0

Retained earnings 1.1. 25,469 19,540
Purchase of own shares –271
Dividend payment –1,720 –1,720
Profit for the period 840 7,649
Retained earnings 31.12. 24,317 25,469

Non-restricted equity 31.12. 57,375 25,469

Shareholders' equity 31.12. 60,816 61,967

Specification of distributable funds

Profit for the period 840 7,649
Retained earnings 56,807 17,820
Distributable funds 57,375 25,469

16. Deferred tax liabilities

EUR thousand 2008 2007
Deferred tax liabilities 89 149

17. Long-term liabilities

EUR thousand 2008 2007
Long-term debts 7,108 16

Derivative financial instruments 618 0
Long-term debts to group companies 2,677 177

Total 10,403 192

18. Short-term liabilities

EUR thousand 2008 2007
Non-interest bearing short-term 
liabilities
Accounts payable 321 443

Liabilities to group companies
Accounts payable 352 632
Accrued interest expenses 43 0
Total 394 632

Other debts 1,406 1,126
Accrued expenses and deferred 
income 6,000 4,234
Total 7,407 5,361

Non-interest bearing short-term 
liabilities total 8,122 6,435

Interest bearing short-term liablities
Short-term loans from financial 
institutions 2,000 4,000
Amortization of long-term debts 3,550 300
Interest bearing short-term liablities 
total 5,550 4,300

19. Commitments and contingent liabilities

EUR thousand 2008 2007
Own guarantees

Business mortgages of own debt 1,200 1,200

Commitments on behalf of subsidiaries

Guarantees 1,096 1,103

Other own contingent liabilities

Leasing liabilities
Current lease liabilities 310 221
Lease liabilities maturing in 1–5 years 254 189

Total 564 411

Rental liabilities
Current rental liabilities 1,277 1,249
Rental liabilities maturing in 1–5 
years 2,216 3,415

Total 3,493 4,663

Commitments and contingent 	
liabilities total 6,353 7,377

The group does not have pledges, mortgages or guarantees on behalf of external 
parties.
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Board’s Dividend Proposal

At the end of 2008, the Group parent company’s distributable funds are EUR 57,375,196.00. 

Basware’s Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting that a dividend of EUR 0.23 per 

share (2007: EUR 0.15) be paid for 2008. When preparing the dividend proposal, the Board considers the 

Company’s financial position, profitability and prospects in the near future.

According to the Board’s resolution the record date of dividend distribution is February 17, 2009. The Board 

proposes to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders that dividend will be paid ofter the record period 

on February 24, 2009.

In Espoo, Finland, January 21, 2009

Basware Corporation

Board of Directors

Hannu Vaajoensuu, Chairman of the Board

Sakari Perttunen

Matti Copeland

Ossi Pohjola

Ilkka Toivola

Ilkka Sihvo, CEO

Auditor’s note

An auditor’s report concerning the performed audit has been given to date.

In Helsinki, Finland, January 21, 2009

Ernst & Young Oy

Authorized Public Accountant Firm

Heikki Ilkka

Authorized Public Accountant
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Auditor’s Report

To the Annual General Meeting of 

Basware Oyj

We have audited the accounting records, the fi-

nancial statements, the report of the Board of Di-

rectors, and the administration of Basware Oyj for 

the year ended on 31 December, 2008. The finan-

cial statements comprise the consolidated bal-

ance sheet, income statement, cash flow state-

ment, statement of changes in equity and notes to 

the consolidated financial statements, as well as 

the parent company’s balance sheet, income state-

ment, cash flow statement and notes to the finan-

cial statements. 

The responsibility of the Board of 

Directors and the Managing Director

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director 

are responsible for the preparation of the financial 

statements and the report of the Board of Directors 

and for the fair presentation of the consolidated fi-

nancial statements in accordance with Internation-

al Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopt-

ed by the EU, as well as for the fair presentation 

of the parent company’s financial statements and 

the report of the Board of Directors in accordance 

with laws and regulations governing the prepara-

tion of the financial statements and the report of 

the Board of Directors in Finland. The Board of Di-

rectors is responsible for the appropriate arrange-

ment of the control of the company’s accounts and 

finances, and the Managing Director shall see to it 

that the accounts of the company are in compli-

ance with the law and that its financial affairs have 

been arranged in a reliable manner. 

 

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to perform an audit in accord-

ance with good auditing practice in Finland, and to 

express an opinion on the parent company’s finan-

cial statements, on the consolidated financial state-

ments and on the report of the Board of Directors 

based on our audit. Good auditing practice requires 

that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 

and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assur-

ance whether the financial statements and the re-

port of the Board of Directors are free from mate-

rial misstatement and whether the members of the 

Board of Directors and the Managing Director have 

complied with the Limited Liability Companies Act.

An audit involves performing procedures to ob-

tain audit evidence about the amounts and disclo-

sures in the financial statements and the report of 

the Board of Directors. The procedures selected de-

pend on the auditor’s judgment, including the as-

sessment of the risks of material misstatement of 

the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error. In making those risk assessments, the audi-

tor considers internal control relevant to the enti-

ty’s preparation and fair presentation of the finan-

cial statements in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances. An au-

dit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 

accounting policies used and the reasonableness 

of accounting estimates made by management, as 

well as evaluating the overall presentation of the fi-

nancial statements and the report of the Board of 

Directors.

The audit was performed in accordance with 

good auditing practice in Finland. We believe that 

the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinion.

Opinion on the consolidated financial 

statements

In our opinion, the consolidated financial state-

ments give a true and fair view of the financial po-

sition, financial performance, and cash flows of the 

group in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU.

Opinion on the company’s financial 

statements and the report of the 

Board of Directors

In our opinion, the financial statements, together 

with the consolidated financial statements includ-

ed therein, and the report of the Board of Direc-

tors give a true and fair view of the financial per-

formance and financial position of the company in 

accordance with the laws and regulations govern-

ing the preparation of the financial statements and 

the report of the Board of Directors in Finland. The 

information in the report of the Board of Directors 

is consistent with the information in the financial 

statements.

In Helsinki on January 21, 2009

Ernst & Young Oy

Authorized Public Accountant Firm

Heikki Ilkka

Authorized Public Accountant
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 Group Quarterly Income Statement, IFRS

EUR thousand 1–3/2008 1–3/2007 4–6/2008 4–6/2007 7–9/2008 7–9/2007 10–12/2008 10–12/2007

NET SALES 18,233 17,038 22,312 17,776 19,259 15,268 26,294 23,187

Other operating income 69 15 62 752 58 23 62 44

Materials and services –1,211 –819 –1,385 –662 –797 –981 –1,333 –1,996
Employee benefits expenses –11,765 –9,243 –12,608 –9,961 –10,933 –7,827 –15,093 –13,569
Depreciation and amortization –671 –571 –693 –597 –690 –657 –990 –765
Other operating expenses –4,910 –5,010 –5,257 –4,536 –4,516 –4,419 –4,818 –4,977
Operating profit –254 1,409 2,431 2,773 2,381 1,406 4,122 1,924
% –1.4% 8.3% 10.9% 15.6% 12.4% 9.2% 15.7% 8.3%

Finance income 39 61 18 79 39 130 637 73
Finance expenses –35 –11 –21 –12 –50 –20 –897 –109
Profit before tax –250 1,459 2,428 2,840 2,370 1,516 3,862 1,888
% –1.4% 8.6% 10.9% 16.0% 12.3% 9.9% 14.7% 8.1%

Tax on income from operations –300 –575 –528 –1,256 –430 –985 –567 –775
PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD –550 884 1,899 1,584 1,941 531 3,294 1,113
% –3.0% 5.2% 8.5% 8.9% 10.1% 3.5% 12.5% 4.8%
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 Key Figures 2004-2008

Group Key Financial Performance Indicators

EUR thousand
IFRS 

2008
IFRS 

2007
IFRS 

2006

IFRS 
2005  

Restated
IFRS 

2004

Net sales 86,098 73,270 59,954 41,666 33,891
Growth of net sales, % 17.5% 22.2% 43.9% 29.4%
Operating profit 8,679 7,512 8,078 3,611 6,256
Growth of operating 
profit, % 15.5% –7.0% 123.7% –20.8%
% of net sales 10.1% 10.3% 13.5% 8.7% 18.5%
Profit before tax 8,410 7,704 8,287 3,647 6,119
% of net sales 9.8% 10.5% 13.8% 8.8% 18.1%
Profit for the period 6,585 4,112 4,986 2,229 4,018
% of net sales 7.6% 5.6% 8.3% 5.4% 11.9%

Return on equity, % 13.7% 8.9% 15.1% 13.9% 38.3%
Return on investment, % 16.6% 16.2% 24.7% 21.4% 50.8%
Interest bearing liabilities 13,283 4,334 758 1,230 1,645
Cash and liquid assets 8,777 7,041 8,975 9,987 5,789
Gearing, % 9.3% –5.7% –18.4% –41.1% –34.1%
Equity ratio, % 59.5% 70.0% 77.5% 68.2% 58.8%
Total assets 81,909 67,722 57,558 31,228 20,680

Gross investments *) 12,476 12,599 25,315 6,925 1,688
% of net sales 14.5% 17.2% 42.2% 16.6% 5.0%
Capital expenditure 1,007 928 597 749 626
% of net sales 1.2% 1.3% 1.0% 1.8% 1.8%
Research and  
development costs 15,518 13,172 10,925 6,204 4,604
% of net sales 18.0% 18.0% 18.2% 14.9% 13.6%
R&D personnel at  
end of period 171 152 138 86 65

Personnel average  
for period 689 580 513 363 280
Personnel at  
end of period 731 658 528 395 302
Growth of personnel, % 11.1% 24.6% 33.7% 30.8% 18.9%

*) Includes acquisitions and capitalized R&D costs.

Group Share Indicators

IFRS 
2008

IFRS 
2007

IFRS 
2006

IFRS 
2005

Restated
IFRS 

2004
Earnings per share,  
EUR (undiluted) 0.56 0.36 0.45 0.24 0.47
Earnings per share,  
EUR (diluted) 0.56 0.36 0.44 0.23 0.47
Parent company’s  
shareholder’s 
Equity per share, EUR 4.23 4.12 3.88 2.16 1.41
Dividend per share, EUR 0,23 * 0.15 0.15 0.10 0.12
Dividend per profit, % 40.8% 41.6% 33.6% 42.4% 25.6%
Effective dividends, % 3.5% 1.5% 1.1% 0.8% 1.5%
P/E ratio 11.68 27.89 29.24 53.54 16.58

Share price performance, 
share issue adjusted
lowest share price, EUR 6.00 9.50 11.21 7.70 6.10
highest share price, EUR 10.45 14.00 15.25 13.00 10.10
average share price, EUR 7.53 12.03 13.09 9.85 7.83
closing share price, EUR 6.59 10.00 13.05 12.62 7.78

Share issue adjusted aver-
age share number 31.12. 11,468,124 11,468,124 11,468,124 9,877,258 8,607,300
Market value of shares 
31.12., EUR 75,301,011 114,681,240 149,659,018 124,650,996 66,964,794

Share issue adjusted 
number of traded shares 2,298,467 2,761,995 5,534,522 3,666,939 1,981,098
% of average share 
number 20.1% 24.1% 49.5% 38.8% 23.1%

Average share number:
- undiluted 11,463,307 11,468,124 11,172,612 9,458,460 8,560,697
- diluted 11,463,307 11,468,124 11,221,052 9,582,816 8,634,413

*) Board’s proposal to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders
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Calculation of Key Indicators, IFRS

Return on equity (ROE), %

Profit before extraordinary items, reserves and taxes - taxes x 100

Shareholders’ equity (average)

Return on investment (ROI), %

Profit before extraordinary items, reserves and taxes + interest and other financial expenses x 100

Balance sheet total - non-interest bearing liabilities (average)

Gearing, %

Interest bearing liabilities - cash and bank balances x 100

Shareholders’ equity

Equity ratio, %

Shareholders’ equity x 100                      

Balance sheet total - advances received

Earnings per share

Profit for the period                                                                     

Adjusted number of shares over the financial year (average)

Equity per share

Shareholders’ equity                                                                     

Adjusted number of shares at the end of the financial period

Dividend per share

Total dividend                                                                                

Adjusted number of shares at the end of the financial period

Dividend/profit, %

Dividend per share x 100

Earnings per share

Effective dividend yield, %

Dividend per share x 100                                                   

Adjusted share price at the end of the financial period

Price-earnings ratio (P/E)

Adjusted share price at the end of the financial period

Earnings per share
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Share and Shareholders

Basware Share 

The Basware share has been listed on the NASDAQ 

OMX Helsinki Ltd since February 29, 2000. The list-

ing price of the share was EUR 5.70. Basware trans-

ferred to the Main List of the stock exchange on 

October 19, 2004, and the share is listed in the In-

formation Technology business sector. The compa-

ny code on the stock exchange is BAS. Basware has 

one series of share and the trading code for the 

share is BAS1V.

At the end of 2008, the total number of shares 

was 11,468,124 (11,468,124). The book counter value 

per share is EUR 0.30. All the shares carry one vote 

and an equal right to the dividend. 

Share Capital

Basware’s share capital at the end of 2008 was 

EUR 3,440,437.20. According to the Articles of As-

sociation, Basware’s minimum share capital is EUR 

2,000,000 and maximum share capital is EUR 

8,000,000. Within these limits, the share capital 

can be increased or decreased without amending 

the Articles of Association.

Share Price Performance and Trading

During the reporting period, the highest price of 

the share was EUR 10.45 (EUR 14.00), the lowest 

was EUR 6.00 (EUR 9.50) and the closing price was 

EUR 6.59 (EUR 10.00). The average price of the 

share was EUR 7.53 (EUR 12.03) during the period.

 A total number of 2,298,467 shares were traded  

during 2008 (2,761,995 in 2007) which is the equiv-

alent of 20 percent (24%) of the average number 

of shares. Market capitalization with the period’s  

closing price on December 31, 2008 was EUR 

75,301,011 (EUR 114,681,240).

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ 	

AUTHORIZATIONS

Authorization to resolve on share issue

The Annual General Meeting on February 14, 2008 

authorized the Board to resolve on the issuance of 

a maximum of 2,293,624 shares and on the convey-

ing of a maximum of 1,146,812 shares in possession 

of the Company in one or more installments, either 

against pay or free of charge. 

The new shares can be issued and the Compa-

ny’s own shares conveyed either against payment 

or for free to the Company’s shareholders in pro-

portion to their holding or by means of a directed 

issue, deviating from the pre-emptive rights of the 

shareholders provided that from the Company’s 

perspective there are important financial grounds 

for it, such as enabling business arrangements and 

company acquisitions, company’s capital manage-

ment, personnel incentive program or other reasons 

for developing the Company’s business activities. 

The authorization also includes the right to 

grant warrants and other special rights, as speci-

fied in the Chapter 10, section 1 of the Companies 

Act, to receive new shares in the company or Bas-

ware shares held by the company against payment 

such that either the share subscription price will be 

paid in cash or the subscriber’s receivables will be 

offset against the subscription price.

The authorization also includes the right to re-

solve on a free issue to the Company itself. The 

amount of the shares issued to the Company can 

be a maximum of 1,146,812 shares, including shares 

acquired based on the authorization or the previ-

ously acquired own shares of the Company. 

The subscription prices of new shares and the 

sum paid for the own shares will be recorded in the 

fund for invested non-restricted equity. 

The authorization is valid until March 31, 2009.

Authorization to resolve on acquiring the Com-

pany’s own shares

The AGM authorized February 14, 2008 the Board 

to resolve on the acquisition of a maximum of 

1,146,812 own shares, pursuant to the Chapter 15, 

section 5 of the Companies Act. The new shares 

are acquired with invested non-restricted equity on 

the market price at the NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd 

at the time of the acquisition. The shares can ei-

ther be held by the Company, nullified or conveyed 

further. 

The authorization for acquisition is valid until 

March 31, 2009.

Warrant programs

Basware has currently two valid warrant programs.

Warrant Program 2006

The Annual General Meeting on February 15, 2006 

approved the new warrant program. Based on the 

program, a maximum of 300,000 warrants can be 

granted to the key personnel of Basware Group, 

each warrant entitling to subscribe one Basware 

share. The warrants of Warrant Program 2006 are 

divided into three series, each having an own sub-

scription period as follows: April 1, 2008–March 

31, 2009, April 1, 2009–March 31, 2010 and April 1, 

2010–March 31, 2011. The subscription prices of the 

shares correspond to the volume-weighted aver-

age share price of the Company in January–March 

of 2006, 2007 and 2008. The terms and conditions 

of the Warrant Program 2007 were published as a 

stock exchange release on April 10, 2006.

Warrant Program 2007

The Annual General Meeting on February 26, 2007 

approved the new warrant program. Based on the 

program, a maximum of 200,000 warrants can be 

granted to the key personnel of Basware Group, 

each warrant entitling to subscribe one Basware 

share. The warrants of Warrant Program 2007 are 

divided into two series, each having an own sub-

scription period as follows: April 1, 2009–March 31, 
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Distribution of holdings by number of shares, December 31, 2008

Number of shares Number of holders Votes, % Shares, pcs

1–100 14,085 2.8 323,570
101–1,000 2,643 7.4 853,088
1,001–10,000 338 7.8 899,470
10,001–100,000 24 7.6 870,231
100,001 + 22 74.3 8,521,765
Total 17,112 100  11,468,124 

Distribution by sector, December 31, 2008

Number of holders Votes, % Shares, pcs

Private companies 639 6.7 762,006
Financial and insurance institutions 26 18.0 2,062,755
Public-sector organizations 5 2.6 296,300
Non-profit organizations 34 0.8 89,178
Households 16,352 60.5 6,922,785
Foreign 48 2.5 288,246

17,104 90.9 10,421,270
Nominee-registered 8 9.1 1,046,854
Total 17,112 100.0 11,468,124

2010 and April 1, 2010–March 31, 2011. The subscrip-

tion prices of the shares correspond to the volume-

weighted average share price of the Company in 

January–March of 2007 and 2008. The terms and 

conditions of the Warrant Program 2007 were pub-

lished as a stock exchange release on February 26, 

2007.

Shareholders

Basware had 17,120 (17,301) shareholders on Decem-

ber 31 including nominee-registered holdings (8). 

Nominee-registered holdings accounted for 9.1 per-

cent of the total number of shares. The Company 

received one notice of change in ownership dur-

ing the financial period. The Company applies the 

Guidelines for Insiders issued by the Board of Direc-

tors of the NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd on January 1, 

2006 as well as the Recommendation on Corporate 

Governance with the exceptions mentioned in the 

Company’s Corporate Governance Statement. The 

statement can be found in the Investors section of 

the Company’s website.
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Major shareholders
31.12.2008 Number of shares Votes %

1. Sihvo, Ilkka 1,065,800 9.3
2. Eräkangas, Kirsi 1,031,800 9.0

Eräkangas, Kirsi 721,400 6.3
Eräkangas, Lotta 310,400 2.7

3. Vaajoensuu, Hannu 962,100 8.3
Havacment Oy 266,500 2.3
Vaajoensuu, Hannu 528,000 4.6
Vaajoensuu, Henri 83,800 0.7
Vaajoensuu, Petra 83,800 0.7

4. Perttunen, Sakari 830,400 7.2
5. Pöllänen, Antti 740,900 6.5

Pöllänen, Antti 580,100 5.1
Launimo, Essi 160,800 1.4

6. Nordea Bank Finland PLC 617,305 5.4
7. Nordea Nordic Small Cap Fund 556,184 4.8
8. Mandatum Life Insurance Company 550,000 4.8
9. Ahonen, Asko 318,822 2.8
10. Royal Skandia Life Assurance Ltd 270,000 2.4
11. VERITAS Pension Insurance Company 266,000 2.3
12. Kaleva Mutual Insurance Company 242,690 2.1
13. Northern Trust Global Services Ltd 228,696 2.0
14. Perttunen, Meimi 215,400 1.9
15. Fondita Nordic Micro Cap Placeringsfond 200,000 1.7
16. Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken 193,155 1.7
17. Carnegie Fond 175,900 1.5
18. Aktia Capital 118,213 1.0
19. Fondita Nordic Small Cap Placeringsfond 106,000 0.9
20. Pavor Oy 75,052 0.7

20 largest shareholders total  8,764,417 76.4
Total of nominee-registered 1,046,854 9.1
Others 1,656,853 14.5
Total 11,468,124 100.0

The shareholder information is based on the sharehodlers’ register maintained by the Finnish Central 

Securities Depository Ltd.

LIST OF ACCOUNTING BOOKS USED:

Hard copy of journal ledger

Hard copy of general ledger

Hard copy of sales ledger

Hard copy of purchase ledger
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For Shareholders

Basware Share

Basware shares are quoted on the Main List of the 

NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd, in the Information Tech-

nology sector, Small Cap segment. The trading on 

the Main List started on October 19, 2004. Earlier 

Basware shares were traded on the NM List of the 

stock exchange.

Trading code	 BAS1V

ISIN code	 FI0009008403

Size of share trading	 100

Book-counter value	 EUR 0.30

Listing price on February 29, 2000	 EUR 5.70

Closing price on December 31, 2008	 EUR 6.59

Annual General Meeting

The Basware Annual General Meeting will be held at 

Diana-auditorio, Erottajankatu 5 Helsinki, Finland, 

on Thursday, February 12, 2009 starting at 13:00.

In order to take part in the Annual General 

Meeting, shareholders must be registered by Mon-

day, February 2, 2009 in the shareholders’ register 

maintained by the Finnish Central Securities Depos-

itory Ltd.

Shareholders who wish to participate in the meet-

ing should notify Basware of their intention to par-

ticipate by 16:00 on Monday, February 2, 2009 ei-

ther

by mail to the address Basware Corporation, P.O. »»
Box 97, FI-02601 Espoo, Finland

by telephone to +358 (0)9 8791 7316/Hanne »»
Grönlund

by telefax to +358 (0)9 8791 7297»»
by e-mail to IR@basware.com»»

When registering by mail, fax or e-mail, notices of 

participation must be received by the above-men-

tioned deadline. Any powers-of-attorney should be 

sent with the notice. 

The matters to be handled in the Annual General 

Meeting will be disclosed in the Notice of the meet-

ing that was published as a stock exchange release 

and on the Basware investor pages on the Internet 

at www.basware.com.

Dividend 

The Board of Directors of Basware proposes to the 

Annual General Meeting that a dividend of EUR 0.23 

per share be paid for 2008. If the Board’s proposal 

is accepted, the dividend will be paid to those share-

holders who are entered in the shareholders’ regis-

ter maintained by the Finnish Central Securities De-

pository Ltd. on the dividend record date February 

17, 2009. The actual payment of dividends will take 

place on February 24, 2009.

Financial Reporting in 2009

Basware will publish the interim reports as follows:

Interim Report January–March on April 16, 2009»»
Interim Report January–June on July 10, 2009»»
Interim Report January–September on October  »»
13, 2009

The reports will be prepared according to the Inter-

national Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

All interim reports and stock exchange releases 

are available on the Basware investor relations pag-

es on the Internet at www.basware.com. The Bas-

ware e-mail list for the stock exchange releases can 

be subscribed to through the pages. 

Changes of Address 

If the address of a shareholder changes, we request 

sending a written notification of this to the bank 

where the shareholder’s book-entry account is held.



 Basware’s locations

Espoo

Singapore

Chandigarh

Falun

Stamford, CT

Guildford, Surrey

Madrid

Bromma

Trondheim

Oslo

Kgs. Lyngby

Moscow

Paris

Amsterdam

Northwich, Cheshire

Düsseldorf



Contacts

Basware Corporation

p.o. Box 97

02601 espoo

finland

Visiting address:

linnoitustie 2

Cello Building

tel. +358 9 879 171

fax +358 9 8791 7297

www.basware.com

Basware einvoices oy

p.o. Box 97

02601 espoo

finland

tel. +358 9 879 171

fax +358 9 8791 7297

www.basware.com

Scandinavia

Basware AB 

Gustavslundsvägen 141 A

16751 Bromma

Sweden

tel. +46 8 50 57 44 00

fax +46 8 50 57 44 99

falun:

falugatan 2

791 71 falun

Sweden

www.basware.se

Basware A/S

Jægersborgvej 66B

2800 Kgs. lyngby

denmark

tel. +45 70 22 99 55

fax +45 70 22 99 56

www.basware.dk

Basware AS

drammensveien 288

p.o.Box 241 lilleaker

0216 oslo

norway

tel. +47 23 37 03 00

fax +47 23 37 03 01

trondheim:

Granåsveien 1

postboks 1931 moholt

7228 trondheim

norway

www.basware.no

Europe

Basware GmbH

Am Seestern 8

40547 düsseldorf

Germany

tel. +49 211 41 55 95-5

fax +49 211 41 55 95-79

www.basware.de

Basware SAS

66, rue de miromesnil

paris, 75008

france 

tel.  +33 1 58 56 53 10

fax +33 1 40 74 03 04

www.basware.fr

Basware B.V.

Joop Geesinkweg 701

1096 AZ Amsterdam

the netherlands

tel. +31 20 850 8020

fax +31 20 850 8085

www.basware.nl

Basware 

(Spain, Italy and portugal)

Ribera del loira, 46

28042 madrid 

Spain

tel. +34 91 503 0690

fax +34 91 503 0099

www.basware.com

Basware UK ltd.

7 Huxley Road

Guildford, Surrey GU2 7Re

United Kingdom

tel. +44 1483 459740

fax +44 1483 447525

www.basware.co.uk

northwich:

langdale House, Gadbrook 

Business Centre, Gadbrook 

Road, northwich,

Cheshire, CW9 7tn

United Kingdom

tel. +44 1606 331 234

www.basware.co.uk

North America

Basware, Inc.

60 long Ridge Road

Stamford, Ct 06902

USA

tel. +1 203 487-7900

fax +1 203 487-7950

www.basware.com/us

Russia

Representative office of

Basware Corporation in

Russia

Helsinki House in moscow 4,  

Rostovsky per.1/2

moscow 119121

Russia

tel. + 7 499 937 35 84

fax + 7 499 248 06 58

www.basware.ru

Asia

Basware Corporation

9 penang Road

park mall, #08-08

Singapore 238459

telephone: +65 633 206 77

Basware Corporation 

(India branch office) 

Rajiv Gandhi It park 

(dlf Building) 

tower f, third floor 

Chandigarh

IndIA - 160 001

tel: +91 172 3012 020

fax: +91 172 3012 019

About Basware
Basware is an international software company that develops solutions for 
automating business-critical financial processes and making procurement 
more efficient. 
Basware’s software solutions automate purchase and traveling expense 
account handling and processing in addition to intensifying the efficiency  
of purchase management. Basware’s financial control solutions embrace 
various fields of business operations from planning to reporting. easy 
to use solutions deliver cost savings through efficient processes and 
 improve transparency and compliance. Software development is always 
done in close cooperation with customers.
Basware‘s goal is to be the leading software company in with its enter-
prise purchase to pay software solution suite in all of its key markets by 
2010.
founded in 1985, Basware Corporation is a public company listed on the 
nASdAQ omX Helsinki ltd. Headquartered in finland, it has a total of 20 
offices in europe, United States and in Asia pacific. www.basware.com 
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